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UBS financial highlights

As of or for the quarter ended % change from

CHF million, except where indicated 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Performance indicators from continuing operations

Diluted earnings per share (CHF) 1 (5.63) (6.47) 1.43 13

Return on equity attributable to UBS shareholders (%) 2 (180.0) (12.2) 26.8

Cost / income ratio (%) 3 N/A 4 N/A 4 69.6

Net new money (CHF billion) 5 (12.8) 15.5 52.8

Group results

Operating income (3,952) (4,132) 13,486 4

Operating expenses 7,847 8,918 9,380 (12) (16)

Operating profit before tax (from continuing and discontinued 
operations) (11,679) (13,016) 4,112 10

Net profit attributable to UBS shareholders (11,535) (12,967) 3,031 11

Personnel (full-time equivalents) 6 83,839 83,560 80,637 0 4

UBS balance sheet and capital management

Balance sheet key figures

Total assets 2,231,019 2,272,768 2,514,359 (2) (11)

Equity attributable to UBS shareholders 16,386 35,219 51,311 (53) (68)

Market capitalization 59,843 108,654 149,157 (45) (60)

BIS capital ratios

Tier 1 (%) 7 6.9 8.7 11.6

Total BIS (%) 10.7 11.9 14.6

Risk-weighted assets 333,300 372,298 354,603 (10) (6)

Invested assets (CHF billion) 2,759 3,189 3,112 (13) (11)

Long-term ratings

Fitch, London AA– 8 AA AA+

Moody's, New York Aa1 8 Aaa Aa2

Standard & Poor's, New York AA– 8 AA AA+

1 For the earnings per share calculation, see Note 8.    2 Net profit attributable to UBS shareholders from continuing operations year-to-date (annualized as applicable) / average equity attributable to 
UBS shareholders less distributions (estimated as applicable).    3 Operating expenses / operating income before credit loss expense or recovery.    4 The cost / income ratio is not meaningful due to nega-
tive income.  5 Excludes interest and dividend income.    6 Excludes personnel from Industrial Holdings.    7 For further details, please refer to the “Capital management” section of this report.    8 Reflects 
rating on 1 April 2008.

Group: net profit attributable to UBS 
shareholders from continuing operations  

CHF million
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Impact on net profit attributable to UBS shareholders from continuing operations 
from gain on sale of 20.7% stake in Julius Baer (CHF 1,926 million, post-tax) and 
costs related to the closure of Dillon Read Capital Management (CHF 127 million, 
post-tax)
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Dear shareholders,

As pre-announced on 1 April 2008, UBS recorded a loss at-
tributable to shareholders of CHF 11.5 billion in first quarter 
2008, with losses on US mortgage market and related struc-
tured credit positions again heavily impacting results in our 
Investment Bank’s fixed income, currencies and commodities 
(FICC) business.

The US residential mortgage market accelerated its down-
ward spiral during first quarter 2008, negatively affecting 
other markets and securities and culminating in the rescue 
of a large US investment bank.

In addition, first quarter 2008 was characterized by lower 
capital markets activity, sharply reduced mergers and acqui-
sitions and falling securities prices. Considering these unfa-
vorable conditions, revenue performance in most of our 
businesses was satisfactory. 

While profit levels reduced in our wealth and asset manage-
ment businesses and Business Banking Switzerland, in compar-
ison with fourth quarter 2007, they remained high in absolute 
terms. Lower invested assets, and therefore asset-based fee in-
come, were primarily driven by the strengthening of the Swiss 
franc against the major currencies in which many client assets 
are denominated (US dollar, euro and British pound) and a sec-
ond successive quarter of declining equity indices. 

In the Investment Bank, revenues generated by our advi-
sory and capital markets businesses fell from first quarter 
2007, in the context of a more than 40% contraction in 
global fee volume. The equities business was negatively im-
pacted by weaker proprietary trading results and lower rev-
enues in derivatives and equity-linked instruments, which 
were only partially offset by improved contributions from 
cash commissions, exchange-traded derivatives and prime 
brokerage. Although trading results were weak in most FICC 
areas, there were some exceptions, such as rates, which had 
a strong quarter driven by government bond trading and the 
European swaps and options business, and the foreign ex-
change business, which benefited from higher volumes and 
good client flows. In commodities, lower revenues from en-
ergy trading were offset by good results in other areas such 
as metals. 

Variable compensation expenses were reduced from 
fourth quarter 2007, as were most categories of non-per-

sonnel costs, but these could not compensate for the de-
crease in revenues. The result was an increase in cost / in-
come ratios for all businesses compared with fourth quarter 
2007. In the Investment Bank, cost cuts were partially offset 
by higher severance payments, following the restructuring in 
fourth quarter 2007, and higher legal provisions.

Falling expectations for equity market returns have led 
to modest deleveraging of private client portfolios and the 
near absence of corporate events has negatively affected 
private wealth creation. Despite this, our global wealth  
management businesses had net new money inflows of 
CHF 5.6 billion in first quarter 2008. However, Business 
Banking Switzerland saw net outflows of CHF 1.9 billion 
and Global Asset Management recorded net outflows of 
CHF 16.5 billion. In Global Asset Management, we have 
reorganized management with the aim of improving in-
vestment performance consistently, and regaining institu-
tional assets over time. 

Our capital base has been reinforced and will remain 
strong – and we would like to thank you for your sup-
port of the measures we have been able to take. In  
February 2008, you approved the CHF 13 billion issue of 
mandatory convertible notes (MCNs), which are included in 
the Tier 1 ratio for first quarter 2008. 

Two additional measures were taken in April and are ef-
fective in second quarter 2008. We issued EUR 1 billion of 
perpetual preferred securities and these now form part of 
Tier 1 capital. And, at the annual general meeting (AGM) on 
23 April, your approval of the ordinary capital increase pro-
posed by the Board of Directors will allow us to raise ap-
proximately CHF 15 billion of capital that has already been 
fully underwritten by four leading international banks. Taking 
into account both these measures, our pro-forma Tier 1 ratio 
on 31 March 2008 would have been 11.8% and our total 
capital ratio 15.6% – among the highest in the industry. 

The first step in leaving this crisis behind us is an open 
and honest review of what went wrong. For this reason, 
a summary of UBS’s report to the Swiss regulator was pub-
lished on our website prior to April’s AGM. The report ex-
plains the root causes of UBS’s losses in the US residential 
mortgage securities markets through to year-end 2007. We 

Letter to shareholders
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are acutely conscious that the key findings of this report, and 
the huge financial losses in fourth quarter 2007 and first 
quarter 2008, are a severe disappointment to all our key 
constituencies – shareholders, clients, employees and regu-
lators. We share this disappointment and we hope that by 
providing as much clarity as possible on what happened, we 
have made an important first step in recovering your confi-
dence. We are personally committed to reforms that enable 
UBS to recover its reputation and its financial strength. 

As discussed at the AGM, the Board of Directors (BoD) 
has initiated a re-organization of its structure that includes 
allocating the functions of the Chairman’s Office – which will 
no longer exist – to a number of new BoD committees, each 
of which have a majority of independent directors. This will 
include a newly established risk committee, chaired by David 
Sidwell, who is an experienced banker and finance expert 
and was elected to the BoD at the AGM.

We can see tangible effects as a result of our initial re-
sponses to the losses. Our risk inventory has decreased 
since third quarter 2007: positions related to US sub-prime 
have decreased by approximately 60% through a combina-
tion of disposals and writedowns. And, while our remaining 
exposure is still subject to swings in market conditions, we 
see market demand for these securities returning in certain 
areas and at the current level of valuations. Risk measure-

ment systems have also undergone corrections, with the first 
stage in repositioning FICC now complete. The management 
structure of FICC has been simplified, the areas we wish to 
exit from are identified and the associated legacy positions 
are now managed separately by a work-out group. In a fur-
ther step, we are in the process of creating a new entity to 
hold substantial parts of this portfolio, with the aim of re-
ducing our exposure to this entity in a way which will opti-
mize value for you, our shareholders, over time. Further-
more, as the results of first quarter illustrate, we have 
continued to reduce the size of our balance sheet, with an 
active cutback of trading inventories in our Investment 
Bank. 

We are focused on the profitability of our Investment 
Bank and this will continue throughout 2008. Our vi-
sion, as we have frequently communicated, is to succeed in 
implementing a truly client-driven Investment Bank built 
upon UBS’s traditional strengths – our global presence, par-
ticularly our strong footprint in Europe and Asia; our leading 
businesses in equities, equity capital markets and foreign ex-
change; our recent emergence as one of the preferred advi-
sors on mergers and acquisitions; and our long-standing 
relationships with other financial institutions. Since joining 
the bank on 17 March 2008, Jerker Johansson has been in-
strumental in rapidly implementing this vision through his 



role as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Invest-
ment Bank. 

As the success of our “one firm” approach depends on the 
individual success of our businesses, we expect each of UBS’s 
businesses – investment banking, wealth management, asset 
management and our Swiss retail banking business – to earn 
an appropriate return on equity. In order to steer manage-
ment towards pursuing and developing businesses with the 
best balance between profit potential, risk and effective capi-
tal usage, UBS has introduced a new framework that attri-
butes equity capital to individual business groups and business 
units, taking into account the differing natures, risk profiles 
and investor expectations. We now publish this measure in 
our quarterly reports, providing you with information that 
helps you assess our performance at a more granular level. In 
future, this will help to ensure that all businesses produce 
commensurate and sufficient returns to fund their own 
growth, by cooperating across the firm in the best interest of 
our clients, but without relying on cost, revenue, or capital 
cross-subsidies.  

The year started with tough business conditions for 
the financial industry as a whole. We expect this difficult 
environment to remain and be characterized by a continuing 
unfavorable global economic climate, deleveraging by insti-

tutional and private investors, slower wealth creation and 
lower trading and capital market activity. The impact will af-
fect all of our businesses and we are required to manage 
costs, resources and capacity very actively. The Investment 
Bank expects to employ around 19,000 people at the end of 
2008. This will require a reduction of up to 2,600, of which 
the large majority, unfortunately, will be redundancies. In the 
other business groups, we will reduce personnel numbers 
mainly through natural attrition and internal redeployment, 
although we will not be able to avoid redundancies entirely. 
Assuming no change in market conditions, we estimate that 
by mid-2009, UBS as a whole will have about 5,500 fewer 
employees than today.

6 May 2008

UBS

Peter Kurer Marcel Rohner
Chairman Chief Executive Officer

First Quarter 2008 Report 
6 May 2008
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Changes in 2008 
6 May 2008

Changes to the Board of Directors and Group 
 Executive Board

New Chairman of the Board of Directors
At the annual general meeting (AGM) held on 23 April 2008, 
Peter Kurer was elected to the Board of Directors (BoD) and 
thereafter appointed Chairman. 

Outgoing Chairman Marcel Ospel has served on the  
BoD since 2001. On 1 April 2008, it was announced that Mr 
 Ospel had decided not to stand for re-election. 

New members of the Board of Directors
Peter Kurer and David Sidwell were elected to the BoD at the 
AGM on 23 April 2008.

Re-elected members of the Board of Directors
Peter Voser and Lawrence A. Weinbach were re-elected to 
their positions on the BoD at the AGM on 23 April 2008.

Equity attribution framework

In first quarter 2008, UBS implemented a new framework 
for attributing the Group’s equity to its businesses. This re-
flects UBS’s overarching objectives of maintaining a strong 
capital base and guiding businesses towards activities with 
the best balance between profit potential, risk and capital 
usage. For further details, please see page 65 of the “Capital 
management” section of this report.

Changes in accounting and presentation

Share-based payments: revisions to International Financial 
Reporting Standard 2 
UBS adopted the amended International Financial Reporting 
Standard 2 (IFRS 2) on 1 January 2008. As a result, from the 
date of adoption onwards, most of UBS’s share awards are ex-
pensed in the performance year instead of over a pre-defined 
vesting period. UBS has fully restated the two comparative prior 
years (2006 and 2007), with net profit attributable to UBS 
shareholders declining by CHF 863 million to a loss of CHF 
5,247 million for 2007. The increase in compensation costs was 
CHF 797 million for 2007, mainly affecting the Investment 
Bank. 

Discontinuation of adjusted expected credit loss concept
Starting in first quarter 2008, UBS ceased using the adjusted 
expected credit loss concept in its internal management re-
porting. UBS now books actual credit loss expenses (recover-
ies) as recorded for financial reporting under IFRS in the busi-
ness group accounts. Prior year results have been restated. 
This change has no impact on the Group’s overall net profit. 

Industrial Holdings to be reported in Corporate Center
Industrial Holdings is now reported as part of Corporate 
Center. This decision has been made as a result of the con-
tinuous reduction over the last three years in UBS’s private 
equity business booked in Industrial Holdings, which is now 
at a very low level. As in previous years, the strategy contin-
ues to be to de-emphasize and reduce exposure to private 
equity while capitalizing on orderly exit opportunities as they 
arise. 

Changes in 2008
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Capital measurement under Basel II

On 1 January 2008, UBS adopted the 
revised capital framework of the Basel 
Committee on Banking Supervision  
– Basel II – which introduced new and 
amended capital requirements for  
the different risk types and revised the 
calculation of eligible capital.
Regulatory capital requirements are 
measured by reference to risk weight-
ed assets (RWA). Basel II had the 
greatest impact on RWA for credit risk, 
where there were substantial changes 
in calculation, and operational risk, for 
which a new capital requirement was 
introduced. Requirements for market 
risk and non-counterparty related 
assets are fundamentally unchanged. 
The implementation of these changes 
led to a slight decrease in UBS’s overall 
capital requirements, as measured  
by RWA, but the impact on individual 
business groups varied – Global 
Wealth Management & Business 
Banking saw lower RWA for customer 
loans, mortgages and Lombard 
lending, while the Investment Bank 
was subject to higher capital require-
ments for over-the-counter (OTC) 
derivatives and repo-style transactions 
(i.e. repurchase / reverse repurchase 
and securities, lending and borrowing 
transactions). 
Eligible capital calculations have also 
been modified by the introduction  
of new deductions from Tier 1 capital 
and total capital. These resulted in 
lower eligible capital and a moderate 
decline in UBS’s capital ratios.
UBS generally applies the more 
advanced approaches offered by the 
Basel II framework for calculation of 
RWA, including the Advanced Internal 
Ratings Based Approach (AIRB) for 
credit risk and the Advanced Measure-
ment Approach (AMA) for operational 
risk. 

Capital requirements by risk class

Credit risk
A key change is the calculation of risk 
weights for credit risk – while Basel I 
generally considered only counterparty 
type, Basel II also considers counter-
party ratings and is more sensitive to 
the type of transaction and collateral-
ization. 
Under the AIRB approach, risk weights 
are determined by reference to internal 
counterparty ratings and loss-given 
default estimates. UBS uses internal 
models, approved by the Swiss Federal 
Banking Commission (SFBC), to 
measure the credit risk exposures to 
third parties on OTC derivatives and 
repo-style transactions. For a smaller 
part of its credit portfolio, UBS applies 
the Standardized Approach (SA-BIS), 
based on external ratings. 

Market risk 
For most market risk positions, UBS 
derives its regulatory capital require-
ment from its internal Value at Risk 
(VaR) model, which is approved by the 
SFBC. For some small positions, 
market risk regulatory capital is 
computed using the standardized 
method defined by the SFBC. In order 
to compute the capital ratios, the total 
market risk capital requirement is 
converted to an “RWA equivalent” 
(shown in the table “Segmentation of 
required capital” on page 61 as 
market risk positions) such that the 
capital requirement is 8% of this  
RWA equivalent.

Operational risk 
Following the introduction of Basel II, 
UBS is now required to hold capital 
against operational risks. UBS quanti-
fies operational risk according to the 
AMA, which considers both historical 
losses and forward-looking scenarios. 
Under this approach, capital require-
ments for operational risk are con-

verted into RWA equivalents in the 
same way as for market risk.

Non-counterparty related assets 
Non-counterparty related assets refer 
most notably to assets such as UBS 
premises, other properties, equipment 
and software. Such assets are not 
subject to credit or market risk, but 
they represent a risk to the Group in 
respect of their potential for write-
down and impairment. Therefore, they 
require capital underpinning according 
to prescribed regulatory risk weights. 
With the introduction of Basel II, 
intangible assets are no longer risk 
weighted, but are instead deducted 
from capital. 

Swiss Federal Banking Commission 
requirements
Although UBS determines published 
RWA according to the Basel II Capital 
Accord (BIS guidelines), the calculation 
of UBS’s regulatory capital requirement 
is based on the regulations of the 
SFBC, leading to higher risk weighted 
assets for two main reasons:
 – a multiplier of 1.1 is applied to 

credit risk capital requirements 
calculated using SA-BIS; and 

–  a multiplier of 3.0 is used to 
scale-up the capital requirements 
for non-counterparty related assets.

Consolidation for regulatory capital
UBS’s financial statements are pro-
duced in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
Under IFRS, subsidiaries and special 
purpose entities directly or indirectly 
controlled by UBS are consolidated. 
However, for regulatory capital 
purposes, only subsidiaries that are 
active in the banking and finance 
business are consolidated in accor-
dance with Basel II regulations.
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UBS results in first quarter 2008
 Management report

– Net loss attributable to UBS shareholders of CHF 11,535 million

Operating income 

Income from trading businesses was negative 
CHF 15,761 million, despite CHF 2,103 million of 
gains on own credit. Results were again heavily 
impacted by losses on positions related to the US 
real estate market and other credit positions.

One-time accounting gain of CHF 3,860 million 
from the accounting treatment of mandatory 
convertible notes (MCNs). 

Income from interest margin businesses was 
up 8% from first quarter 2007 to CHF 1,581 
million, driven by an increase in collateralized 
lending to wealthy clients worldwide.

Net fee and commission income at CHF 6,215 
million, down 14% from a year earlier, with 
decreases in almost all categories.

Operating expenses 

Personnel expenses were down 26% from first 
quarter 2007, at CHF 5,274 million, reflecting 
lower accruals for performance-related payments, 
partly offset by severance costs for staff reductions 
made in the Investment Bank.

General and administrative expenses 
 increased 18% from a year earlier. Cost cuts in 
all categories were offset by the increase in 
legal provisions and related legal fees, mainly in 
the Investment Bank.
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Year-to-date

31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07

RoE (%) 1

as reported (178.8) (11.3) 26.8

from continuing operations (180.0) (12.2) 26.8

Quarter ended

31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07

Diluted earnings per share (CHF) 2

as reported (5.60) (6.45) 1.43

from continuing operations (5.63) (6.47) 1.43

Cost / income ratio (%) 3 N/A 4 N/A 4 69.6

Net new money (CHF billion) 5 (12.8) 15.5 52.8

1 Net profit attributable to UBS shareholders (annualized as applicable) / average equity attributable to UBS shareholders less distributions (estimated as applicable).  2 Details of the earnings per share calculation 
can be found in Note 8.  3 Operating expenses / operating income before credit loss expense or recovery.  4 The cost / income ratio is not meaningful due to negative income.  5 Excludes interest and dividend 
income.
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Key performance indicators
UBS focuses on four key performance indicators: return on 
equity (RoE), diluted earnings per share (EPS), cost / income 
ratio and net new money. These are designed to monitor 
that UBS delivers adequate returns to shareholders and are 
calculated using results from continuing operations. The re-
sults for first quarter 2008 are:
– a decline in UBS’s RoE, at negative 180.0% compared 

with positive 26.8% in first quarter 2007, primarily as  
a result of the substantial losses in the Investment Bank  
related to the US mortgage market;

– diluted EPS of negative CHF 5.63, compared with positive 
CHF 1.43 in first quarter 2007. The first quarter 2008 di-
luted EPS calculation included shares that will be issued at 
conversion of the mandatory convertible notes;

– a cost / income ratio that is not meaningful in first quarter 
due to negative income; and 

– net new money outflows of CHF 12.8 billion, compared 
with inflows of CHF 52.8 billion a year earlier. The de-
cline in Group net new money for first quarter 2008, 
compared with first quarter 2007, is the cumu lative re-
sult of lower asset-gathering levels across all business 
groups. Global Asset Management was most affected, 
and saw total net new money outflows of CHF 16.5 bil-
lion in first quarter 2008, mainly the consequence of 

underperformance in certain investment capabilities in 
prior quarters and the generally unsettled investment 
environment. Institutional clients had a net outflow of 
CHF 9.6 billion, with outflows in core / value equity 
strategies, some multi-asset mandates, fixed income 
and alternative and quantitative investments only par-
tially offset by strong inflows into money market funds 
and passive and growth equities mandates. In addition, 
wholesale intermediary recorded net outflows of 
CHF 6.9 billion in multi-asset, equities funds and other 
fixed income. Business Banking Switzerland recorded 
net outflows of CHF 1.9 billion, down from net new 
money inflows of CHF 2.7 billion in first quarter 2007. 
The two wealth management units made a combined 
positive contribution of CHF 5.6 billion to the overall 
net new money results – well below CHF 44.8 billion in 
the same quarter a year earlier. A more subdued eco-
nomic climate and slowdown in financial market activity 
led to slower creation in personal wealth, reducing the 
level of net new money inflows into the international 
business. In Switzerland, UBS felt the negative impact 
of its financial losses on its reputation, with clients di-
versifying part of their assets away from UBS. Overall, 
however, it affected only a small fraction of UBS’s total 
invested assets base.

Net new money 1

Quarter ended

CHF billion 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07

Wealth Management International & Switzerland 2.5 23.4 33.9

Wealth Management US 3.1 8.1 10.9

Business Banking Switzerland (1.9) 0.2 2.7

Global Wealth Management & Business Banking 3.7 31.7 47.5

Institutional (9.6) (15.3) 2.7

Wholesale Intermediary (6.9) (0.9) 2.6

Global Asset Management (16.5) (16.2) 5.3

UBS (12.8) 15.5 52.8

1 Excludes interest and dividend income.

Invested assets

As of % change from

CHF billion 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 31.12.07 31.3.07

Wealth Management International & Switzerland 1,133 1,294 1,197 (12) (5)

Wealth Management US 709 840 868 (16) (18)

Business Banking Switzerland 152 164 164 (7) (7)

Global Wealth Management & Business Banking 1,994 2,298 2,229 (13) (11)

Institutional 445 522 528 (15) (16)

Wholesale Intermediary 320 369 355 (13) (10)

Global Asset Management 765 891 883 (14) (13)

UBS 2,759 3,189 3,112 (13) (11)
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UBS results in first quarter 2008 
6 May 2008

Results

Income statement (unaudited)

Quarter ended % change from

CHF million, except per share data 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Continuing operations

Interest income 20,222 25,820 25,942 (22) (22)

Interest expense (18,543) (24,283) (24,634) (24) (25)

Net interest income 1,679 1,537 1,308 9 28

Credit loss (expense) / recovery (311) (238) 1 31

Net interest income after credit loss expense 1,368 1,299 1,309 5 5

Net fee and commission income 6,215 7,727 7,264 (20) (14)

Net trading income (11,643) (13,915) 4,667 16

Other income 108 757 246 (86) (56)

Total operating income (3,952) (4,132) 13,486 4

Cash components 5,226 5,418 6,293 (4) (17)

Share-based components 48 866 801 (94) (94)

Total personnel expenses 5,274 6,284 7,094 (16) (26)

General and administrative expenses 2,243 2,258 1,902 (1) 18

Depreciation of property and equipment 281 310 300 (9) (6)

Amortization of intangible assets 49 66 84 (26) (42)

Total operating expenses 7,847 8,918 9,380 (12) (16)

Operating profit from continuing operations before tax (11,799) (13,050) 4,106 10

Tax expense (297) (162) 921 (83)

Net profit from continuing operations (11,502) (12,888) 3,185 11

Discontinued operations

Profit from discontinued operations before tax 120 34 6 253

Tax expense 0 2 (2) (100) 100

Net profit from discontinued operations 120 32 8 275

Net profit (11,382) (12,856) 3,193 11

Net profit attributable to minority interests 153 111 162 38 (6)

from continuing operations 107 111 162 (4) (34)

from discontinued operations 46 0 0

Net profit attributable to UBS shareholders (11,535) (12,967) 3,031 11

from continuing operations (11,609) (12,999) 3,023 11

from discontinued operations 74 32 8 131 825

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (CHF) (5.59) (6.45) 1.49 13

from continuing operations (5.62) (6.47) 1.49 13

from discontinued operations 0.03 0.02 0.00 50

Diluted earnings per share (CHF) (5.60) (6.45) 1.43 13

from continuing operations (5.63) (6.47) 1.43 13

from discontinued operations 0.03 0.02 0.00 50

Additional information

Personnel (full-time equivalents) 1 83,839 83,560 80,637 0 4

1 Excludes personnel from Industrial Holdings.
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Group result 

Net loss attributable to UBS shareholders in first quarter 
2008 was CHF 11,535 million. Losses from continuing op-
erations totaled CHF 11,609 million, while discontinued 
operations saw a net profit of CHF 74 million due to the 
sale of the last fully consolidated operating private equity 
participation. 

Operating income

In first quarter 2008, UBS recorded negative total oper- 
ating income of CHF 3,952 million, down from positive  
CHF 13,486 million in first quarter 2007.

Net interest income and net trading income
Net interest income was positive CHF 1,679 million in first 
quarter 2008, in comparison with CHF 1,308 million in first 
quarter 2007. 

Net trading income dropped to negative CHF 11,643 mil-
lion in first quarter 2008, from positive CHF 4,667 million in 
first quarter 2007.

As well as income from interest margin-based activities 
(loans and deposits), net interest income includes income 
earned as a result of trading activities (for example, coupon 
and dividend income). The latter component of interest in-
come is volatile from period to period, depending on the 
composition of the trading portfolio. In order to provide a 
better explanation of the movements in net interest income 
and net trading income, UBS analyzes the total according to 
the business activities that give rise to the income, rather 
than by the type of income generated. 

Net income from trading businesses 
In first quarter 2008, net income from trading businesses 
dropped to negative CHF 15,761 million from positive CHF 
4,274 million in first quarter 2007. Income in first quarter 2008 
was impacted by losses on exposures to the US real estate mar-
ket. UBS marked down its holdings in US student loan asset-
backed securities and certain leveraged finance commitments. 

Further credit valuation adjustments were made on protection 
bought from monoline insurers. See Note 3 on page 81 and the 
discussion of FICC’s revenues on page 53 for further detail. 

As a result of observed market widening of UBS’s credit 
spread in the first three months of 2008, the Investment 
Bank recorded gains on own credit of CHF 2,103 million in 
net trading income (structured liabilities for which the fair 
value option was elected). These gains would reverse if cred-
it spreads tightened again.

Trading results in most fixed income, currencies and com-
modities (FICC) areas were very weak, except for rates where 
the strong first quarter result was driven by the European 
swaps and options business and record revenues in govern-
ment bond trading. Credit recorded losses in proprietary 
strategies and in credit trading, driven by high market vola-
tility and lack of liquidity. Structured products were down 
compared with first quarter 2007, which was positively im-
pacted by strong revenues in the US and Europe. Commodi-
ties trading revenues were down as energy had a weak quar-
ter in difficult markets with limited client flow. 

Equities trading revenues in first quarter 2008 were down 
from the same quarter in 2007, mainly as a result of the con-
siderable decline in proprietary trading revenues in all re-
gions leading to an overall negative result. Derivatives reve-
nues fell as lower European revenues were only partially 
offset by increases in the Americas and Asia Pacific. Cash 
equities trading revenues were down in Europe. Equity-
linked products continued to suffer from difficult market 
conditions which resulted in reduced liquidity. Prime services 
(prime brokerage and exchange-traded derivatives) recorded 
higher revenues, especially in Europe. 

Net income from interest margin businesses
At CHF 1,581 million in first quarter 2008, net income from 
interest margin businesses was up CHF 115 million, or 8%, 
from the same quarter a year earlier. The change was driven 
by an increase in collateralized lending to wealthy clients 
worldwide. It also reflects an increase in spreads, particularly 
for euro and Swiss franc deposits, and higher volumes of 
mortgages to Swiss clients. 

UBS reporting structure

UBS

Wealth Management 
International & Switzerland

Wealth Management US

Business Banking Switzerland

Global Wealth Management 
& Business Banking

Global Asset Management Investment Bank Corporate Center
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UBS results in first quarter 2008 
6 May 2008

Net income from treasury activities and other
Net income from treasury activities and other was CHF 4,216 
million in first quarter 2008, up from CHF 235 million in first 
quarter 2007. This increase was primarily due to a one-time 
gain of CHF 3,860 million resulting from the accounting 
treatment of mandatory convertible notes (MCNs) issued on 
5 March 2008 (please see Note 12 for further details). Fur-
ther positive contributions came from the management of 
the currency risk at Group level, and from the mark-to-mar-
ket gains on USD foreign exchange options. These positive 
effects were partially offset by lower returns achieved on the 
lower equity base. 

Net fee and commission income
In first quarter 2008, net fee and commission income was 
CHF 6,215 million, down 14% from CHF 7,264 million in 
first quarter 2007. Income for most fee categories declined 

in first quarter 2008, in comparison with first quarter 2007, 
as outlined below: 
–  underwriting fees fell 54% to CHF 381 million, driven by 

a 59% decline in equity underwriting income with re-
duced market activities in all regions and a 46% decline 
in debt underwriting fees which were negatively affected 
by continuing market dislocation in the US; 

 – mergers and acquisitions and corporate finance fees fell 
7% to CHF 417 million, in line with the industry trend of 
a decline in mandated deals;

–  net brokerage fees fell 2% to CHF 1,846 million, with 
lower client transaction volumes in the wealth manage-
ment businesses only partially offset by increased reve-
nues in the Investment Bank’s exchange-traded deriva-
tives business;

–  investment fund fees fell 9% to CHF 1,592 million due to 
lower sales-based fees and the reduced average asset base; 

–  portfolio and other management and advisory fees fell 
12% to CHF 1,706 million mainly due to reduced man-
agement and performance fees from alternative and 
quantitative investments in Global Asset Management, as 
well as a lower asset base, and therefore lower related 
fees, in the wealth management businesses; and 

–  other commission expenses increased to CHF 586 million 
in first quarter 2008 from CHF 440 million in first quarter 
2007, mainly due to expansion of the Asian-based equity 
derivatives business and the equity cash business. 

Other income
Other income in first quarter 2008 was CHF 108 million, a 
decrease from CHF 246 million in first quarter 2007. First 
quarter 2007 included gains from the sale of positions from 
Industrial Holdings.

-20000.000000

-13333.333984
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19999.996094
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Trading versus non-trading income  

CHF million
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Impact on other income from gain on sale of 20.7% stake in Julius Baer (CHF 1,950 million, pre-tax)
Net income from trading businesses

Net income from interest margin, treasury businesses, fees and commissions and other income

Net interest and trading income

Quarter ended % change from

CHF million 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Net interest income 1,679 1,537 1,308 9 28

Net trading income (11,643) (13,915) 4,667 16

Total net interest and trading income (9,964) (12,378) 5,975 20

Breakdown by businesses

Net income from trading businesses 1 (15,761) (14,420) 4,274 (9)

Net income from interest margin businesses 1,581 1,637 1,466 (3) 8

Net income from treasury activities and other 4,216 405 235 941

Total net interest and trading income (9,964) (12,378) 5,975 20

1 Includes lending activities of the Investment Bank.
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Operating expenses

Total operating expenses were CHF 7,847 million in first 
quarter 2008, down 16% from CHF 9,380 million in first 
quarter 2007.

Personnel expenses
Personnel expenses were CHF 5,274 million in first quarter 
2008, down 26% from CHF 7,094 million in first quarter 
2007. Accruals for performance-related payments fell as a 
result of UBS’s first quarter loss, which followed writedowns 
related to the US credit crisis. Share-based compensation 
was at a very low level in first quarter 2008. This occurred 
because of a decline in currencies (particularly the US dollar 
and the British pound) against the Swiss franc and a decline 
of the UBS share price, which resulted in an over-accrual for 
performance payments from fourth quarter 2007 following 
the restatement made in relation to the amended Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards 2 (IFRS 2). On the other 
hand, some personnel costs were up, mainly reflecting sev-
erance costs in the Investment Bank which further reduced 
staff levels during first quarter 2008.

General and administrative expenses
At CHF 2,243 million in first quarter 2008, general and ad-
ministrative expenses increased by CHF 341 million from 
CHF 1,902 million in the same period one year earlier. Legal 
provisions and related legal fees increased, mainly in the  
Investment Bank, but all the other categories of general and 
administrative expenses were reduced. Travel and entertain-
ment and outsourcing of IT and other services declined, 
mainly in the Investment Bank following cost reduction mea-
sures. Rent and maintenance of machines and equipment 
were down on lower IT costs. Telecommunications and post-
age expenditures were reduced due to lower market data 
services and communication expenses. Marketing and public 
relations expenses declined due to lower advertising costs in 
Corporate Center and Global Wealth Management & Busi-
ness Banking. Compared with fourth quarter 2007, general 
and administrative expenses were down by 1%. Higher legal 
provisions almost fully offset the reductions in all other cost 
categories.

Depreciation
Depreciation was CHF 281 million in first quarter 2008, 
down CHF 19 million from a year ago, due to lower IT- 

related depreciation. 

Amortization of intangible assets
At CHF 49 million, amortization of intangible assets declined 
42% from CHF 84 million a year ago, reflecting the fact that 
certain intangible assets related to Pactual were fully amor-
tized at the end of 2007. 

Tax

UBS recognized a net credit for taxation of CHF 297 million 
in first quarter 2008. This reflects Swiss tax relief related to 
losses incurred on UBS’s exposure in the US mortgage mar-
ket. These tax benefits were partially offset by tax expenses 
in locations where UBS was profitable. Furthermore, UBS did 
not recognize any tax benefits (deferred tax assets) in the US 
on the substantial losses that it made during first quarter 
2008. 

Personnel

The number of people employed at UBS was 83,839 on 31 
March 2008, up 279 compared with the end of fourth quar-
ter 2007. Staff levels rose in Global Wealth Management & 
Business Banking, Global Asset Management and Corporate 
Center, while the Investment Bank reduced staff levels. 

Global Wealth Management & Business Banking in-
creased its workforce by 349 employees since the end of 
fourth quarter 2007. The international and Swiss wealth 
management business added 346 people, including 243 
new client advisors (123 new client advisors internationally, 
mainly in Asia Pacific and Europe, and 120 in Switzerland). 
UBS’s US wealth management business decreased its num-
ber of financial advisors by 29, though levels of non-financial 
advisor staff rose in support of the branch network and staff 
training functions. The number of personnel in Business 
Banking Switzerland decreased slightly by 21.

Staff levels in Global Asset Management were up, mainly 
due to the acquisition of Caisse Centrale de Réescompte in 
France which added 165 employees. Other increases were in 
fund services, real estate and the Brazilian asset manage-
ment business.

The number of Investment Bank employees decreased by 
3% since the end of fourth quarter 2007 and, consistent 
with plans announced in October 2007, by a total of 1,513 
people since the end of third quarter 2007.
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UBS results in first quarter 2008 
6 May 2008

Personnel 1

As of % change from

Full-time equivalents (FTEs) 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 31.12.07 31.3.07

Switzerland 27,946 27,884 27,261 0 3

UK 8,484 8,813 8,692 (4) (2)

Rest of Europe 5,049 4,776 4,497 6 12

Middle East / Africa 142 139 119 2 19

USA 29,666 29,921 29,952 (1) (1)

Rest of Americas 2,100 2,054 1,817 2 16

Asia Pacific 10,452 9,973 8,299 5 26

Total 83,839 83,560 80,637 0 4

1 Personnel numbers exclude five full-time equivalents (FTEs), 3,843 FTEs and 3,891 FTEs from Industrial Holdings for 1Q08, 4Q07 and 1Q07, respectively.

Business group performance from continuing operations before tax

Quarter ended % change from

CHF million 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Wealth Management International & Switzerland 1,429 1,652 1,503 (13) (5)

Wealth Management US 183 208 155 (12) 18

Business Banking Switzerland 540 602 532 (10) 2

Global Wealth Management & Business Banking 2,152 2,462 2,190 (13) (2)

Global Asset Management 330 485 395 (32) (16)

Investment Bank (18,228) (16,034) 1,539 (14)

Corporate Center 3,947 37 (18)

UBS (11,799) (13,050) 4,106 10
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Risk management and control 
6 May 2008

Identification of risk concentrations

A concentration of risk exists where: (i) positions in financial 
instruments are affected by changes in the same risk factor 
or group of correlated factors; and (ii) the exposure could, in 
the event of large but plausible adverse developments, result 
in significant losses. 

The identification of risk concentrations necessarily en-
tails judgment regarding potential future developments. This 
is because such developments cannot be predicted with cer-
tainty and may vary from period-to-period. In determining 
whether a concentration of risk exists, risk controllers con-
sider a number of elements, both individually and in combi-
nation. These elements include: the shared characteristics of 
the instruments; the size of the position; the sensitivity of the 
position to changes in risk factors and the volatility of those 
factors; the liquidity of the markets in which the instruments 
are traded and the availability and effectiveness of hedges or 
other potential risk mitigants; and the risk-reward profile of 
the positions.

If a risk concentration is identified, it is assessed to deter-
mine whether it should be reduced or the risk should be 
mitigated, and the available means to do so. Identified con-
centrations are subject to increased monitoring.

Based on its assessment of the portfolios and asset classes 
where there is the potential for material loss in a stress sce-
nario relevant to the current environment, UBS believes that 
the exposures shown in this section can be considered risk 
concentrations according to this definition.

There is clearly a possibility that material losses could 
arise on asset classes and positions other than those dis-
closed in this section, if the correlations that emerge in a 
stressed environment differ markedly from those envisaged 
by UBS. The firm has, for example, exposures to other US 
asset-backed securities (ABSs), US prime mortgages, non-
US residential and commercial real estate and mortgages 
(including the Swiss mortgage market), non-US ABSs, non-
US reference-linked note (RLN) programs and structured 
credit programs, including the Canadian commercial paper 
restructuring. It is exposed to credit spread and default risk 
on its fixed income trading inventory, to idiosyncratic risk on 
both equities and fixed income inventory and to emerging 
markets country risk in many of its trading activities. It has 
derivatives transactions and a significant prime services busi-
ness through which it is exposed to the hedge fund industry. 
Exposures arise on short positions used to imperfectly hedge 
overall financial market health which could suffer losses and 
any losses may not be offset by corresponding gains on the 

assets hedged. If UBS decided to support a Global Asset 
Management fund or another investment sponsored by 
UBS, it might, depending on the facts and circumstances, 
present risks that could increase to material levels. UBS does 
not currently foresee the likelihood of material losses on 
such positions in the near term but the possibility cannot be 
definitively ruled out. 

In the tables in this section, the size of the positions held 
by UBS is generally expressed as “net exposure”, with gross 
exposures detailed in the footnotes in certain cases. Net ex-
posure for each instrument class represents long positions 
minus short positions where hedge effectiveness is consid-
ered to be high. If, at some future date, hedges are consid-
ered to have become ineffective, UBS’s net exposures will 
increase. From an internal risk management perspective, it is 
necessary to look beyond net exposure and consider impor-
tant characteristics of the underlying assets and financial in-
struments – for example factors such as vintages, delinquen-
cy rates and credit ratings in the underlying mortgage pools, 
differences in attachment points, timing of cash flows and 
control rights in the securities held, and basis risks and coun-
terparty risk associated with the hedges.

Market developments

The area of UBS most severely affected by the progressive 
market dislocation during 2007 and first quarter 2008 
continues to be the fixed income, currencies and commod-
ities (FICC) business of the Investment Bank, which has  
exposures to US residential mortgage markets and other 
asset-backed securities in a number of portfolios. US mort-
gage markets deteriorated further in first quarter 2008, 
driven by increasing homeowner delinquencies and exac-
erbated by fears of a US recession, which contributed to 
an acute lack of market liquidity across the whole sector. 
Prices of US municipal and asset-backed securities were af-
fected by uncertainties about the financial state of mono-
line insurers, and contagion spread more broadly beyond 
the US and to other securitized credit markets which had 
not been significantly impacted in prior periods. During 
first quarter 2008, the values of UBS’s positions in US res-
idential mortgage-backed securities (RMBSs) and super  
senior RMBS collateralized debt obligations (CDOs) were 
subject to further significant writedowns, and other asset-
backed positions, most notably those backed by US stu-
dent loans, also lost value. Further credit valuation adjust-
ments were also taken against credit default protection 
purchased from monoline insurers. 

Risk concentrations
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Exposure to US mortgage markets

Positions related to US residential sub-prime mortgages
UBS’s net exposure to sub-prime mortgages was reduced by 
more than 40% since the end of 2007, to USD 15.6 billion 
at 31 March 2008, through a combination of writedowns, 
asset sales, hedging and amortizations. Writedowns were 
mainly recorded in super senior sub-prime RMBS CDOs 
where average marks have been reduced substantially. Asset 
sales were realized mostly in sub-prime RMBSs.

On 31 March 2008, around one-third of UBS’s remaining 
positions in super senior RMBS CDOs referred to mortgage 

loans of vintage 2005 or earlier. The other two-thirds re-
ferred predominantly to mortgage loans with 2006 vintages, 
with a small amount referring to 2007 vintages. These secu-
rities have a range of subordination levels and maturities and 
rights upon events of default also vary. 

At the same date, approximately 80% of sub-prime 
RMBSs referred to mortgage loans with 2006 and 2007 
vintages, while the remaining securities referred to mort-
gage loans of 2005 or earlier vintages. On 31 March 2008, 
the overwhelming majority of these RMBSs were rated 
AAA. The weighted average life of the bonds in this AAA 
pool is itself two years on average. 

US residential mortgages – classification of related securities

During first quarter 2008, UBS 
comprehensively reviewed its classifi-
cation of US residential mortgage-
backed securities (RMBSs) in order to 
ensure consistent allo cations to 
sub-prime, Alt-A and prime. It is 
important to note that there is  
no agreed industry-wide definition 
that allows RMBSs to be classified and 
a certain degree of judgment is 
inevitably required, especially for 
securities with limited data regarding 
the underlying mortgage population.

The review focused on the following 
factors:
–  classifications by external data 

providers which UBS assessed as 
reliable;

–  known characteristics of particular 
issuers of the securities (also known 
as “shelves”);

–  the quality of the borrowers 
represented in the underlying 
mortgage pools, as measured by 

the scores provided by the Fair Isaac 
Credit Organization (FICO); and 

–  other characteristics, including the 
prevalence of mortgages with high 
loan-to-value (LTV) ratios. 

The classification is now based on the 
following criteria:
 – RMBSs were classified as sub-prime 

when data providers labeled the 
securities as “home equity”, when 
average FICO scores fell below  
660 or when the issuer is consid-
ered a sub-prime issuer by market 
participants. When the primary 
criteria did not provide a definitive 
classification (for example, due  
to lack of available information on 
FICO scores), other characteristics 
were used, including information 
on the prevalence of loans  
with high LTV ratios (above 80%); 

–  RMBSs were classified as Alt-A 
when data providers labeled the 
securities as “Alt-A”, when the 

FICO score was 720 or below (but 
not below 660) or when the issuer 
is considered an Alt-A issuer by 
market participants; and

–  RMBSs were classified as prime 
where none of the conditions for 
classification as Alt-A or sub-prime 
were met.

As a result of this review, at 31 March 
2008 an additional USD 1.7 billion 
were classified as Alt-A positions and 
an additional USD 0.1 billion were 
classified as sub-prime. Also, positions 
of USD 1.6 billion were no longer 
classified as prime. Had UBS applied 
the same classification in fourth 
quarter 2007, the positions in Alt-A 
and sub prime would have each been 
approximately USD 1.0 billion higher 
on 31 December 2007, and prime 
positions would have been USD 2.3 
billion lower.

US sub-prime residential mortgage exposures and profit and loss information

 
USD million

Net exposures 
as of 31.12.07 1,2

Profit and loss 
1Q08 3

Other net changes  
in net exposures 4

Net exposures 
as of 31.3.08 1,5

Super senior residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBSs)  
collateralized debt obligations (CDOs) 13,325 (5,323) (1,361) 6,641

RMBSs 14,180 (2,107) (3,199) 8,874

Warehouse and retained RMBS CDOs 73 180 (120) 133

Total 27,578 (7,250) (4,680) 15,648
1 Net exposure represents market value of gross exposure net of short positions and hedges considered effective.    2 Includes USD 696 million of residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBSs) CDO exposure 
where the hedge protection from a single monoline insurer is considered ineffective. See monoline table where this exposure is also included.    3 Amounts exclude credit valuation adjustments of USD 509 
million taken in first quarter 2008 for a single monoline insurer where hedge protection is considered ineffective.    4 Includes additions, disposals, amortizations, adjustments to hedges, reclassifications, includ-
ing changes in the fair value of hedges considered ineffective as set out in footnote 3.  5 At 31 March 2008, the market value of the gross exposure was USD 6,741 million for super senior RMBS CDOs (exclud-
ing monoline exposure), USD 13,260 million for RMBS and USD 447 million for warehouse and retained RMBS CDOs.  See monoline table on page 23 for details on the monoline exposures.
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Positions related to US residential Alt-A mortgages
UBS’s net exposure to US residential Alt-A mortgages has 
reduced by approximately one-third since year-end 2007, to 
USD 17.1 billion at 31 March 2008. These Alt-A positions 
can be divided into two main categories. The first consists of 
AAA-rated RMBSs, backed by first lien mortgages, which 
amounted to USD 14.5 billion net exposure at 31 March 
2008. The second category consists of super senior RMBS 
CDOs and other RMBSs, either non-AAA or backed by sec-
ond lien mortgages. These positions amounted to USD 2.6 
billion at the same date.

During first quarter 2008, writedowns were mainly re-
corded in AAA-rated Alt-A RMBSs backed by first lien mort-
gages. UBS was also able to sell a number of these positions 
as well as other Alt-A RMBSs. 

Positions related to US commercial real estate
UBS has exposure to US commercial real estate from two 
sources. The first is its trading inventory, which includes su-
per senior commercial mortgage-backed securities (CMBS) 
CDOs, CMBS and positions held for securitization, amount-
ing to a net exposure of USD 3.2 billion at 31 March 2008. 
All of the CMBS positions were rated AA or better.

The second category consists of direct loans and invest-
ments totaling USD 3.1 billion on 31 March 2008, of which 
USD 411 million are classified as equity investments. The as-
sets in this category are diversified by sector and geog raphy.

In first quarter 2008, UBS reduced its marks mainly on 
super senior CMBS CDOs and was able to reduce exposures, 
in particular to US commercial real estate loans.

Positions related to the US reference-linked note program
The structure of UBS’s reference-linked note (RLN) program 
is explained in the sidebar below.

UBS has created ten US RLNs to date. The maximum per-
mitted aggregate face value of the underlying asset pools 
totals USD 16.9 billion, against which UBS in aggregate 
holds a first loss credit protection of USD 3.8 billion provided 
by the RLN note-holders. This means that UBS is protected 
up to this amount in case of defaults in the underlying pool. 
To date, defaults and / or realized losses have been minimal 
and the overwhelming majority of the protection provided 
by the RLN note holders is therefore still intact.

As the fair value of the underlying asset pool has experi-
enced further markdowns during the quarter, the fair value 
of the RLN protection has experienced a corresponding fur-
ther increase. However, the magnitude of this increase is 
smaller than the asset decline, since the credit protection is 
only partial. The net result of these movements was a first 
quarter loss totalling USD 1.6 billion, related mainly to the 
sub-prime and Alt-A component of the US RLN program.

While the overwhelming majority of the protection still 
remains intact from the point of view of actual realization, in 
fair value terms the amount of protection remaining has de-
creased from USD 2.0 billion to USD 1.6 billion.

The total net exposure to assets held by UBS in connec-
tion with the US RLN program was USD 8.9 billion on 
31 March 2008, a reduction of USD 2.3 billion since year-
end 2007. 

Reference-linked note program

Reference-linked notes (RLNs) are 
credit-linked notes issued by UBS and 
referenced to an underlying pool of 
assets which are consolidated on UBS’s 
balance sheet. The assets consist of a 
variety of fixed income positions, 
including corporate bonds, collateral-
ized loan obligations, residential 
mortgage-backed securities, commer-
cial mortgage-backed securities, 
collateralized debt obligations and 
other asset-backed securities. The 
proceeds of the notes provide UBS 
with credit protection, up to a certain 

percentage, against defined default 
events in the underlying asset pool. 
Maturity of the notes generally 
exceeds the life of the instruments 
included in the underlying pool. 
Through the lifetime of each RLN, UBS 
will realize losses if defaults in the 
underlying asset pool exceed the 
percentage protection, or if assets 
which do not ultimately default are 
sold at a loss. 
Up to maturity, UBS is subject to 
revenue volatility as the RLN program 
is classified as held for trading under 

International Financial Reporting 
Standards and is therefore carried at 
fair value. Since the inception of the 
US RLN program, the credit protection 
has been valued using approaches that 
UBS considers to be consistent with 
market standard approaches for 
tranched credit protection. UBS seeks 
to actively manage its risk exposures in 
connection with the US RLN program 
via derivative and cash market 
positions. This can also contribute to 
revenue volatility. 
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US Alt-A residential mortgage exposures and profit and loss information

 
USD million

Net exposures 
as of 31.12.07 1,2

Profit and loss 
1Q08 3

Other net changes  
in net exposures 4

Net exposures 
as of 31.3.08 1,5

Super senior RMBS collateralized debt obligations (CDOs) 877 (431) (129) 317

AAA-rated RMBSs backed by first lien mortgages 21,216 (4,450) (2,242) 14,524

Other RMBSs 4,576 (1,193) (1,122) 2,261

Total 26,669 (6,074) (3,493) 17,102
1 Net exposure represents market value of gross exposure net of short positions and hedges considered effective.    2 Includes USD 4 million of RMBS CDO exposure where the hedge protection from a 
single monoline insurer is considered ineffective. See monoline table where this exposure is also included.   3 Amounts exclude credit valuation adjustments of USD (23) million taken in first quarter 2008 
for a single monoline insurer where hedge protection is considered ineffective.   4 Includes additions, disposals, amortizations, adjustments to hedges, reclassifications, including changes in the fair value 
of hedges considered ineffective as set out in footnote 3.    5 At 31 March 2008 the market value of the gross exposure was USD 317 million for super senior RMBSs CDOs (excluding monoline exposure), 
USD 14,563 million for AAA-rated RMBSs backed by first lien mortgages and USD 2,395 million for other RMBSs. See table on page 23 for details on the monoline hedges.

US commercial real estate exposures and profit and loss information

 
USD million

Net exposures 
as of 31.12.07 1

Profit and loss 
1Q08

Other net changes  
in net exposures 2

Net exposures 
as of 31.3.08 1,3

Super senior CMBS collateralized debt obligations (CDOs) 978 (202) 1 777

US CMBS/CMBX trading positions 2,643 (154) (51) 2,438

US commercial real estate loans 4 4,157 (87) (953) 3,117

Total 7,778 (443) (1,003) 6,332
1 Net exposure represents market value of gross exposure net of short positions and hedges considered effective.    2 Includes additions, disposals, amortizations and adjustments to hedges.    3 At 
31 March 2008, the market value of the gross exposure was USD 777 million for super senior CMBS CDOs (excluding monoline exposure), USD 13,696 million for CMBS/CMBX trading positions and USD 
3,117 million for US commercial real estate loans.  4 Includes net exposures of USD 411 million from equity investments.

US reference-linked note program exposures and profit and loss information

USD million
Net exposures 

as of 31.12.07 1,3
Profit and loss 

1Q08
Other net changes  
in net exposures 2

Net exposures 
as of 31.3.08 1,3

Sub-prime and Alt-A 3,844 (1,190) 197 2,851

Commercial mortgage-backed securities (CMBSs) 3,011 (164) (974) 1,873

Other ABSs and corporate debt 4,371 (204) 47 4,214

Total 11,226 (1,558) (730) 8,938
1 Net exposure represents market value of gross exposure net of short positions and hedges considered effective.    2 Includes additions, disposals, amortizations, adjustments to hedges.    3 US reference-
linked note exposure has been excluded from the corresponding asset categories.

US reference-linked note program: gross versus net exposures

31.3.08 31.12.07

USD million
Gross  

exposures

Remaining  
credit  

protection 1
Net  

exposures
Gross  

exposures

Remaining  
credit  

protection 1
Net  

exposures

Reference pool notional 16,851 3,826 13,025 16,851 3,826 13,025

Market value 10,516 1,578 8,938 13,188 1,962 11,226

of which: sub-prime and Alt-A 3,183 332 2,851 4,396 552 3,844

of which: commercial mortgage-backed securities (CMBSs) 2,511 638 1,873 3,605 594 3,011

of which: other asset-backed securities (ABSs) and corporate debt 4,822 608 4,214 5,187 816 4,371

1 Attribution of credit protection to different asset categories for each transaction assumes that protection will be used first to absorb potential additional losses on sub-prime and Alt-A assets, second 
to absorb losses on CMBSs assets and third to absorb losses on other asset categories. 
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Exposure to monoline insurers
The vast majority of UBS’s direct exposure to the monoline 
sector arises from over-the-counter (OTC) derivative con-
tracts – mainly credit default swaps (CDSs). On 31 March 
2008, the total fair value of CDS protection purchased from 
monoline insurers, across all asset classes, was USD 6.3 bil-
lion, after cumulative credit valuation adjustments of USD 
2.6 billion. Of these totals, USD 4.8 billion represents CDSs 
bought as protection for portfolios of US RMBS CDOs, after 
cumulative credit valuation adjustments of USD 2.3 billion. 

Direct exposure to monoline insurers is calculated as the 
sum of the fair values of individual CDSs. This, in turn, de-
pends on the valuation of the instruments against which 
protection has been bought. A positive fair value, or a valu-
ation gain, on the CDS is recognized if the fair value of the 
instrument it is intended to hedge is reduced. 

The table on the right shows the CDS protection bought 
from monoline insurers. It illustrates the notional amounts of 
the protection originally bought, the fair value of the under-
lying instruments and the fair value of the CDSs both prior to 
and after credit valuation adjustments taken for these con-
tracts. The methodology for calculating the monoline credit 
value adjustment is subject to substantial judgment and 
based partially on the illiquid credit default swap markets, 
which provide only a rough approximation of the implicit 
likelihood that monolines would default on their obligations 
to UBS. As such there is considerable uncertainty. Further, 
assessing the severity of loss to UBS in the event of a mono-
line default is also subject to substantial judgment and un-
certainty.

In first quarter 2008, UBS took credit valuation adjustments 
of USD 766 million on US RMBS CDOs purchased from a 
monoline insurer whose credit rating was downgraded to 
“non-investment grade” in fourth quarter 2007. These valua-
tion adjustments reflect the degree to which UBS considers its 
claims against this monoline counterparty to be impaired. For 
risk management purposes, the underlying US RMBS CDOs are 
treated as unhedged on 31 March 2008 and are also included 
in the corresponding super senior RMBS CDO exposure.

In its trading portfolio, UBS also has indirect exposure to 
monoline insurers through securities which they have guar-
anteed (“wrapped”), issued by US states and municipalities, 
US student loan programs and other asset-backed securities 
totaling approximately USD 14 billion on 31 March 2008 
(approximately USD 11 billion on 31 December 2007). 

Exposure to student loan asset-backed securities

Auction rate certificates (ARCs) and variable rate demand 
obligations (VRDOs) are long-term securities structured to al-
low frequent reset of their coupon and, at the same time, 

the possibility for holders to redeem their investment or, in 
the case of ARCs, sell it in a periodic auction, giving the se-
curities some of the characteristics of a short-term instru-
ment in normal market conditions. They are typically issued 
by municipal entities and student loan trusts, and may be 
wrapped by monoline insurers. 

Coupons paid on ARCs are determined by an auction at 
the beginning of each interest reset period, whereas VRDO 
coupons are adjusted on a periodic basis, the intention being 
to allow investors to earn a market rate of interest. VRDOs 
typically include a feature allowing an investor to sell the 
security to a liquidity provider, generally a bank. UBS spon-
sors student loan ARC and VRDO programs and, although it 
is not obligated to do so, has provided liquidity, from time to 
time, to these markets by submitting bids to ARC auctions 
and in the case of VRDOs by purchasing securities in the re-
marketing period.

In first quarter 2008, as a result of the general deteriora-
tion of credit markets and exacerbated by concerns about 
the financial status of monoline insurers, the markets for 
ARCs and VRDOs – particularly those ARCs backed by stu-
dent loans – were severely disrupted, resulting in illiquidity in 
the majority of student loan ARCs and certain VRDOs. In the 
early part of first quarter, UBS built up significant inventory 
through its support for these markets, which in the case of 
ARCs has since been discontinued and in the case of VRDOs 
is limited. The inventory was marked down to account for 
the market’s illiquidity, resulting in a loss of USD 974 million 
in first quarter 2008, mainly in ARCs. 

On 31 March 2008, UBS had student loan ARC positions 
in its trading inventory with a market value totaling USD 8.7 
billion, of which USD 5 billion were monoline wrapped. 

Exposure to leveraged finance deals

UBS has highly leveraged finance commitments entered into 
both before and after the market dislocation in July 2007. 
Transactions since this dislocation have typically had pricing 
terms and covenant and credit protection that are more fa-
vorable to underwriters and investors than those entered into 
in the first half of 2007, and are thus closer to the market 
conditions now prevailing. On 31 March 2008, commitments 
entered into by UBS before the dislocation (“old deals”) 
amounted to USD 3.6 billion while those entered into subse-
quent to the dislocation (“new deals”) totaled USD 5 billion.

These commitments are carried at fair value. On 31 March 
2008, the cumulative markdown of these transactions was 
USD 522 million, reflecting the estimated cost of distribu-
tion, net of fees. Gross of fees, the cumulative markdown 
was USD 647 million. Gross markdowns in first quarter 2008 
were USD 298 million.
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Exposure to monoline insurers, by rating 1

USD million 31.3.08

Notional amount 3
Fair value of 

underlying CDOs 4

Fair value of CDSs 
prior to credit 

valuation 
adjustment 5

Credit valuation 
adjustment as of 

31.3.08

Fair value of CDSs 
after credit 

valuation 
adjustment

Credit protection bought from monoline insurers rated 2 Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 (=1–2) Column 4 Column 5 (=3–4)

Monolines on US RMBS CDO 11,627 4,454 7,173 2,349 4,824

of which: from monolines rated AAA to A 7,631 2,763 4,868 807 4,061

on US sub-prime residential mortgage-backed  
securities (RMBS) CDOs high grade 5,696 2,106 3,590 569 3,021

on US sub-prime RMBS CDOs mezzanine 1,109 254 855 154 701

on other US RMBS CDOs 826 403 423 84 339

of which: from monolines rated BBB and below 6 3,996 1,691 2,305 1,542 763

on US sub-prime residential mortgage-backed  
securities (RMBS) CDOs high grade 615 166 449 89 360

on US sub-prime RMBS CDOs mezzanine 1,625 696 929 929 0

on other US RMBS CDOs 1,756 829 927 524 403

Monolines on other than US RMBS CDO 12,937 11,161 1,776 267 1,509

of which from monolines rated AAA to A 12,167 10,571 1,596 231 1,366

of which from monolines rated BBB and below 770 591 179 36 143

Total 7 24,564 15,616 8,949 2,616 6,333
1 Excludes the benefit of credit protection purchased from unrelated third parties.    2 Categorization based on the lowest insurance financial strength rating assigned by external rating agencies.     
3 Represents gross notional amount of credit default swaps (CDSs) purchased as credit protection.    4 Collateralized debt obligations (CDOs).    5 Credit default swaps (CDSs).    6 Remaining credit 
protection from one single monoline insurer rated BBB and below in the amount of USD 696 million on sub-prime RMBS mezzanine CDOs and USD 333 million on other RMBS CDOs is considered inef-
fective. On 31 March, the valuation of the CDSs amounts to USD 929 million and USD 423 million respectively, against which UBS has taken a credit valuation adjustment of 100%.    7 On 31 December 
2007, the overall fair value of CDSs amounted to USD 4,476 million, of which USD 3,809 million are related to US RMBS positions and USD 667 million to other than US RMBS positions. The correspond-
ing credit valuation adjustment amount taken against this exposure was USD 919 million, of which USD 871 million are related to US RMBS positions and USD 48 million to other than US RMBS positions. 
The difference between the credit valuation adjustment on 31 December 2007 and 31 March 2008 in the amount of USD 1.7 billion represents the loss booked in first quarter 2008 (see Note 3).

Student loan exposure and profit and loss information

USD million
Net exposures 

as of 31.12.07 1
Profit and loss 

1Q08
Other net changes  
in net exposures 2

Net exposures 
as of 31.3.08 1, 3

US Student loan auction rate certificates 4 4,490 (804) 5,015 8,701

US Student loan variable rate demand obligations 174 1 (50) 125

Other US student loan ABSs 3,015 (171) (1,251) 1,593

Total 7,679 (974) 3,714 10,419
1 Net exposure represents market value of gross exposure net of treasury hedges.    2 Includes additions, disposals, amortizations and adjustments to hedges.    3 At 31 March 2008, USD 4,977 million 
of the US student loan auction rate certificates (ARCs) and USD 16 million of the US student loan variable rate demand obligations were monoline wrapped.    4 In addition to the US student loan ARCs, 
UBS was holding USD 1,104 million core municipal auction rate certificates on 31 March 2008. The corresponding amount for 31 December 2007 was USD 1,387 million.

Leveraged finance commitments1

 
USD million

Commitments 
as of 31.3.08

Commitments 
as of 31.12.07

Old deals 3,578 5,622

of which: funded 3,259 3,231

New deals 5,004 5,753

of which: funded 3,954 4,228

Total 8,582 11,375

1 A leveraged finance deal is defined based on an internal rating which equals an external corporate credit rating of BB- or worse at the point of commitment.
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UBS recorded a credit loss expense of CHF 311 million in first 
quarter 2008, compared with CHF 238 million in fourth 
quarter 2007 and a recovery of CHF 1 million in first quarter 
2007. 

In first quarter 2008, the Investment Bank recorded a 
credit loss expense of CHF 308 million, of which CHF 306 
million is in respect of securities financing positions that ei-
ther have been liquidated or are in the process of being liq-
uidated. In comparison, credit loss expenses of CHF 223 mil-
lion were booked in fourth quarter 2007 and CHF 20 million 
in first quarter 2007. 

Global Wealth Management & Business Banking reported 
a CHF 3 million credit loss expense in first quarter 2008, 

compared with CHF 15 million in fourth quarter 2007 and 
net recoveries of CHF 21 million in first quarter 2007. 

UBS’s gross lending portfolio was CHF 388 billion on  
31 March 2008, down from CHF 398 billion on 31 Decem-
ber 2007. In Global Wealth Management & Business Bank-
ing, the gross lending portfolio was CHF 245 billion on  
31 March 2008, compared with CHF 249 billion on the pre-
vious quarter-end, with the reduction being mainly due to 
lower secured lending activities in the international wealth 
management units. The gross lending portfolio in the Invest-
ment Bank was CHF 142 billion, down from CHF 148 billion 
on 31 December 2007. This reduction was mainly due to 
lower volumes in secured client financing businesses. 

Credit risk

Allowances and provisions for credit losses

CHF million
Wealth Management 

International & Switzerland Wealth Management US Business Banking Switzerland
Global Wealth Management  

& Business Banking Investment Bank Others 1 UBS

As of 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.08 31.12.07

Due from banks 207 254 947 1,067 6,080 6,916 7,234 8,237 56,018 52,164 516 534 63,768 60,935

Loans 82,271 84,683 16,256 17,417 139,576 138,541 238,103 240,641 85,662 95,760 641 466 324,406 336,867

Total lending portfolio, gross 2 82,478 84,937 17,203 18,484 145,656 145,457 245,337 248,878 141,680 147,924 1,157 1,000 388,174 397,802

Allowances for credit losses (14) (12) 0 0 (869) (896) (883) (908) (107) (123) 0 0 (990) (1,031)

Total lending portfolio, net 82,464 84,925 17,203 18,484 144,787 144,561 244,454 247,970 141,573 147,801 1,157 1,000 387,184 396,771

Impaired lending portfolio, gross 6 5 0 0 1,770 1,815 1,776 1,820 416 572 0 0 2,192 2,392

Estimated liquidation proceeds of collateral for impaired loans 0 0 0 0 (705) (740) (705) (740) (247) (364) 0 0 (952) (1,104)

Impaired lending portfolio, net of collateral 6 5 0 0 1,065 1,075 1,071 1,080 169 208 0 0 1,240 1,288

Allocated allowances for impaired lending portfolio 6 5 0 0 845 869 851 874 107 123 0 0 958 997

Other allowances for lending portfolio 8 7 0 0 24 27 32 34 0 0 0 0 32 34

Total allowances for credit losses in lending portfolio 14 12 0 0 869 896 883 908 107 123 0 0 990 1,031

Allowances and provisions for credit losses outside of lending portfolio 0 0 0 0 52 60 52 60 367 73 0 0 419 133

Ratios

Allowances for lending portfolio as a % of total lending portfolio, gross 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.6 0.4 0.4 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.3

Impaired lending portfolio as a % of total lending portfolio, gross 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 1.2 0.7 0.7 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.6

Allocated allowances as a % of impaired lending portfolio, gross 100.0 100.0 0.0 0.0 47.7 47.9 47.9 48.0 25.7 21.5 0.0 0.0 43.7 41.7

Allocated allowances as a % of impaired lending portfolio, net of collateral 100.0 100.0 0.0 0.0 79.3 80.8 79.5 80.9 63.3 59.1 0.0 0.0 77.3 77.4

1 Includes Global Asset Management and Corporate Center.  2 Excludes loans designated at fair value.
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The ratio of the impaired lending portfolio to the total 
gross lending portfolio remained unchanged at 0.6% on  
31 March 2008. The level of the gross impaired lending port-
folio was CHF 2,192 million on 31 March 2008, down 8% 
from CHF 2,392 million on 31 December 2007. This reduc-
tion was mainly due to repayments of impaired loans in the 
Investment Bank.

Credit loss (expense) / recovery

Quarter ended % change from

CHF million 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Global Wealth Management & Business Banking (3) (15) 21 (80)

Investment Bank (308) (223) (20) 38

UBS (311) (238) 1 31

Allowances and provisions for credit losses

CHF million
Wealth Management 

International & Switzerland Wealth Management US Business Banking Switzerland
Global Wealth Management  

& Business Banking Investment Bank Others 1 UBS

As of 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.08 31.12.07

Due from banks 207 254 947 1,067 6,080 6,916 7,234 8,237 56,018 52,164 516 534 63,768 60,935

Loans 82,271 84,683 16,256 17,417 139,576 138,541 238,103 240,641 85,662 95,760 641 466 324,406 336,867

Total lending portfolio, gross 2 82,478 84,937 17,203 18,484 145,656 145,457 245,337 248,878 141,680 147,924 1,157 1,000 388,174 397,802

Allowances for credit losses (14) (12) 0 0 (869) (896) (883) (908) (107) (123) 0 0 (990) (1,031)

Total lending portfolio, net 82,464 84,925 17,203 18,484 144,787 144,561 244,454 247,970 141,573 147,801 1,157 1,000 387,184 396,771

Impaired lending portfolio, gross 6 5 0 0 1,770 1,815 1,776 1,820 416 572 0 0 2,192 2,392

Estimated liquidation proceeds of collateral for impaired loans 0 0 0 0 (705) (740) (705) (740) (247) (364) 0 0 (952) (1,104)

Impaired lending portfolio, net of collateral 6 5 0 0 1,065 1,075 1,071 1,080 169 208 0 0 1,240 1,288

Allocated allowances for impaired lending portfolio 6 5 0 0 845 869 851 874 107 123 0 0 958 997

Other allowances for lending portfolio 8 7 0 0 24 27 32 34 0 0 0 0 32 34

Total allowances for credit losses in lending portfolio 14 12 0 0 869 896 883 908 107 123 0 0 990 1,031

Allowances and provisions for credit losses outside of lending portfolio 0 0 0 0 52 60 52 60 367 73 0 0 419 133

Ratios

Allowances for lending portfolio as a % of total lending portfolio, gross 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.6 0.4 0.4 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.3

Impaired lending portfolio as a % of total lending portfolio, gross 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 1.2 0.7 0.7 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.6

Allocated allowances as a % of impaired lending portfolio, gross 100.0 100.0 0.0 0.0 47.7 47.9 47.9 48.0 25.7 21.5 0.0 0.0 43.7 41.7

Allocated allowances as a % of impaired lending portfolio, net of collateral 100.0 100.0 0.0 0.0 79.3 80.8 79.5 80.9 63.3 59.1 0.0 0.0 77.3 77.4

1 Includes Global Asset Management and Corporate Center.  2 Excludes loans designated at fair value.



26

Risk management and control 
6 May 2008

Most of UBS’s market risk arises from the Investment Bank’s 
trading activities. Treasury (part of Corporate Center) as-
sumes foreign exchange and interest rate risk in connection 
with its balance sheet and capital management responsibili-
ties, while the wealth and asset management operations 
take limited market risk in support of client business. 

Trading conditions remained extremely difficult in first 
quarter 2008, with further contagion from the US mortgage 
markets and fears of a global slowdown affecting other as-
set-backed securities, equities and corporate credit markets. 
The situation was exacerbated by an acute lack of liquidity in 
the interbank lending market, despite moves by central 

Market risk

banks to alleviate the situation, including reductions in some 
interest rates. Doubts about the financial strength of mono-
line insurers put downward pressure on US municipal and 
asset-backed securities. 

As indicated in the fourth quarter 2007 report and UBS’s 
Annual Report 2007 (in Risk, Treasury and Capital Manage
ment 2007), UBS has changed its approach to internal risk 
control for illiquid US residential mortgage-related exposures 
– US sub-prime and Alt-A residential mortgage-backed secu-
rities (RMBSs), super senior RMBS collateralized debt obliga-
tions (CDOs), and the US reference-linked note program, 
and related hedges. For further details on these positions, 
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Note: The indices and price movements in the charts above are presented for illustrative purposes only and should not be interpreted as an indication that they were or can be used in determining the 
market value of any securities owned by UBS, or that the value of any portion of UBS’s portfolio will move in accordance with these indices or prices.
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please see the “Risk concentrations” section of this report. 
Value at Risk (VaR) is neither an adequate measure of the 
risks in such illiquid positions nor an appropriate risk control 
tool. These risks are therefore now excluded from VaR limits 
and are controlled primarily by volume-based limits that re-
duce as positions are worked down, supplemented by tar-
geted stress scenarios. The regulatory capital treatment has 
also changed, from trading book to banking book. These 
positions were previously the dominant contributors to inter-
est rate VaR, including credit spread. 

Largely as a result of this change, Investment Bank aver-
age, 10-day, 99% confidence VaR decreased significantly in 
first quarter 2008 to CHF 306 million, from CHF 665 million 
in the preceding period. Quarter-end VaR was also substan-
tially lower at CHF 299 million compared with CHF 614 
million at the previous quarter-end. Excluding the US resi-

dential mortgage-related, super senior RMBS CDOs posi-
tions from Investment Bank 10-day VaR for fourth quarter 
2007, average VaR would have been approximately CHF 
370 million lower and year-end VaR approximately CHF 260 
million lower than shown in the tables below. 1-day VaR 
would have also been lower – by CHF 33 million on average 
and CHF 12 million at year-end. On a like-for-like basis, In-
vestment Bank VaR for first quarter 2008 is therefore broad-
ly unchanged from fourth quarter 2007 on average and 
lower at quarter-end.

During first quarter, updates to the historical time series 
increased VaR, but this effect was broadly offset by active 
risk reduction. 

Interest rate VaR includes not only exposure to changes in 
the level and shape of yield curves, but also exposure to 
credit spreads. With the exclusion of the illiquid US mort-

UBS: Value at Risk (10-day, 99% confidence, 5 years of historical data) 1

Quarter ended 31.3.08 Quarter ended 31.12.07

CHF million Min. Max. Average 31.3.08 Min. Max. Average 31.12.07

Business groups

Investment Bank 2 253 373 306 299 468 836 665 614

Global Asset Management 1 3 2 2 2 4 3 3

Global Wealth Management & Business Banking 2 8 4 2 3 4 3 3

Corporate Center 12 57 30 30 11 92 29 61

Diversification effect 3 3 (32) (29) 3 3 (34) (94)

Total 258 373 310 304 461 833 666 588

Diversification effect (%) (9) (9) (5) (14)

1 Includes all positions subject to Value at Risk (VaR) limits.  2 From 1 January 2008, excludes US residential sub-prime and Alt-A mortgage-related exposures, super senior RMBS CDOs and the US 
reference-linked note program.  3 As the minimum and maximum occur on different days for different business groups, it is not meaningful to calculate a portfolio diversification effect.

Investment Bank: Value at Risk (10-day, 99% confidence, 5 years of historical data) 1

Quarter ended 31.3.08 Quarter ended 31.12.07

CHF million, except where indicated Min. Max. Average 31.3.08 Min. Max. Average 31.12.07

Risk type

Equities 141 244 167 146 148 262 168 242

Interest rates (including credit spreads) 224 368 281 294 489 877 668 576

Foreign exchange 12 46 22 40 13 49 27 21

Energy, metals and commodities 25 57 37 48 27 62 47 41

Diversification effect 2 2 (201) (229) 2 2 (245) (267)

Total 253 373 306 299 468 836 665 614

Diversification effect (%) (40) (43) (27) (30)

1 Includes all positions subject to Value at Risk (VaR) limits. From 1 January 2008, excludes US residential sub-prime and Alt-A mortgage-related exposures, super senior RMBS CDOs and the US reference-
linked note program.  2 As the minimum and maximum occur on different days for different risk types, it is not meaningful to calculate a portfolio diversification effect.

UBS: Value at Risk (1-day, 99% confidence, 5 years of historical data) 1,2

Quarter ended 31.3.08 Quarter ended 31.12.07

CHF million Min. Max. Average 31.3.08 Min. Max. Average 31.12.07

Investment Bank 3 107 137 119 108 124 170 149 149

UBS 106 141 120 111 126 170 149 152

1 10-day and 1-day Value at Risk (VaR) results are separately calculated from underlying positions and historical market moves. They cannot be inferred from each other.  2 Includes all positions subject 
to VaR limits.  3 From 1 January 2008, excludes US residential sub-prime and Alt-A mortgage-related exposures, super senior RMBS CDOs and the US reference-linked note program.
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gage-related, super senior RMBS CDOs positions, the rela-
tive contribution of credit spread exposure to interest rate 
VaR has been reduced. Additionally, credit spread exposure 
from corporate debt and some classes of asset-backed secu-
rities has been actively managed down during the quarter. 
Directional interest rate exposure is now a more dominant 
component and changes in US interest rate positions have 
been the main driver of variations in interest rate VaR over 
the quarter. The interaction of these factors resulted in a 
slight increase in interest rate VaR quarter on quarter after 
taking account of the exclusion of the US residential mort-
gage-related positions in first quarter 2008. 

Average equities VaR remained stable from the previous 
quarter. The temporary increase in VaR in late December 2007 
was reversed in January 2008 and period-end VaR was there-
fore significantly lower than at the previous quarter-end. 

As in previous periods, VaR for UBS as a whole followed a 
similar pattern to Investment Bank VaR.

“Backtesting” compares 1-day VaR calculated on positions 
at the close of each business day with the revenues arising on 

those positions on the following business day. These “back-
testing revenues” exclude non-trading revenues, such as fees 
and commissions, and estimated revenues from intraday trad-
ing. When backtesting revenues are negative and greater than 
the previous day’s VaR, a “backtesting exception” occurs. 

The US residential mortgage-related portfolios reclassi-
fied to banking book for regulatory capital are excluded 
from VaR and backtesting revenues from 1 January 2008 
but are included in “all revenues” for the same period. It is 
therefore more meaningful to show the analysis of back-
testing revenues split between first quarter and the prior 
nine-month period, as illustrated in the histograms below. 
Histograms at the bottom of page 29, comparing daily 
backtesting revenues with the corresponding VaR for days 
when the backtesting revenues are negative are also shown 
on this basis. The histogram located in the top right hand 
corner of the opposite page shows all daily revenues from 
businesses with trading activities, including US residential 
mortgage-related portfolios, and covers the 12 months to 
31 March 2008.
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Investment Bank: analysis of negative 
backtesting revenues1

1-day 99% confidence VaR 
less backtesting revenue (CHF million)  1 January 2008 – 31 March 2008
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Source: revenues management accounts
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UBS experienced a further 11 backtesting exceptions in 
first quarter 2008. Markets remained stressed and differen-
tial movements between asset classes that had been well 
correlated until mid-2007 continued to highlight basis risks. 
Increasing the granularity of risk representation in risk mea-
sures in order to improve the performance of the VaR model 
and the identification of basis risks, is an important compo-
nent of UBS’s efforts to enhance the market risk manage-
ment and control framework. For further details, please refer 
to UBS’s Annual Report 2007, pages 36 to 37 of Risk, Trea
sury and Capital Management 2007.

As an essential complement to VaR, UBS runs macro stress 
scenarios bringing together various combinations of market 
moves to reflect the most common types of potential stress 
events, and more targeted stress tests for concentrated expo-
sures and vulnerable portfolios. Market risk exposure to 
emerging markets is also controlled by individual country and 
global limits based on emerging market stress scenarios.
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Investment Bank: analysis of negative 
backtesting revenues1

1-day 99% confidence VaR
less backtesting revenue (CHF million)  2 April 2007 – 31 December 2007
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Risk management and control 
6 May 2008

Operational losses can be caused by external factors, delib-
erate, accidental or natural, or failures of internal processes, 
people or systems. They can, unfortunately, never be entirely 
eliminated. Especially in today’s environment of complex 
global processes, low regulatory tolerance for error and 
growing propensity for litigation, operational risk runs along-
side market and credit risk as one of UBS’s principal risk 
classes.

UBS continues to place great importance on its opera-
tional risk framework. The firm aims to contain the levels of 
risk and ensure that sufficient information is available to 

make informed decisions about additional or adjusted con-
trols.

Many potential causes of loss are identified before the 
probability, timing or amounts of future cost are known with 
certainty. International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
require UBS to make provisions, based on the best estimate 
of a liability, when it is probable that a payment will be re-
quired, even if the amount to be paid has not been exactly 
determined yet. This requires the exercise of judgment. Once 
UBS is able to quantify any potential operational risk more 
accurately, the corresponding provision is revised up or 
down.

Operational risk
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Business groups and Corporate Center results 
6 May 2008

Global Wealth Management & Business Banking achieved a pre-tax profit of CHF 2,152 million in first quarter 
2008, a decrease of 13% from the prior quarter. In comparison with fourth quarter 2007, each business area 
reported lower pre-tax profits: the international and Swiss wealth management businesses reported a  
13%  decline to CHF 1,429 million, Wealth Management US saw a 12% decline to CHF 183 million and Business 
B anking Switzerland saw a 10% decline to CHF 540 million. Net new money inflows from the wealth manage-
ment businesses were CHF 5.6 billion in first quarter 2008, down 82% from the prior quarter. 

Global Wealth Management & Business Banking

Business group reporting

As of or for the quarter ended % change from

CHF million, except where indicated 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Income 5,852 6,331 5,961 (8) (2)

Credit loss (expense) / recovery (3) (15) 21 (80)

Total operating income 5,849 6,316 5,982 (7) (2)

Cash components 2,552 2,586 2,595 (1) (2)

Share-based components 1 75 87 107 (14) (30)

Total personnel expenses 2,627 2,673 2,702 (2) (3)

General and administrative expenses 727 835 712 (13) 2

Services (to) / from other business units 265 256 301 4 (12)

Depreciation of property and equipment 59 69 52 (14) 13

Amortization of intangible assets 19 21 25 (10) (24)

Total operating expenses 3,697 3,854 3,792 (4) (3)

Business group performance before tax 2,152 2,462 2,190 (13) (2)

Key performance indicators

Cost / income ratio (%) 2 63.2 60.9 63.6

Attributed equity and risk-weighted assets

Average attributed equity (CHF billion) 3 17.0

Return on attributed equity (RoaE) (%) 4 50.6

BIS risk-weighted assets (CHF billion) 5 89.5 169.7 160.5

Return on BIS risk-weighted assets (%) 6 9.6 5.6 5.5

Goodwill and intangible assets (CHF billion) 7 5.9 5.8 6.3

Additional information

Invested assets (CHF billion) 1,994 2,298 2,229 (13) (11)

Net new money (CHF billion) 8 3.7 31.7 47.5

Client assets (CHF billion) 3,044 3,554 3,436 (14) (11)

Personnel (full-time equivalents) 51,439 51,090 48,931 1 5

1 Additionally includes social security contributions and expenses related to alternative investment awards.  2 Operating expenses / income.  3 See page 65 for further explanation.  4 Year-to-date 
business group performance before tax (annualized as applicable) / attributed equity (year-to-date average).  5 BIS risk-weighted assets (RWA) are according to Basel II; for quarters prior to 1Q08, RWA 
are according to the Basel I framework.  6 Year-to-date business group performance before tax (annualized as applicable) / BIS RWA (year-to-date average).  7 Quarters prior to first quarter 2008 
represent goodwill and intangible assets in excess of 4% of BIS Tier 1 capital.  8 Excludes interest and dividend income.
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Wealth Management International & Switzerland

Business unit reporting

As of or for the quarter ended % change from

CHF million, except where indicated 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Income 3,056 3,298 3,071 (7) 0

Credit loss (expense) / recovery (2) 0 0

Total operating income 3,054 3,298 3,071 (7) (1)

Cash components 915 914 885 0 3

Share-based components 1 27 37 41 (27) (34)

Total personnel expenses 942 951 926 (1) 2

General and administrative expenses 267 306 232 (13) 15

Services (to) / from other business units 386 356 381 8 1

Depreciation of property and equipment 25 28 20 (11) 25

Amortization of intangible assets 5 5 9 0 (44)

Total operating expenses 1,625 1,646 1,568 (1) 4

Business unit performance before tax 1,429 1,652 1,503 (13) (5)

Key performance indicators

Invested assets (CHF billion) 1,133 1,294 1,197 (12) (5)

Net new money (CHF billion) 2 2.5 23.4 33.9

Gross margin on invested assets (bps) 3 101 102 105 (1) (4)

Cost / income ratio (%) 4 53.2 49.9 51.1

Client advisors (full-time equivalents) 6,017 5,774 5,050 4 19

Client advisor productivity

Revenues per advisor (CHF thousand) 5 518 578 627 (10) (17)

Net new money per advisor (CHF thousand) 6 424 4,104 6,924

Invested assets per advisor (CHF thousand) 7 205,835 227,221 238,460 (9) (14)

International clients

Income 2,312 2,519 2,274 (8) 2

Invested assets (CHF billion) 884 1,013 911 (13) (3)

Net new money (CHF billion) 2 5.0 22.8 29.4

Gross margin on invested assets (bps) 3 98 100 103 (2) (5)

1 Additionally includes social security contributions and expenses related to alternative investment awards.  2 Excludes interest and dividend income.  3 Income (annualized as applicable) / average 
invested assets.  4 Operating expenses / income.  5 Income / average number of client advisors.  6 Net new money / average number of client advisors.  7 Average invested assets / average number of 
client advisors.
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Business groups and Corporate Center results 
6 May 2008

Key performance indicators

Net new money declined to CHF 2.5 billion in first quarter 
2008 from CHF 23.4 billion the previous quarter. This reflects 
slower wealth creation in a tougher economic climate, a 
near absence of corporate events creating large one-time 
increases in entrepreneurial wealth, the impact of modest 
deleveraging of private client portfolios and, in Switzerland, 
clients diversifying assets away from UBS due to the effects 
of the credit market turbulence on the firm’s operating per-
formance and reputation. 

The influence of these factors accelerated considerably 
towards the end of the quarter. The international clients area 
saw lower net new money in all geographical regions and 

the result fell to CHF 5.0 billion from CHF 22.8 billion the 
prior quarter. The Swiss clients area posted an outflow of 
CHF 2.5 billion compared with the prior quarter’s CHF 0.6 
billion inflow. 

Invested assets were CHF 1,133 billion on 31 March 2008, 
a decrease of CHF 161 billion, or 12%, from 31 December 
2007. A 12% fall in the US dollar and a 5% decrease of the 
euro against the Swiss franc caused more than half of the 
decline (35% of invested assets are denominated in US dol-
lars and 34% in euros). Falling equity markets (MSCI World 
Index fell 21% in Swiss franc terms during the quarter, for 
example) also contributed to the decline in value of invested 
assets. The reduced asset base will negatively affect fee in-
come in second quarter 2008.

Business unit reporting (continued)
As of or for the quarter ended % change from

CHF million, except where indicated 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Swiss clients

Income 744 779 797 (4) (7)

Invested assets (CHF billion) 249 281 286 (11) (13)

Net new money (CHF billion) 1 (2.5) 0.6 4.5

Gross margin on invested assets (bps) 2 112 110 113 2 (1)

Attributed equity and risk-weighted assets

Average attributed equity (CHF billion) 3 6.3

Return on attributed equity (RoaE) (%) 4 90.7

BIS risk-weighted assets (CHF billion) 5 30.8 63.1 56.8

Return on BIS risk-weighted assets (%) 6 18.6 10.5 11.1

Goodwill and intangible assets (CHF billion) 7 1.8 1.8 1.8

Additional information

Recurring income 8 2,298 2,484 2,267 (7) 1

Client assets (CHF billion) 1,420 1,651 1,508 (14) (6)

Personnel (full-time equivalents) 16,157 15,811 14,173 2 14

1 Excludes interest and dividend income.  2 Income (annualized as applicable) / average invested assets.  3 See page 65 for further explanation.  4 Year-to-date business unit performance before  
tax (annualized as applicable) / attributed equity (year-to-date average).  5 BIS risk-weighted assets (RWA) are according to Basel II; for quarters prior to first quarter 2008, RWA are according to the 
Basel I framework.  6 Year-to-date business unit performance before tax (annualized as applicable) / BIS RWA (year-to-date average).  7 Quarters prior to first quarter 2008 represent goodwill and  
intangible assets in excess of 4% of BIS Tier 1 capital.  8 Interest, asset-based revenues for portfolio management and account-based, distribution and advisory fees.
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In first quarter 2008, the gross margin on invested assets 
was 101 basis points, down one basis point from fourth 
quarter 2007. Recurring income constituted 76 basis points 
of the margin, a decrease of one basis point from the previ-
ous quarter. Non-recurring income comprised 25 basis points 
of the gross margin, unchanged from fourth quarter 2007, 
as transaction activity declined proportionally to the falling 
asset base. 

In first quarter 2008, the cost / income ratio was 53.2%, 
up 3.3 percentage points from fourth quarter 2007. The 
change occurred as the asset base decreased in first quarter 
2008 and this led to lower income through asset-based fees, 
which could only be partially offset by lower costs. 

Initiatives and achievements

Expansion in Europe 
First quarter 2008 saw the opening of three new branches in 
Europe. In January, UBS opened an office in Lisbon – its first 
office in Portugal. January also marked the opening of UBS’s 
tenth branch in France, located in Aix-en-Provence. And, at 
the end of March, the thirteenth German office was opened 
in Wiesbaden. 

Expansion in Asia Pacific
UBS’s expansion in the Asia Pacific region received a signifi-
cant boost in first quarter 2008, with the granting of an India 
Bank Branch license in February. As a result, UBS will be able 
to offer wealth management products and services in India. 

In March 2008, UBS upgraded two of its representative 
offices in Taiwan, in Taichung and Kaohsiung, to full branch-
es. There are now three branches offering wealth manage-
ment services in Taiwan.

Results

Pre-tax profit for first quarter 2008 was CHF 1,429 million, a 
13% decrease from CHF 1,652 million the previous quarter. 
The decrease occurred as the asset base decreased in first 
quarter 2008 and this led to lower income through asset-
based fees. 

Operating income 
Total operating income was CHF 3,054 million in first quarter 
2008, down 7% from CHF 3,298 million the prior quarter. 
This decline was due to a drop in both recurring income and 
non-recurring income in first quarter 2008. A lower asset 
base led to the decline in recurring income, which fell by  
CHF 186 million from fourth quarter 2007 to CHF 2,298 mil-
lion in first quarter 2008. Non-recurring income fell by 
CHF 56 million, mainly due to lower client activity, and due to 
the impact of lower income on equity attributed, reflecting 
this business group’s lower capital usage following the intro-
duction of Basel II and the new equity attribution framework 
(see page 65 of this report for further details on the new eq-
uity attribution framework).

Operating expenses
Operating expenses were CHF 1,625 million in first quarter 
2008, down CHF 21 million, or 1%, from CHF 1,646 million 
the previous quarter. Contributing to this decline were lower 
first quarter personnel expenses, at CHF 942 million com-
pared with CHF 951 million the prior quarter when over-pro-
portional overtime payments were included. Moreover, first 
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Business groups and Corporate Center results 
6 May 2008

quarter 2008 contained lower costs for training. General and 
administrative expenses were down CHF 39 million to CHF 
267 million in first quarter due to lower travel and entertain-
ment expenses, as well as lower professional fees. Expenses 
for services from other business units rose by CHF 30 million 
to CHF 386 million in first quarter 2008, reflecting higher 
charges from the Investment Bank for handling securities 
transactions. Depreciation declined to CHF 25 million in first 
quarter 2008 from CHF 28 million in fourth quarter 2007.

Personnel

The number of personnel was 16,157 on 31 March 2008, up 
346 from 15,811 on 31 December 2007. Most of the in-
crease was in Switzerland, Asia Pacific and Europe. Wealth 
Management International & Switzerland added 123 new 
client advisors internationally and 120 in Switzerland. The 
relatively low hiring rate of non-client advisor staff has im-
proved the ratio of other staff to client advisors to the lowest 
level ever. 

8000

9600

11200

12800

14400

16000

16,157

Personnel 
full-time equivalents  

16,000

14,000

12,000

10,000

  8,000

 31.3.06 30.6.06 30.9.06 31.12.06 31.3.07 30.6.07 30.9.07 31.12.07 31.3.08

100

120

140

160

180

300

400

500

600

700

Revenues per advisor1  

CHF thousand

1Q06 2Q06 3Q06 4Q06 1Q07 2Q07 3Q07 4Q07 1Q08

700

600

500

400

300
1 Income / average number of client advisors.

518



37

Wealth Management US

Business unit reporting

As of or for the quarter ended % change from

CHF million, except where indicated 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Income 1,527 1,679 1,610 (9) (5)

Credit loss (expense) / recovery 0 (1) 0 (100)

Total operating income 1,527 1,678 1,610 (9) (5)

Cash components 1,012 1,079 1,073 (6) (6)

Share-based components 1 39 33 51 18 (24)

Total personnel expenses 1,051 1,112 1,124 (5) (6)

General and administrative expenses 201 246 216 (18) (7)

Services (to) / from other business units 59 76 80 (22) (26)

Depreciation of property and equipment 19 20 19 (5) 0

Amortization of intangible assets 14 16 16 (13) (13)

Total operating expenses 1,344 1,470 1,455 (9) (8)

Business unit performance before tax 183 208 155 (12) 18

Key performance indicators

Invested assets (CHF billion) 709 840 868 (16) (18)

Net new money (CHF billion) 2 3.1 8.1 10.9

Net new money including interest and dividend income  
(CHF billion) 3 8.6 15.2 16.8

Gross margin on invested assets (bps) 4 79 79 76 0 4

Cost / income ratio (%) 5 88.0 87.6 90.4

Recurring income 6 954 1,054 987 (9) (3)

Financial advisor productivity

Revenues per advisor (CHF thousand) 7 185 204 203 (9) (9)

Net new money per advisor (CHF thousand) 8 377 986 1,375

Invested assets per advisor (CHF thousand) 9 94,067 104,122 106,724 (10) (12)

Attributed equity and risk-weighted assets

Average attributed equity (CHF billion) 10 6.6

Return on attributed equity (RoaE) (%) 11 11.1

BIS risk-weighted assets (CHF billion) 12 15.8 18.7 18.5

Return on BIS risk-weighted assets (%) 13 4.6 3.6 3.4

Goodwill and intangible assets (CHF billion) 14 4.1 4.0 4.5

Additional information

Client assets (CHF billion) 773 917 944 (16) (18)

Personnel (full-time equivalents) 19,371 19,347 19,005 0 2

Financial advisors (full-time equivalents) 8,219 8,248 7,974 0 3

1 Additionally includes social security contributions and expenses related to alternative investment awards.  2 Excludes interest and dividend income.  3 For purposes of comparison with US peers.   
4 Income (annualized) / average invested assets.  5 Operating expenses / income.  6 Interest, asset-based revenues for portfolio management and account-based, distribution and advisory fees.   
7 Income (including net goodwill funding) / average number of financial advisors.  8 Net new money / average number of financial advisors.  9 Average invested assets / average number of financial 
advisors.  10 See page 65 for further explanation.  11 Year-to-date business unit performance before tax (annualized as applicable) / attributed equity (year-to-date average).  12 BIS risk-weighted 
assets (RWA) are according to Basel II; for quarters prior to first quarter 2008, RWA are according to the Basel I framework.  13 Year-to-date business unit performance before tax (annualized as ap-
plicable) / BIS RWA (year-to-date average).  14 Quarters prior to first quarter 2008 represent goodwill and intangible assets in excess of 4% of BIS Tier 1 capital.
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Business groups and Corporate Center results 
6 May 2008

Key performance indicators

Net new money in first quarter 2008 was CHF 3.1 billion, 
down from CHF 8.1 billion in fourth quarter 2007. The re-
sults for fourth quarter 2007 included high levels of net new 
money associated with the hiring of experienced financial 
advisors with strong client bases. The business unit contin-
ued to attract invested assets from clients in the quarter de-
spite turbulent market conditions; however, net new money 
generation weakened towards the end of first quarter with 
clients diversifying assets away from UBS due to the effects 
of the credit market turbulence on the firm’s operating per-
formance and reputation. Including interest and dividends, 
net new money in first quarter 2008 was CHF 8.6 billion, 
down from CHF 15.2 billion in fourth quarter 2007. 

Invested assets were CHF 709 billion on 31 March 2008, 
down 16% from CHF 840 billion on 31 December 2007. A 
12% depreciation of the US dollar against the Swiss franc 
and negative market performance led to the lower first quar-
ter result, though these were partly offset by net new money 
and interest and dividend income. In US dollar terms, invest-
ed assets decreased 4% from fourth quarter 2007. Overall, 
first quarter 2008 was a challenging period for equity mar-
kets as equity indices declined for a second consecutive quar-
ter due to continued investor concerns over the deterioration 
of the US housing market and a weakening US economy.

Gross margin on invested assets was 79 basis points in 
first quarter 2008, unchanged from fourth quarter 2007. In 
US dollar terms, gross margin on invested assets was 82  
basis points, up three basis points from fourth quarter 2007 
due largely to an increase in the non-recurring margin fol-
lowing the introduction of the new equity attribution frame-
work (see page 65 of this report for details on the new  
equity attribution framework) and the related increase of in-
terest income while the recurring margin improved slightly 
from the prior quarter. 

The cost / income ratio was 88.0% in first quarter 2008 
versus 87.6% in fourth quarter 2007. Revenues and expens-
es were both impacted by the depreciation of the US dollar 
against the Swiss franc during first quarter. In US dollar 
terms, the cost / income ratio increased slightly, reflecting a 
higher first quarter personnel expense.
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Recurring income in first quarter 2008 was CHF 954 mil-
lion, down 9% from CHF 1,054 million in fourth quarter 
2007. The decrease primarily reflects the impact of negative 
currency translation and, to a lesser extent, lower managed 
account fees related to lower invested asset levels. These 
were partly offset by higher account fees and investment 
advisory fees. Interest income was positively impacted by an 
increase in deposits, while interest spreads declined. Recur-
ring income represented 62% of total operating income in 
first quarter 2008, down from 63% in fourth quarter 2007.

Revenue per advisor in first quarter 2008 was CHF 
185,000, down 9% from CHF 204,000 the prior quarter, 
primarily due to the decline of the US dollar against the Swiss 
franc.
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UBS’s response to challenges in the auction rate securities market

Background
The USD 330 billion market for auction 
rate securities (ARSs) in the US experi-
enced a significant disruption in 
February 2008. For the first time in the 
20 year-plus history of the ARS market, 
auctions for a large percentage of these 
securities failed. This has resulted in 
illiquidity of the majority of ARSs, with 
clients unable to sell their securities. The 
auction failures followed a decrease in 
demand for these securities, as a result 
of pressure in the credit markets at the 
end of 2007 which persisted through 
first quarter 2008. The ARS market 
remains largely illiquid as auctions 
continue to fail. A meaningful second-
ary market has not yet developed, 
though in March and April 2008 a small 
percentage of auctions began to clear 
and certain issuers announced redemp-
tion and refinancing opportunities. 

Actions and solutions 
In these unprecedented circumstances, 
UBS is committed to finding solutions 
for clients. UBS has been one of the 
most active firms in two areas since 
this crisis began: pricing and lending 
to enhance client liquidity. 
At the end of March 2008, Wealth 
Management US announced a change 
in valuations of ARSs on client 
statements in response to changing 
market conditions. In the absence of 
reliable vendor pricing, the statements 
reflect valuations, which are generally 
below par value, that are based on a 
UBS pricing methodology that uses 
available information from internal 
and external sources. UBS has priced 
its own positions consistent with the 
revaluation on client statements.
In an effort to provide liquidity to 
clients with an immediate need, UBS 

has offered solutions to clients who 
wish to borrow against their ARS 
positions, including preferred rates on 
margin accounts and securities-backed 
credit lines. Loans will be subject to 
the normal credit approval process of 
UBS Bank USA and loan amounts will 
be subject to the creditworthiness of 
the borrower. 
UBS remains committed to working 
constructively with issuers, industry 
peers and the US government to help 
restore liquidity in the ARS market. 
For further details on UBS’s inventory 
on student loan ARS positions, please 
refer to the “Risk concentrations” 
section on page 18 of this report.
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Initiatives and achievements

Targeted investments
Wealth Management US invests in a number of strategic ini-
tiatives in order to achieve its ambitions related to growth 
and service, including delivering the UBS Client Experience. 

In first quarter 2008, the business unit completed the roll-
out of several initiatives including financial advisor-related 
technology enhancements that improve the management of 
client relationships and a redesigned client statement, with 
improved functionality and presentation. 

Financial advisors now use an enhanced workstation 
(ConsultWorks) and Investment Solutions (IS) Toolset. The re-
design of ConsultWorks allows for efficient workflow and 
integration of data and applications with an improved pre-
sentation of client information. Additionally, in response to 
advisors’ need for a streamlined process for fee-based busi-
ness, IS Toolset provides access to the complete set of man-
aged accounts programs offered at UBS, enhancing advisors’ 
ability to manage client relationships. 

In March 2008, Wealth Management US launched a re-
designed UBS client statement. Enhancements include a 
consolidated overview of a client’s relationship with UBS and 
an improved view of portfolio activities for the current and 
previous period, including activity analysis for greater insight 
into changes in portfolio value.

Results

In first quarter 2008, pre-tax profit was CHF 183 million, 
down 12% from CHF 208 million in fourth quarter 2007. In 
US dollar terms, pre-tax profit declined 2% from the prior 
quarter. Aside from the negative effects of currency transla-
tion, the quarter was marked by lower transactional income 
resulting from the turbulent US markets.

Operating income
Total operating income in first quarter 2008 was CHF 1,527 
million, down 9% from CHF 1,678 million in fourth quarter 
2007. While the decline mainly reflects the decrease of the 
US dollar against the Swiss franc during the quarter, recur-
ring income decreased due to lower managed account fees 
from a decline in managed account assets, partly offset by 
higher investment advisory fees and account fees. In addi-
tion, non-recurring income declined due to lower commis-
sions related to less client transaction activity partly offset by 
the positive impact of the introduction of the new equity  
attribution framework.

Operating expenses
Total operating expenses for first quarter 2008 were CHF 
1,344 million, down 9% from CHF 1,470 million in the pre-
vious quarter. The decrease was due to lower personnel and 
non-personnel costs, which were both positively influenced 
by the depreciation of the US dollar against the Swiss franc 
during the quarter. 

At CHF 1,051 million in first quarter 2008, personnel ex-
penses were down 5% from CHF 1,112 million the previous 
quarter. In US dollar terms, personnel expenses increased 
6% from fourth quarter 2007 due to higher costs for incen-
tive compensation, health insurance and expenses related to 
the recognition of top-performing financial advisors that are 
generally accrued in the first half of the year. These increases 
were partially offset by a decline in financial advisor compen-
sation related to lower compensable income. 

Non-personnel expenses (which include general and ad-
ministrative, depreciation and amortization expenses and 
services provided to and received from other business units) 
were CHF 293 million in first quarter 2008, an 18% decrease 
from CHF 358 million the previous quarter. In addition to the 
currency translation impact, the decline reflects lower costs 
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related to professional service fees, travel expenditure and 
lower charges from information technology infrastructure, 
partly offset by higher advertising expenses. 

Personnel
The number of personnel was 19,371 on 31 March 2008, up 
24 from 31 December 2007. Increases occurred in the total 

number of non-financial advisor staff, which rose to 11,152 
on 31 March 2008 compared with 11,099 on 31 December 
2007. While this increase was principally due to increased  
hiring in support of the branch network and staff training 
functions, it was partially offset by decreases in other business  
areas. The number of financial advisors on 31 March 2008 
was 8,219, down 29 from 8,248 on 31 December 2007.
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Business Banking Switzerland

Business unit reporting

As of or for the quarter ended % change from

CHF million, except where indicated 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Interest income 835 895 829 (7) 1

Non-interest income 434 459 451 (5) (4)

Income 1,269 1,354 1,280 (6) (1)

Credit loss (expense) / recovery (1) (14) 21 (93)

Total operating income 1,268 1,340 1,301 (5) (3)

Cash components 625 593 637 5 (2)

Share-based components 1 9 17 15 (47) (40)

Total personnel expenses 634 610 652 4 (3)

General and administrative expenses 259 283 264 (8) (2)

Services (to) / from other business units (180) (176) (160) (2) (13)

Depreciation of property and equipment 15 21 13 (29) 15

Amortization of intangible assets 0 0 0

Total operating expenses 728 738 769 (1) (5)

Business unit performance before tax 540 602 532 (10) 2

Key performance indicators

Invested assets (CHF billion) 152 164 164 (7) (7)

Net new money (CHF billion) 2 (1.9) 0.2 2.7

Cost / income ratio (%) 3 57.4 54.5 60.1

Impaired lending portfolio as a % of total lending portfolio, gross 1.2 1.2 1.6

Attributed equity and risk-weighted assets

Average attributed equity (CHF billion) 4 4.1

Return on attributed equity (RoaE) (%) 5 52.7

BIS risk-weighted assets (CHF billion) 6 42.9 87.9 85.2

Return on BIS risk-weighted assets (%) 7 5.0 2.6 2.5

Goodwill and intangible assets (CHF billion) 8 0.0 0.0 0.0

Additional information

Client assets (CHF billion) 851 986 984 (14) (14)

Personnel (full-time equivalents) 15,911 15,932 15,753 0 1

1 Additionally includes social security contributions and expenses related to alternative investment awards.  2 Excludes interest and dividend income.  3 Operating expenses / income.  4 See page 65 
for further explanation.  5 Year-to-date business unit performance before tax (annualized as applicable) / attributed equity (year-to-date average).  6 BIS risk-weighted assets (RWA) are according to 
Basel II; for quarters prior to first quarter 2008, RWA are according to the Basel I framework.  7 Year-to-date business unit performance before tax (annualized as applicable) / BIS RWA (year-to-date 
average).  8 Quarters prior to first quarter 2008 represent goodwill and intangible assets in excess of 4% of BIS Tier 1 capital.
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Key performance indicators

Invested assets were CHF 152 billion on 31 March 2008, a 
decrease of CHF 12 billion from the previous quarter due to 
falling equity markets, a 12% decrease in the US dollar and 
a 5% fall in the euro against the Swiss franc and due to the 
decline in net new money.

In first quarter 2008, the outflow of net new money was 
CHF 1.9 billion, down from the fourth quarter 2007 inflow 
of CHF 0.2 billion. This reflects slower wealth creation in a 
tougher economic climate, as well as clients diversifying as-
sets away from UBS due to the effects of the credit market 
turbulence on the firm’s performance and reputation. The 
influence of these factors accelerated considerably towards 
the end of the quarter.

The cost / income ratio was 57.4% in first quarter 2008, 
up 2.9 percentage points from fourth quarter 2007. The 
change occurred as the slight decrease in expenses was more 
than offset by the reductions in income. 

The loan portfolio of Business Banking Switzerland was 
CHF 145.7 billion on 31 March 2008. The CHF 0.2 billion 
increase from the prior quarter-end was mainly due to high-
er demand from private mortgage clients.

The impaired loan ratio was 1.2% at the end of March 
2008, unchanged from the end of December 2007. The re-

covery portfolio was CHF 2.4 billion, down from CHF 2.5 
billion at the end of fourth quarter 2007. 

Risk-weighted assets declined by 51% to CHF 42.9 billion 
in first quarter 2008 from CHF 87.9 billion in fourth quarter 
2007, reflecting the different risk weighting between Basel I 
and Basel II.

Initiatives and achievements

Strong growth in the factoring business 
In Europe, “factoring” has traditionally been considered as a 
financial transaction involving the provision of loans secured 
by a client’s accounts receivable taking over debtor credit risk 
and managing the associated receivables. At the end of first 
quarter 2008, the loan portfolio of UBS’s factoring business 
exceeded CHF 340 million – this represents a growth of 
200% over the last two years. 

However, the growth experienced by Business Banking 
Switzerland has been generated by new products which, in 
contrast to traditional factoring products, offer to purchase 
receivables on a true sale basis or to solely finance accounts 
receivable and leave the management of the accounts re-
ceivable and credit insurance up to the client. The manage-
ment team expects this growth to gain momentum as these 
new products allow entry into new industries and signifi-
cantly increased deal sizes. 

Results

In first quarter 2008, Business Banking Switzerland reported 
a pre-tax profit of CHF 540 million, CHF 62 million or 10% 
lower than fourth quarter 2007. 

Operating income
Total operating income in first quarter 2008 was CHF 1,268 
million, down CHF 72 million from fourth quarter 2007. Net 
interest income provided the largest decline in first quarter 
income, dropping by CHF 60 million from fourth quarter 
2007 to CHF 835 million, due to lower income on equity  30
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attributed, reflecting the lower capital usage following the 
introduction of Basel II and the new equity attribution frame-
work (see page 65 of this report for details on the equity 
attribution framework). Additionally, UBS increased the cli-
ent interest rates for savings accounts, reducing margins as 
a result. Non-interest income decreased to CHF 434 million 
in first quarter 2008 from CHF 459 million the prior quarter, 
which included gains on equity participations. The credit loss 
expense was CHF 1 million, an improvement from an ex-
pense of CHF 14 million in fourth quarter 2007. 

Operating expenses
Total operating expenses were CHF 728 million in first quar-
ter 2008, down 1% from CHF 738 million a quarter earlier. 
Increases were seen in personnel expenses, which rose to 
CHF 634 million in first quarter 2008 from CHF 610 million 
in fourth quarter 2007. The rise was due to higher perfor-
mance-related accruals in first quarter 2008 and due to the 
fixing of year-end bonuses in fourth quarter 2007. Contrib-
uting to the decline in operating expenses were general and 
administrative expenses, which decreased by CHF 24 million 
in first quarter to CHF 259 million, due to lower expenses for 
IT outsourcing, travel and entertainment and lower profes-
sional fees. Net charges to other business units were CHF 

180 million, up CHF 4 million from fourth quarter 2007. De-
preciation in first quarter 2008 was CHF 15 million, down 
CHF 6 million from a quarter earlier due to lower IT write-
downs. 

Personnel

The number of personnel in Business Banking Switzerland 
was 15,911 on 31 March 2008, down 21 from 31 December 
2007, due to reductions in non-client facing units.
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Global Asset Management’s pre-tax profit was CHF 330 million in first quarter 2008, down 32% from  
CHF 485 million in fourth quarter 2007. This was mainly due to lower performance fees compared with the 
prior quarter, in combination with lower management fees across the business as a result of lower invested  
assets impacted predominantly by financial markets performance and the stronger Swiss franc. 

Global Asset Management

Business group reporting

As of or for the quarter ended % change from

CHF million, except where indicated 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Institutional fees 427 640 585 (33) (27)

Wholesale Intermediary fees 364 437 412 (17) (12)

Total operating income 791 1,077 997 (27) (21)

Cash components 290 334 364 (13) (20)

Share-based components 1 13 38 68 (66) (81)

Total personnel expenses 303 372 432 (19) (30)

General and administrative expenses 104 175 115 (41) (10)

Services (to) / from other business units 39 35 43 11 (9)

Depreciation of property and equipment 7 6 7 17 0

Amortization of intangible assets 8 4 5 100 60

Total operating expenses 461 592 602 (22) (23)

Business group performance before tax 330 485 395 (32) (16)

Key performance indicators

Cost / income ratio (%) 2 58.3 55.0 60.4

Institutional

Invested assets (CHF billion) 445 522 528 (15) (16)

of which: money market funds 40 32 23 25 74

Net new money (CHF billion) 3 (9.6) (15.3) 2.7

of which: money market funds 5.1 4.1 (3.9)

Gross margin on invested assets (bps) 4 35 47 45 (26) (22)

1 Additionally includes social security contributions and expenses related to alternative investment awards.  2 Operating expenses / income.  3 Excludes interest and dividend income.  4 Operating 
income (annualized as applicable) / average invested assets.
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Key performance indicators

The cost / income ratio was 58.3% in first quarter 2008, an 
increase of 3.3 percentage points compared with 55.0% in 
fourth quarter 2007. The increase mainly results from lower 
first quarter performance and management fees, partly off-
set by lower costs.

Business group reporting (continued)

As of or for the quarter ended % change from

CHF million, except where indicated 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Wholesale Intermediary

Invested assets (CHF billion) 320 369 355 (13) (10)

of which: money market funds 73 70 58 4 26

Net new money (CHF billion) 1 (6.9) (0.9) 2.6

of which: money market funds 9.9 5.9 (1.9)

Gross margin on invested assets (bps) 2 42 47 47 (11) (11)

Attributed equity and risk-weighted assets

Average attributed equity (CHF billion) 3 3.0

Return on attributed equity (RoaE) (%) 4 44.0

BIS risk-weighted assets (CHF billion) 5 6.5 3.8 2.8

Return on BIS risk-weighted assets (%) 6 20.3 49.5 57.5

Goodwill and intangible assets (CHF billion) 7 2.4 2.1 1.7

Additional information

Invested assets (CHF billion) 765 891 883 (14) (13)

Net new money (CHF billion) 1 (16.5) (16.2) 5.3

Personnel (full-time equivalents) 3,901 3,625 3,511 8 11

1 Excludes interest and dividend income.  2 Operating income (annualized as applicable) / average invested assets.  3 See page 65 for further explanation.  4 Year-to-date business group performance 
before tax (annualized as applicable) / attributed equity (year-to-date average).  5 BIS risk-weighted assets (RWA) are according to Basel II; for quarters prior to first quarter 2008, RWA are according to 
the Basel I framework.  6 Year-to-date business group performance before tax (annualized as applicable) / BIS RWA (year-to-date average).  7 Quarters prior to first quarter 2008 represent goodwill 
and intangible assets in excess of 4% of BIS Tier 1 capital.

Institutional

At CHF 445 billion on 31 March 2008, institutional invested 
assets were CHF 77 billion lower than at the prior quarter-
end. This decline was mainly due to the 12% fall in the US 
dollar and the British pound against the Swiss franc (the ma-
jority of institutional invested assets are denominated in 
these two currencies). Lower equity markets and, to a lesser 
extent, net new money outflows, also contributed to the de-
cline in invested assets. The inclusion of the Caisse Centrale 
de Réescompte acquisition in France, which was completed 
in first quarter 2008, partly offset the decrease. 
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Wholesale intermediary

Invested assets were CHF 320 billion on 31 March 2008, 
down CHF 49 billion from the prior quarter-end. The decline 
was mainly due to the 12% fall in the US dollar and 5% de-
crease of the euro against the Swiss franc (the majority of 
wholesale intermediary assets are denominated in these two 
currencies). Lower equity markets and, to a lesser extent, net 
new money outflows, also contributed. The decrease was 
partly offset by the inclusion of the Caisse Centrale de Rée-
scompte acquisition in France, which was completed in first 
quarter 2008.

The outflow of net new money increased in first quarter 
2008 to CHF 6.9 billion from an outflow of CHF 0.9 billion 
the prior quarter. Excluding money market flows, the first 
quarter outflow of net new money was CHF 16.8 billion, 
compared with outflows of CHF 6.8 billion in fourth quarter 
2007. Continued strong inflows into money market funds 
and various fixed income and equity strategies were more 
than offset by outflows from other fixed income, multi-asset 
and equities funds.

The outflow of net new money in first quarter 2008 was 
CHF 9.6 billion, compared with a CHF 15.3 billion outflow in 
fourth quarter 2007. Excluding money market flows, the 
outflow of net new money was CHF 14.7 billion in first quar-
ter 2008, compared with an outflow of CHF 19.4 billion the 
prior quarter. Continued strong inflows into money market 
funds, some equities (growth, passive) and fixed income 
strategies, as well as inflows into real estate and infrastruc-
ture, were more than offset by outflows from some parts of 
the core / value equity strategies, some multi-asset mandates, 
fixed income and alternative and quantitative investments.

The gross margin was 35 basis points in first quarter 
2008, a decrease of 12 basis points from the prior quarter, 
reflecting lower performance fees in alternative and quanti-
tative investments and the Brazilian asset management busi-
ness. 
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The gross margin was 42 basis points in first quarter 2008, 
a decrease of five basis points from the prior quarter. This 
result reflects the first quarter inflows into lower margin asset 
classes (such as money market) and lower performance fees 
in equities and the Brazilian asset management business. 

Initiatives and achievements

Infrastructure 
Global Asset Management established its infrastructure busi-
ness, Infrastructure Asset Management (IAM), in 2006. As 
governments around the world increasingly look towards se-
curing private sector participation, opportunities are open-
ing up to invest alongside major contractors and operators in 
world-class projects, which provide attractive risk-adjusted 
returns. IAM’s objective is to capture these opportunities and 
the flagship private placement International Infrastructure 
Fund had, by its second closing in February 2008, raised a 
total of USD 720 million and is on track to meet its target by 
fund close date.

Further expanding its infrastructure offering, Global Asset 
Management announced in February 2008 a joint venture 
with the Abu Dhabi Investment Company (ADIC), a leading 
financial services firm in the Middle East, to develop, promote 
and manage infrastructure investment funds focused on the 
Middle East and North Africa. The venture’s first private place-
ment is targeting USD 500 million of investment and will fo-
cus on making equity and quasi-equity investments in projects 
related to utilities, transport, social and energy infrastructure. 

UBS estimates that the Middle East and North Africa re-
gion will witness up to USD 500 billion of investment over 
the next ten years across key infrastructure sectors and, in 
particular, the transport and utilities sectors. 

Active quantitative equities
Diversification and expansion of its equities business is an on-
going strategy of Global Asset Management. In March 2008, 
UBS announced that it had hired a head for the new active 
quantitative equities group within its structured equities team.

Investment capabilities and performance 

In recent quarterly reports, Global Asset Management has 
outlined the poor investment performance in some capabili-
ties, notably parts of core / value equities and fixed income. 
The business group has taken various steps to address this 
through realigning its equities business and has made a num-
ber of changes to its senior management, focused on recruit-
ing high-performing candidates for its equities and fixed in-
come businesses, and added new capabilities. 

In the investment management industry there are normally 
time lags between making structural and personnel changes 
and the consequent impact on performance and then on in-
vestment flows. Global Asset Management again saw this ef-
fect on net new money in first quarter 2008. This is attribut-
able to both its recent investment performance and the 
generally unsettled investment environment. However, as also 
mentioned in previous quarters, the business group has re-
duced its dependency on any one investment capability or 
market. The relative contribution to profit of equities, fixed 
income and global investment solutions is now about half, 
with other capabilities and services including alternative and 
quantitative investments and global real estate representing 
the remainder. Nevertheless, Global Asset Management ex-
pects the current unsettled market environment and the time 
lag effects typical to the industry to continue to impact its 
business in the near term. It has therefore undertaken an ex-
tensive expenditure review, the effects of which are already 
seen in the lower operating expenses of first quarter.

Overall, first quarter 2008 was a challenging period for 
financial markets as broad indices declined for a second con-
secutive quarter due to continued investor concerns over the 
deterioration of the US housing market and a weakening US 
economy.

The main investment strategies of Global Asset Manage-
ment returned mixed results in first quarter 2008. Positive 
results were generated by some core / value equity strategies 
(including Global Equity and most growth equity capabili-
ties), the single manager hedge funds and some direct real 
estate capabilities. However, performance was weaker in 
other core / value equity, fixed income, balanced, real estate 
securities and funds of hedge funds strategies.

While several core / value equity strategies struggled in 
first quarter 2008, a notable exception was the actively man-
aged Global Equity composite, which outperformed its 
benchmark for the quarter but remains below its benchmark 
for most long-term periods. While first quarter results re-
ceived modest rewards from stock selection in technology, 
industrials and banks, these were partially offset by its un-
derweight to the strongly performing materials sector and 
the overweight in lagging telecoms. Regional equity strategy 
performance varied over first quarter 2008: Europe and 
Asia / Emerging Markets strategies were weak, while the US 
was slightly down.
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During the quarter, many of the growth equity strategies 
performed well. In particular, US Large Cap Select Growth, 
US Small Cap Growth and Global (ex-US). Each of these 
strategies outperformed its benchmark by over 200 basis 
points. These strategies benefited broadly from strong stock 
selection, particularly in the energy sector. Global (ex-US) All 
Cap Growth also benefited from overweights to materials 
and industrials. US Mid Cap Growth and Emerging Markets 
Growth each trailed their benchmark, in part due to poor 
stock selection in financials and materials.

The flagship fixed income strategies performed poorly in 
first quarter 2008, as bond markets continued to be affected 
by the key themes that dominated the final quarter of 2007, 
in particular the repercussions of the US sub-prime mortgage 
market crisis and its consequent disruption of banking activity. 
Deteriorating prospects for US economic growth led to wide-
spread concerns of potential spillover effects into the global 
economy and wider credit markets. While measures taken by 
the US Federal Reserve System seemed to ease financial mar-
ket stress in the final days of the quarter, further severe price 
declines in residential mortgage-backed securities and collat-
eralized debt obligations were exacerbated by illiquid trading 
conditions. This significantly impaired Global Asset Manage-
ment’s fixed income strategies – notably Absolute Return 
Bond, Global Aggregate, US Core and US Core Plus.

Within global investment solutions, balanced fund per-
formance was mixed in first quarter 2008, with positive 
overall returns for Dynamic Alpha Strategies (DAS) and sig-
nificant declines in most equity markets and other asset 
classes. Market and currency allocation decisions resulted in 
strong positive contributions, while the short positions in Eu-
ropean, Asian and Emerging Market equities were the main 
drivers of added value from a market allocation standpoint. 
These positive factors were counteracted to some degree by 
negative contributions from stock selection. Over longer pe-
riods, both equity and fixed income stock selection remained 

positive across most balanced funds. Currency portfolios 
gained value in first quarter 2008, following a rise in risk 
aversion which benefited the active overweight and long po-
sitions in the Japanese yen, Swiss franc and Swedish krona. 
The gain in value resulted from Global Asset Management’s 
“anti-carry” trade bias in its currency market portfolio, which 
has been in place for the past 18 months as a response to 
the recent domination of currency markets by carry-trades, 
whereby investors / traders have borrowed in lower yielding 
currencies and invested in higher yielding currencies. 

The broad hedge funds industry experienced historically 
negative performance in first quarter 2008, averaging ap-
proximately a drop in value of -3 to -5%. Against this indus-
try backdrop, the performance of alternative and quantita
tive investments’ strategies was mixed in first quarter 2008. 
Fund of funds generally performed negatively, as difficult 
market conditions impacted several hedge fund strategies, 
including credit, quantitative and merger and acquisition 
trading. Positive returns were posted by several of the largest 
O’Connor single manager hedge funds, including the flag-
ship multi-strategy, fundamental market neutral and curr-
ency and rates strategies.

Despite a challenging environment, performance of the 
German-based direct real estate funds remained positive in 
first quarter 2008. Swiss-based listed funds performed 
broadly flat relative to benchmark with the exception of the 
flagship residential fund, which outperformed its index  
owing to strong investor demand. US capabilities continued 
to perform positively, whilst UK-based flagship funds suf-
fered on the back of declining property values in specific 
sectors. Japanese real estate investment trusts (“J-REITS”), 
managed in collaboration with the joint venture partner  
Mitsubishi Corporation, performed positively against bench-
mark. The performance of global real estate securities strate-
gies against benchmarks was mixed as markets remained 
volatile and sensitive to negative news flow.

Composite 1 year 3 years 5 years 10 years

Global Equity Composite vs. MSCI World Equity (Free) Index – – – +

Global Bond Composite vs. Citigroup World Government Bond Index – – – –

Global Securities Composite vs. Global Securities Markets Index – – – +

US Large Cap Select Growth Equity Composite vs. Russell 1000 Growth Index + + + 1 N/A

US Large Cap Equity Composite vs. Russell 1000 Index – – + +

Global Real Estate Securities composite (hedged in CHF) 2  

vs. FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Global Real Estate Index (hedged in CHF) / reference index 3 – – – 3 + 2,3

(+) above benchmark; (–) under benchmark; (=) equal to benchmark. All are after fees. A composite is an aggregation of one or more portfolios in a single group that is representative of a particular 
strategy, style, or objective. The composite is the asset-weighted average of the performance results of all the portfolios it holds.

1 Performance data for five years is for UBS AG, NY Branch Large Cap Select Growth Composite, which is managed in a substantially similar manner to the US Large Cap Select Growth Equity Composite.    
2 Composite figures since 31 December 1999. For 10-year annualized returns UBS Investment Foundation – AST Immobilien Ausland is used as the performance reference (inception: 9 May 1990).     
3 Prior to 2004, the reference index is the GPR General Index Europe (total return in CHF, unhedged) and thereafter it is linked to the benchmark FTSE EPRA / NAREIT Global Real Estate Index (total return, 
hedged into CHF) to calculate 5- and 10-year returns. Reference index returns are provided for reference purposes only. From 31 March 2004 to 30 September 2005 returns for the FTSE EPRA / NAREIT 
Global Real Estate Index hedged into Swiss francs are based on published data. Currency translation and hedging into Swiss francs are calculated internally. Thereafter, UBS contracted with FTSE, the 
index provider, to provide, on a customized request basis, Swiss franc hedged returns for the FTSE EPRA / NAREIT Global Real Estate Index.
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Results

Pre-tax profit in first quarter 2008 was CHF 330 million, 
down CHF 155 million from CHF 485 million in fourth quar-
ter 2007. This decline mainly reflects a decrease in perfor-
mance fees following the very strong levels seen in the prior 
quarter, particularly in alternative and quantitative invest-
ments and in the Brazilian asset management business, com-
bined with a decrease in management fees across almost all 
businesses from lower invested assets. Lower operating in-
come was partly offset by a strong decline in expenses, driv-
en by a decrease in both personnel and general and admin-
istrative expenses. There was no material impact on net 
profit before tax from the inclusion of the Caisse Centrale de 
Réescompte acquisition in France, which was completed in 
first quarter 2008.

Operating income
Total operating income in first quarter 2008 was CHF 791 
million, down 27% from CHF 1,077 million in fourth quarter 
2007. Institutional revenues declined to CHF 427 million in 
first quarter 2008, from CHF 640 million the prior quarter – a 
result of lower performance fees after the very strong levels 
seen in the prior quarter (from alternative and quantitative 
investments and the Brazilian asset management business) 
and the lower management fees which occurred across al-
most all businesses as a result of lower invested assets. In-
vested assets were impacted by the stronger Swiss franc, 
lower financial market valuations and, to a lesser extent, net 

new money outflows. This was partly offset by the inclusion 
of Caisse Centrale de Réescompte and lower operational 
loss provisions. Wholesale intermediary revenues were CHF 
364 million in first quarter 2008, down from CHF 437 million 
a quarter earlier, primarily due to lower management fees 
resulting from lower invested assets. 

Operating expenses 
Total operating expenses were CHF 461 million in first quar-
ter 2008, down from CHF 592 million in fourth quarter. Per-
sonnel expenses were CHF 303 million in first quarter 2008, 
down from CHF 372 million in the prior quarter mainly due 
to lower incentive-based compensation – a result of lower 
revenues. General and administrative expenses were CHF 
104 million in first quarter 2008, down 41% from CHF 175 
million a quarter earlier, primarily due to lower litigation ex-
penses, lower professional fees and travel and entertainment 
expenses. Depreciation of property and equipment was CHF 
7 million, slightly above the prior quarter’s results. Net charg-
es-in from other business groups were CHF 39 million in first 
quarter 2008, up CHF 4 million from the prior quarter.

Personnel

The number of employees was 3,901 on 31 March 2008, up 
8% from 3,625 on 31 December 2007 mainly due to the 
acquisition of Caisse Centrale de Réescompte in France 
which added 165 employees. Other increases were seen in 
growth areas such as fund services, real estate and the Bra-
zilian asset management business.
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In first quarter 2008, the Investment Bank recorded a loss of CHF 18,228 million, compared with a pre-tax profit 
of CHF 1,539 million in first quarter 2007. This decline was due to net revenues of negative CHF 19,113 million 
in the fixed income, currencies and commodities area, mainly related to the inventory of securities linked to 
the US real estate market. 

Investment Bank

Business group reporting

Quarter ended % change from

CHF million 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Investment banking 557 1,677 1,335 (67) (58)

Advisory 376 742 438 (49) (14)

Capital market revenues 279 1,016 980 (73) (72)

Equities 108 817 546 (87) (80)

Fixed income, currencies and commodities 171 199 434 (14) (61)

Other fee income and risk management (98) (81) (83) (21) (18)

Sales and trading (17,165) (13,939) 4,923 (23)

Equities 1,948 2,015 2,868 (3) (32)

Fixed income, currencies and commodities (19,113) (15,954) 2,055 (20)

Total Investment Bank income (16,608) (12,262) 6,258 (35)

Credit loss (expense) / recovery (308) (223) (20) 38

Total Investment Bank operating income core business (16,916) (12,485) 6,238 (35)

Own credit 2,103 659 0 219

Total Investment Bank operating income as reported (14,813) (11,826) 6,238 (25)

Cash components 2,075 2,226 3,033 (7) (32)

Share-based components 1 (34) 741 596

Total personnel expenses 2,041 2,967 3,629 (31) (44)

General and administrative expenses 1,121 902 769 24 46

Services (to) / from other business units 180 247 193 (27) (7)

Depreciation of property and equipment 51 51 54 0 (6)

Amortization of intangible assets 22 41 54 (46) (59)

Total operating expenses 3,415 4,208 4,699 (19) (27)

Business group performance before tax (18,228) (16,034) 1,539 (14)

Key performance indicators

Compensation ratio (%) 2 N/A 3 N/A 3 58.0

Cost / income ratio (%) 4 N/A 3 N/A 3 75.1

Impaired lending portfolio as a % of total lending portfolio, gross 0.3 0.4 0.1

Average VaR (10-day, 99% confidence, 5 years of historical data) 306 665 517 (54) (41)

Attributed equity and risk-weighted assets

Average attributed equity (CHF billion) 5 28.0

Return on attributed equity (RoaE) (%) 6 (260.4)

BIS risk-weighted assets (CHF billion) 7 225.2 190.7 182.2

Return on BIS risk-weighted assets (%) 8 (32.4) (8.7) 3.5

Goodwill and intangible assets (CHF billion) 9 4.9 5.3 5.5

Additional information

Personnel (full-time equivalents) 21,320 21,932 22,179 (3) (4)

1 Additionally includes social security contributions and expenses related to alternative investment awards.  2 Personnel expenses / income.  3 Both the cost / income and the compensation ratios are 
not meaningful due to losses recorded in the Investment Bank.  4 Operating expenses / income.  5 See page 65 for further explanation.  6 Year-to-date business group performance before tax (an-
nualized as applicable) / attributed equity (year-to-date average).  7 BIS risk-weighted assets (RWA) are according to Basel II; for quarters prior to first quarter 2008, RWA are according to the Basel I  
framework.  8 Year-to-date business group performance before tax (annualized as applicable) / BIS RWA (year-to-date average).  9 Quarters prior to first quarter 2008 represent goodwill and intangible 
assets in excess of 4% of BIS Tier 1 capital.
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Key performance indicators

Neither the cost / income ratio nor the compensation ratio 
was meaningful in first quarter 2008 due to negative total 
operating income.

For information on the Investment Bank’s development of 
its market risk during first quarter 2008, please refer to pag-
es 26–29 in the “Market risk” section of this report.

The gross lending portfolio in the Investment Bank was 
CHF 142 billion in first quarter 2008, down from CHF 148 
billion on 31 December 2007. This reduction was mainly due 
to lower volumes in the secured client financing businesses. 

From first quarter 2008 onwards, Investment Bank revenues are shown in a way that better reflects the performance of the investment banking 
department and makes Investment Bank results more comparable with those of its peers. Revenue streams are split into two main components 
– investment banking revenues and sales and trading revenues – in addition to own credit, which is reported separately.

Firstly, investment banking revenues include all corporate finance and merger and acquisition fees, as well as capital market revenues that are 
generated in the Investment Bank. 

Secondly, sales and trading revenues from the equities and the fixed income, currencies and commodities business are shown separately. 

In addition, gains in net trading income attributable to the observable impact on the market’s widening of UBS’s own credit spread on 
structured financial liabilities for which the fair value option was elected are shown separately. 

40

50

60

70

80

50

60

70

80

90

N/A1 N/A1N/A1

1 The cost/ income ratio is not meaningful due to losses reported in the Investment Bank.

Cost / income ratio  

in %

 1Q06 2Q06 3Q06 4Q06 1Q07 2Q07 3Q07 4Q07 1Q08

80

70

60

50

40
As reported  Adjusted for goodwill

0

200

400

600

800

Average VaR (10-day, 99% confidence, 5 years of
historical data)  

CHF million

 1Q06 2Q06 3Q06 4Q06 1Q07 2Q07 3Q07 4Q07 1Q08

800

600

400

200

    0

306

0.000

0.125

0.250

0.375

0.500

0.3

Impaired lending portfolio, gross/
total lending portfolio, gross  

in %

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.0

31.3.06 30.6.06 30.9.06 31.12.06 31.3.07 30.6.07 30.9.07 31.12.07 31.3.08

20

30

40

50

60

50

60

70

80

90

N/A1 N/A1N/A1

1 The compensation ratio is not meaningful due to losses reported in the Investment Bank.

Compensation ratio  

in %

 1Q06 2Q06 3Q06 4Q06 1Q07 2Q07 3Q07 4Q07 1Q08

60

   

50

40

   

30

20
As reported  Adjusted for goodwill



53

Results

In first quarter 2008, the Investment Bank recorded a loss of 
CHF 18,228 million. In contrast, the Investment Bank record-
ed a pre-tax profit of positive CHF 1,539 million in first quar-
ter 2007. 

Operating income
Total operating income in first quarter 2008 was negative 
CHF 14,813 million, compared with total operating income 
of positive CHF 6,238 million in first quarter 2007. 

In the first three months of 2008, the Investment Bank 
recorded gains of CHF 2,103 million in net trading income 
attributable to the observable impact on the market’s widen-
ing of UBS’s own credit spread.

Credit loss expense for first quarter 2008 was CHF 308 
million, of which CHF 306 million was in respect of securities 
financing positions that have either been liquidated or are in 
the process of being liquidated. 

Investment banking revenues, at CHF 557 million in first 
quarter 2008, fell 58% from first quarter 2007 related to a 
contraction in global fee volume. Advisory revenues de-
creased by 14% to CHF 376 million in line with the industry 
trend of a decline in mandated deals. Capital markets rev-
enues were impacted by reduced market volumes in all  
regions, falling 72%. Equity capital markets revenues de-
creased 80% and capital market revenues from fixed in-
come, currencies and commodities (FICC) decreased 61%. 
Other fee income and risk management were negative CHF 
98 million, compared with a negative CHF 83 million a year 
earlier. Compared with fourth quarter 2007, investment 
banking revenues in first quarter 2008 were down 67% with 
decreases in all products.  

Sales and trading revenue in first quarter 2008 was nega-
tive CHF 17,165 million, driven by a negative revenue of CHF 
19,113 million in FICC, which was partly offset by a positive 
revenue contribution of CHF 1,948 million from equities. 

The equities business posted revenues of CHF 1,948 mil-
lion in first quarter 2008, down 32% from the record result 
achieved in the buoyant conditions of first quarter 2007. 
First quarter 2008 was dominated by difficult trading con- 

d itions, with continued market volatility and limited market  
liquidity. Despite this, cash equities posted increased reve-
nues with record commissions, partially offset by greater cli-
ent facilitation costs. Prime brokerage revenues grew strong-
ly during the quarter, driven primarily by client financing 
revenues from growth in average client balances and an in-
crease in securities lending. Exchange-traded derivatives rev-
enues were at a record level, through increased volumes and 
revenues from new clients who were acquired in 2007. De-
rivatives revenues fell as lower European revenues were only 
partially offset by increases in the Americas and Asia Pacific. 
Proprietary trading revenues declined considerably across all 
regions. Equity-linked revenues continued to suffer from re-
duced liquidity levels. 

Compared with fourth quarter 2007, equities revenues 
were down 3% as higher cash, derivatives and prime ser-
vices revenues were more than offset by lower equity-linked 
and proprietary revenues. 

Fixed income, currencies and commodities (FICC) revenues 
were negative CHF 19,113 million in first quarter 2008, down 
from positive CHF 2,055 million in first quarter 2007. Income 
in first quarter 2008 was impacted by losses on exposures to 
the US residential mortgage market (for details, please refer 
to Note 3). In addition to securities related to sub-prime and 
Alt-A mortgages, losses were also recorded on positions re-
lated to prime mortgages where, on 31 March 2008, UBS had 
an exposure of USD 0.6 billion in super senior CDOs and of 
USD 8.8 billion in RMBS. Total prime exposure was down by 
approximately 30% from year-end 2007. Losses were also re-
corded on US commercial mortgages and the US reference-
linked note program. UBS marked down its holdings in US 
student loan asset-backed securities and certain leveraged fi-
nance commitments. Further credit valuation adjustments 
were made on protection bought from monoline insurers. 
During the quarter, UBS accelerated the reduction of Europe-
an asset-backed positions and, as a result, experienced losses 
from disposals and the negotiated termination of deals. 

Overall, the market environment in first quarter 2008 re-
mained very difficult. Credit recorded losses in proprietary 
strategies and saw a decline in credit trading, driven by high 
market volatility, lack of liquidity and deleveraging. Addition-
ally, losses were recorded on credit proprietary positions 
which suffered from a lack of liquidity in the overall bond 
and loan market. Credit default swaps hedging loan expo-
sures recorded gains of CHF 261 million in first quarter 2008, 
compared with CHF 41 million in first quarter 2007. Reve-
nues in structured products fell due to lower customer de-
mand and mark-to-market losses, net of hedging.

These negative effects could only be partially offset by 
strong results posted by the foreign exchange, rates and 
commodities businesses. These core client franchises saw  
increased volumes and good client flows on the back of  
increased market volatility. Foreign exchange and money 

-20000

-12500

-5000

2500

10000

(18,228)

Performance before tax  

CHF million

 1Q06 2Q06 3Q06 4Q06 1Q07 2Q07 3Q07 4Q07 1Q08

As reported 6 Before goodwill and adjusted for significant financial events 7

  10,000

            0

–10,000

–20,000



54

Business groups and Corporate Center results 
6 May 2008

markets had a record quarter. The rates business also had  
a strong start to the year, driven by the European swaps and 
options business as well as record revenues from trading 
government bonds. The commodities business performed 
well and was flat against a very strong first quarter 2007, 
driven by a good result, especially in metals, partially offset 
by lower revenues in energy. 

Compared with negative revenues of CHF 15,954 million 
in fourth quarter 2007, FICC results in first quarter 2008 
were lower due to further writedowns in US real estate- 
related portfolios. 

Operating expenses
Total operating expenses in first quarter 2008 were CHF 
3,415 million, down 27% from the same period in 2007.

Personnel expenses decreased 44% from first quarter 
2007 to CHF 2,041 million in first quarter 2008, reflecting 
lower accruals of performance-related compensation. Salary 
costs also fell in first quarter 2008 compared with first quar-
ter 2007, reflecting the reduced level of staff (down by 859 
full-time equivalents). Severance costs increased as a result 
of restructuring measures. Share-based compensation was a 
credit in first quarter 2008. This occurred because of a de-
cline in currencies (particularly the US dollar and the British 
pound) against the Swiss franc and a decline of the UBS 
share price, which resulted in a credit for performance pay-
ments from fourth quarter 2007 following the restatement 
made in relation to the amended International Financial Re-
porting Standard 2 (IFRS 2). This more than offset first quar-
ter accruals for performance year 2008.

General and administrative expenses increased by 46% 
from first quarter 2007 to CHF 1,121 million, mainly related 
to increases in legal provisions. Professional fees also in-
creased due to higher legal-related expenditures. These costs 
could only be partially offset by reduced expenditures across 
other cost lines, mainly travel and entertainment and IT and 
other outsourcing.

Charges from other businesses declined by 7% from first 
quarter 2007 to CHF 180 million in first quarter 2008, main-
ly due to a credit that Industrial Holdings made to compen-
sate the Investment Bank for its help in disposing of private 
equity investments.

Depreciation expense in first quarter 2008 was CHF 51 
million, down 6% from first quarter 2007.

Amortization of intangible assets decreased by 59% to CHF 
22 million in first quarter 2008 as a number of assets relating 
to Banco Pactual were fully depreciated during 2007. 

Personnel

On 31 March 2008, the number of employees was 21,320. 
This is a decrease of 612, or 3%, from the end of fourth 
quarter 2007 and a decrease of 859 from first quarter 2007. 
As announced on 1 October 2007, the level of staff in the 
Investment Bank was reduced across all businesses due to 
weak performance and the corresponding restructuring of 
the business. The number of employees in the Investment 
Bank has been reduced by a total of 1,513 people since the 
end of third quarter 2007.

Initiatives and achievements

Market share
According to data from Dealogic, UBS ranked fifth in terms 
of its share of the global fee pool at the end of first quarter 
2008 with a market share of 5.2%. At the end of 2007, UBS 
ranked fifth with a market share of 5.9%. 

UBS maintained its rank of first place in the global rank-
ing for secondary equity cash commissions for the nine-
teenth consecutive quarter, according to data from a leading 
industry survey.
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Awards
UBS businesses received a number of prestigious awards in 
first quarter 2008, including being named leading Euro-
pean equity research firm in Institutional Investor’s All- 
Europe survey for the seventh year running. The survey 
also placed UBS third in European emerging markets. Euro
Hedge named UBS the “Leading Prime Broker in Europe”, 
with UBS capturing the largest market share of the 20 big-
gest hedge fund launches, as measured by their assets un-
der management.

The UBS metals team placed first in Risk magazine’s an-
nual survey of market participants for the second year run-
ning. Euromoney awarded UBS the title of “Best Investment 
Grade Debt House”, while EuroWeek named the firm “Best 
Bank in Understanding Borrower Needs”.

Acquisitions Monthly named UBS “M&A Bank of the 
Year” and “Asia-Pacific M&A Advisor of the Year”. Asia
Money also named UBS “Best Investment Bank”.

Significant deals

Merger and acquisitions
Merger and acquisition activity was depressed in first quarter 
2008 by the deteriorating credit environment and volatile 
debt and equity markets. In first quarter 2008, UBS advised 
globally on 78 transactions with a deal volume of USD 85.6 
billion. Key deals in the quarter included:
– joint financial advisor to International Paper on its USD 

6.0 billion purchase of Weyerhaeuser’s packaging busi-
ness; 

– joint financial advisor to Zinifex on its AUD 12.0 billion 
merger with Oxiana, creating Australia’s third largest di-
versified mining company; and 

– sole financial advisor to Anglo American on the proposed 
USD 5.5 billion acquisition of a 51% interest in the MMX 
Minas-Rio and a 70% interest in the MMX Amapa Iron 
Ore Projects, from MMX Mineração e Metálicos.

Equity underwriting
Deal volumes of UBS’s global equity capital markets were 
USD 7.2 billion in first quarter 2008, down 47% compared 
with the same period a year earlier. During first quarter 2008, 
UBS had a 5.9% market share of global primary equity prod-
ucts compared with 7.4% in first quarter 2007. Key transac-
tions in first quarter included:
– advisor and joint bookrunner on the USD 19.7 billion ini-

tial public offering (IPO) for Visa, the largest IPO in US 
history; 

– sole global coordinator, joint bookrunner, joint lead man-
ager and joint sponsor of the USD 1.05 billion IPO for 
Want Want China, a leading snack-food manufacturer, 
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange; and 

– sole bookrunner, financial advisor and sponsor for the 
GBP 288 million rights issue for the Paragon Group, a UK 
specialist buy-to-let mortgage lender. 

Fixed income underwriting
Primary markets remained challenging with investors selectively 
participating in new issues, generally at spreads much wider 
than secondary levels. Traditional leveraged loan and high yield 
primary activity was light, with higher quality deals and favored 
sector deals representing the majority of calendar volume. 

UBS’s market share of primary investment grade bond is-
sues was 4.6%, up from 4.2% for full year 2007 despite 
underwriting 44% less volume in underwriting than in first 
quarter 2007, in line with the market. UBS lead managed 99 
deals during the quarter including:
–  joint bookrunner on Kraft Food’s EUR 2.8 billion multi-

tranche issue to finance the acquisition of Danone;
– joint bookrunner in the USD 4.4 billion financing for the 

demerger of Dr. Pepper Snapple Group from the global 
confectionery business of Cadbury Schweppes; and

–  lead manager on a RMB 6.5 billion multi-tranche issue for 
Shenzhen Development Bank, China’s second largest 
sub-debt deal.
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Business groups and Corporate Center results 
6 May 2008

With effect from first quarter 2007, Industrial Holdings is now reported in Corporate Center. The pre-tax gain 
for first quarter 2008 stood at CHF 3,947 million from continuing operations – primarily due to a one-time  
accounting gain of CHF 3,860 million related to the issue of mandatory convertible notes on 5 March 2008. 
Profit from discontinued operations was CHF 120 million, related to the sale of the last fully consolidated  
operating company in the private equity portfolio.

Corporate Center

Business group reporting

As of or for the quarter ended % change from

CHF million, except where indicated 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Income 4,221 301 269

Credit loss (expense) / recovery 0 0 0

Total operating income 4,221 301 269

Cash components 309 272 301 14 3

Share-based components 1 (6) 0 30

Total personnel expenses 303 272 331 11 (8)

General and administrative expenses 291 346 306 (16) (5)

Services (to) / from other business units (484) (538) (537) 10 10

Depreciation of property and equipment 164 184 187 (11) (12)

Amortization of intangible assets 0 0 0

Total operating expenses 2 274 264 287 4 (5)

Business group performance from continuing operations before tax 3,947 37 (18)

Business group performance from discontinued operations  
before tax 120 34 6 253

Business group performance before tax 4,067 71 (12)

Contribution from Private Equity / Industrial Holdings

Total operating income 31 3 139 933 (78)

Total operating expenses 55 10 9 450 511

Operating profit from continuing operations before tax (24) (7) 130 (243)

Profit from discontinued operations before tax 120 34 (2) 253

Additional information

BIS risk-weighted assets 3 12.1 8.1 9.1

Personnel (full-time equivalents) 4 7,179 6,913 6,016 4 19

Personnel excluding IT Infrastructure (ITI) (full-time equivalents) 4 2,889 2,570 1,921 12 50

Personnel for ITI  (full-time equivalents) 4,290 4,343 4,095 (1) 5

1 Additionally includes social security contributions and expenses related to alternative investment awards.  2 Includes expenses for the Chairman's Office (comprising the Company Secretary, Board of 
Directors and Group Internal Audit).  3 BIS risk-weighted assets (RWA) are according to Basel II; for quarters prior to 1Q08, RWA are according to the Basel I framework.  4 Personnel numbers exclude 
five full-time equivalents (FTEs), 3,843 FTEs and 3,891 FTEs from Industrial Holdings for first quarter 2008, fourth quarter 2007 and first quarter 2007, respectively.
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Results

Corporate Center, including Industrial Holdings with its pri-
vate equity portfolio, recorded a pre-tax gain from continu-
ing operations of CHF 3,947 million in first quarter 2008. 
The result is vastly higher than the CHF 37 million recorded 
in fourth quarter 2007 and primarily due to a one-time  
accounting gain of CHF 3,860 million related to the 5 March 
2008 mandatory convertible notes (MCN) issue (please see 
Note 12 of this report for further details). Pre-tax gain from 
discontinued operations was CHF 120 million in first quarter 
2008, compared with CHF 34 million the prior quarter, re-
lated to the sale of the last fully consolidated operating com-
pany in the private equity portfolio. 

Operating income
Total operating income in first quarter 2008 was CHF 4,221 
million, a huge increase from CHF 301 million the previous 
quarter. This increase was mainly driven by the accounting 
treatment of the MCN issued during the quarter. Further posi-
tive contributions came from higher foreign exchange gains, 
related to management of the currency risk at Group level, and 
to the mark-to-market gains on US dollar foreign exchange 
options. Increases were only partially offset by lower returns 
achieved on the lower equity base. Additionally, Corporate 
Center continues to transfer interest income earned from 
managing UBS’s consolidated capital back to the business 
groups. In first quarter 2008, the new equity attribution frame-
work led to an over-allocation of equity, resulting in a charge 
to Corporate Center exceeding the interest income earned 
(see page 65 of this report for details of the new equity attri-
bution framework). Operating income was also negatively im-
pacted by losses from certain interest rate swaps and cash flow 
hedges, compared with gains in fourth quarter 2007. 

Operating expenses
Total operating expenses increased by CHF 10 million in first 
quarter 2008, totaling CHF 274 million against the previous 
quarter’s CHF 264 million. Personnel costs increased compared 
with fourth quarter, as at year-end 2007 bonus accruals were 
significantly reduced. In first quarter 2008, a performance- 
related payment was also made to a third-party in relation to a 
successful sale in private equity. This was partially offset by 
lower general and administrative expenses which were down 
16% to CHF 291 million compared with fourth quarter 2007. 
Declines in advertising and sponsoring expenditures were only 
partially offset by advisory fees paid in relation with the MCNs. 
Other businesses were charged CHF 484 million for services 
provided by Corporate Center in first quarter 2008, compared 
with CHF 538 million in the previous quarter, mainly reflecting 
reduced costs in IT Infrastructure (ITI) related to efficiency mea-
sures implemented across UBS. Moreover, a performance- 
related credit was booked to the Investment Bank to compen-
sate it for efforts in helping to dispose of certain private equity 

investments. Depreciation decreased during the quarter due to 
lower costs related to corporate real estate and fewer pur-
chases of workstations and equipment in ITI. 

Personnel

The number of employees in Corporate Center on 31 March 
2008 was 7,179, an increase of 266, or 4%, from 31 De-
cember 2007. Increased staff levels in offshoring functions, 
particularly the service center in India, added 335 employees 
and were only partially offset by lower staff levels in ITI and 
operational Corporate Center, where the personnel level 
was reduced across all areas, except for Group Internal Audit 
which hired people.

Private equity

On 1 January 2008, UBS’s private equity portfolio was inte-
grated into Corporate Center. The strategy for the portfolio 
remains the same as it was prior to integration: to de- 
emphasize and reduce exposure to this asset class, while 
capitalizing on orderly exit opportunities as they arise.

In first quarter 2008, UBS completed the divestment of 
the last fully consolidated operating investment in the pri-
vate equity portfolio. This resulted in a realized gain, which 
is presented in discontinued operations. All relevant previous 
income statements have also been restated to reflect the di-
vestment.

Unconsolidated private equity investments, including those 
accounted for under the equity method, generated total di-
vestment gains of CHF 46 million in first quarter 2008, with 
writedowns of CHF 8 million. The level of financial invest-
ments available-for-sale fell to CHF 72 million on 31 March 
2008, from CHF 92 million on 31 December 2007, due to a 
number of exits. During first quarter 2008, the fair value of 
this part of the portfolio decreased by CHF 55 million to CHF 
113 million due to successful divestments and revaluations. 
Unfunded commitments on 31 March 2008 were CHF 61 mil-
lion, down from CHF 67 million on 31 December 2007.
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Capital management, balance sheet,  
 liquidity management and off-balance sheet 
6 May 2008

Capital ratios

On 31 March 2008, UBS’s BIS Tier 1 capital ratio stood at 
6.9% and its BIS total capital ratio was 10.7%, down from 
8.7% and 11.9% respectively on 31 December 2007. Dur-
ing this period, risk-weighted assets (RWA) decreased by 
CHF 39 billion, or 10.5%, driven equally by a reduction in 
exposures and lower risk weightings under the Basel II frame-
work. Furthermore, in comparison with fourth quarter 2007, 
the first quarter BIS total capital was down CHF 8.6 billion 
and the BIS Tier 1 capital was down CHF 9.5 billion, both 
heavily impacted by the quarterly losses recorded on posi-
tions related to the US residential mortgage market. These 
decreases were partially offset by the issuance of mandatory 
convertible notes (MCNs) of CHF 13 billion.

Including the rights issue of CHF 15 billion expected to 
take place by the end of second quarter 2008, and the issue 
of EUR 1 billion of perpetual preferred securities on 11 April 
2008, UBS’s eligible Tier 1 capital would have amounted to 
CHF 39.5 billion on 31 March 2008, resulting in a Tier 1 
capital ratio of 11.8% and a total capital ratio of 15.6%.

Capital requirements

Under the newly introduced Basel II framework, RWA were 
CHF 333.3 billion on 31 March 2008, compared with CHF 
372.3 billion on 31 December 2007 under Basel I. Figures by 
component are as follows: 
– RWA for credit risk declined significantly under Basel II, 

dropping to CHF 272 billion on 31 March 2008 from 
CHF 321 billion on 31 December 2007. This substantial 
 saving resulted from the more favorable treatment of Global 
Wealth Management & Business Banking mortgage, cus-
tomer loan and Lombard lending portfolios under Basel II. 
This favorable impact was partially offset by higher RWA for 
over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives and repo-style transac-
tions (i.e. repurchase / reverse repurchase and securities lend-
ing and borrowing transactions). In addition, certain portfo-
lios related to the US residential mortgage market were 
transferred from the trading book into the banking book for 
capital adequacy purposes, due to the continued illiquidity 
in the markets for these products. For further information, 
please refer to page 27 in the “Market risk” section of this 
report.

UBS implemented Basel II, the new international capital adequacy standard formulated by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, on  
1 January 2008. Therefore, the analysis in this section compares Basel II figures from 31 March 2008 with Basel I figures from previous periods. 
See the sidebar “Capital measurement under Basel II” on page 7 of this report for further details on UBS’s implementation of Basel II.

Capital management

Capital adequacy

Basel II Basel I

CHF million, except where indicated 31.3.08 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07

BIS Tier 1 capital 22,898 25,078 32,445 41,246

of which: hybrid Tier 1 capital 5,787 5,787 6,387 5,636

BIS total capital 35,536 36,252 44,141 51,757

BIS Tier 1 capital ratio (%) 6.9 7.1 8.7 11.6

BIS total capital ratio (%) 10.7 10.3 11.9 14.6

Total BIS risk-weighted assets 333,300 351,619 372,298 354,603
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– The decline in RWA for market risk, from CHF 42 billion 
on 31 December 2007 to CHF 17 billion on 31 March 
2008, was mainly due to the transfer of certain portfolios 
related to the US residential mortgage market from the 
trading book to the banking book. For further informa-
tion, please refer to page 27 in the “Market risk” section 
of this report.

– Basel II introduces a capital charge for operational risk and 
this added CHF 37 billion in RWA on 31 March 2008.

– RWA for noncounterparty related assets declined to 
CHF 7 billion at 31 March 2008 from CHF 9 billion at 
year-end 2007, mainly because intangible assets are no 
longer risk-weighted under Basel II, but are instead de-
ducted from capital. 

Segmentation of required capital

BIS risk-weighted assets 

Basel II Basel I

CHF million 31.3.08 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07

Credit risk 1 271,848 325,804 321,222 321,266

Non-counterparty related risk 7,433 8,334 8,966 8,944

Market risk 17,481 17,481 42,110 24,393

Operational risk 36,538 0 0 0

Total BIS risk weighted assets 333,300 351,619 372,298 354,603

1 Includes securitization exposures and equity exposures not part of the trading book and capital requirements for failed trades.

Pro-forma capital adequacy, including CHF 15 billion rights issue and 
EUR 1 billion perpetual preferred securities

Basel II

CHF million, except where indicated 31.3.08

BIS Tier 1 capital 39,466

BIS Tier 1 capital ratio (%) 11.8

BIS total capital ratio (%) 15.6

Capital improvement program

UBS decided to actively strengthen its 
capital position following further 
writedowns on positions related to 
the US mortgage market. These 
writedowns resulted in a significant 
negative impact on UBS’s capital 
ratios in first quarter 2008. In 
response to these events, an extraor-
dinary general meeting held on 27 
February 2008 approved the issue of 
CHF 13 billion of mandatory convert-
ible notes and the replacement of the 

cash dividend for 2007 with a stock 
dividend. On 11 April 2008, UBS 
issued EUR 1 billion of perpetual 
preferred securities that qualify as 
non-innovative Tier 1 capital. 
Furthermore, shareholders repre - 

s ented at the annual general meeting 
on 23 April 2008 approved a capital 
increase for a rights offering of CHF 
15 billion as proposed by the Board 
of Directors, which is expected to be 
completed in June 2008. 
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Eligible capital
In order to determine eligible Tier 1 and total capital, specific 
adjustments must be made to equity attributable to UBS 
shareholders as defined by the International Financial Re-
porting Standards (IFRS). The most notable adjustment is the 
deduction of goodwill and investments in unconsolidated 
entities engaged in banking and financial activities. There is 
no difference in eligible capital between the BIS guidelines 
and Swiss Federal Banking Commission (SFBC) regulations.

Tier 1 capital on 31 March 2008 was CHF 22.9 billion, 
down from CHF 32.4 billion on 31 December 2007. The de-
cline was mainly related to losses on positions related to the 
US residential mortgage market during first quarter 2008, 
only partially offset by the issuance of CHF 13 billion in MCNs 
on 5 March 2008. 

Lower Tier 2 capital consists of subordinated long-term 
debt issued in various currencies and with different maturi-
ties. Due to changes in foreign exchange rates, lower Tier 2 
capital was CHF 12.8 billion on 31 March 2008, a decrease 
from CHF 13.8 billion on 31 December 2007. Under Basel II, 
UBS can account for CHF 1.0 billion additional upper Tier 2 
capital from general provisions in excess of expected losses.  

IFRS equity to BIS Tier 1 capital reconciliation
The most important difference between IFRS equity and BIS 
Tier 1 capital relates to the MCNs. Under International Ac-
counting Standard (IAS) 32, the MCNs are considered as 

debt issued (CHF 14.6 billion) with a negative equity compo-
nent of CHF 1.6 billion recognized in share premium. In con-
trast, for regulatory purposes, the face amount of the CHF 
13 billion constitutes eligible Tier 1 capital. Furthermore, an 
accounting gain of CHF 3.9 billion related to the issue of the 
MCNs, recognized under IFRS against share premium, was 
reversed for capital adequacy purposes. 

Retained earnings were further reduced by the reversal of 
the gain on own credit for regulatory capital purposes. This 
was partially offset by adjustments for differences in the 
scope of consolidation. CHF 1.0 billion needed to be adjust-
ed downward in net income recognized directly in equity, 
net of tax for available-for-sale investments and cash flow 
hedges. Equity attributable to minority interests was adjust-
ed downward by CHF 0.5 billion for minority interests other 
than trust preferred securities.

IFRS requires a company that holds its own shares for trad-
ing and non-trading purposes to record them as treasury 
shares and deduct them from IFRS equity attributable to share-
holders. Under SFBC’s Basel I rules, in the past, treasury share 
positions held as a hedge against payment obligations from 
employee stock options were not deducted from eligible capi-
tal. With the implementation of Basel II, this concept was abol-
ished. According to an interim agreement with the SFBC, UBS 
is still allowed to net some treasury shares against obligations 
from employee stock options for a pre-set time period. For this 
reason, in first quarter 2008, treasury shares amounting to 
CHF 4.0 billion were not deducted from eligible capital.   

Capital components

Basel II Basel I

CHF million 31.3.08 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07

Core capital prior to deductions 39,301 39,301 49,781 58,581

of which: paid-in share capital 207 207 207 211

of which: share premium, retained earnings,  
currency translation differences and other elements 20,307 20,307 43,187 52,734

of which: mandatory convertible notes (MCNs) 13,000 13,000 0 0

of which: non-innovative capital instruments 298 298 340 365

of which: innovative capital instruments 5,489 5,489 6,047 5,271

Less: goodwill and intangible assets 1 (13,112) (12,104) (13,203) (13,843)

Less: other Tier 1 deductions 2 (2,119) 3 (2,119) 3 (4,133) (3,492)

Less: other Basel II deductions 4 (1,172)

Total eligible Tier 1 capital 22,898 25,078 32,445 41,246

Upper Tier 2 capital 1,044 38 301 518

Lower Tier 2 capital 12,766 12,766 13,770 13,165

Less: Basel I deductions 5 (1,630) (2,375) (3,172)

Less: Other Basel II deductions 4 (1,172)

Total eligible capital 35,536 36,252 44,141 51,757

1 Includes under Basel I only the intangible assets exceeding 4% of Tier 1 capital.  2 Consists of: i) net long position in own shares held for trading purposes; ii) own shares bought for cancellation (second 
trading line) or for upcoming share awards; iii) other treasury share positions net of delta-weighted obligations out of employee stock options granted prior to August 2006.  3 Netting of own shares with 
share-based payment obligations is subject to a grandfathering agreement with the Swiss Federal Banking Commission.  4 Positions to be deducted as 50% from Tier 1 and 50% from total capital 
mainly consist of: net long position of non-consolidated participations in the finance sector; expected loss less provisions (if positive, for IRB); expected Loss for equities (simple risk weight method); first 
loss positions from securitization exposures.  5 Consists of the net long position of non-consolidated participations in the finance sector and first loss positions from securitization exposures.

Capital management, balance sheet,  
 liquidity management and off-balance sheet 
6 May 2008
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Reconciliation of International Financial Reporting Standards equity to BIS Tier 1 capital

31.3.08

Basel II Basel I

CHF million IFRS view 1
Reconciliation  

items BIS view BIS view

Share capital 207 0 207 207

Share premium 3,327 4,986 8,313 8,313

Net income recognized directly in equity, net of tax (3,552) (1,048) (4,600) (4,600)

Revaluation reserve from step acquisitions, net of tax 38 0 38 38

Retained earnings 22,604 (6,048) 16,556 16,556

Equity classified as obligation to purchase own shares (94) 94 0 0

Treasury shares / deduction for own shares (6,144) 4,025 2 (2,119) (2,119)

Equity attributable to UBS shareholders / gross Tier 1 net of own shares 16,386 2,009 18,395 18,395

Mandatory convertible notes (MCNs) 0 13,000 13,000 13,000

Equity attributable to minority interests 6,310 (523) 5,787 5,787

Total equity / gross Tier 1 including MCNs and hybrid Tier 1 instruments 22,696 14,486 37,182 37,182

Less: goodwill, intangible assets and other Basel II deduction items (14,284) 3 (12,104) 4

Less: accrual for expected future dividend payments 0 0

Eligible Tier 1 capital 22,898 25,078
1 International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).    2 Generally, treasury shares are fully deducted from Equity under IFRS, whereas for capital adequacy purposes only the following positions in own 
shares are deducted:  i) net long position in own shares held for trading purposes;  ii) own shares bought for cancellation (second trading line) or for upcoming share awards; and iii) other treasury share 
positions net of delta-weighted obligations out of employee stock options granted prior to August 2006, subject to an interim agreement with the Swiss Federal Banking Commission.  3 Includes primar-
ily 50% of the deductions for net long position of non-consolidated participations in the finance sector, first loss positions from securitization exposures, failed trades, excess of expected losses above 
general provisions.  4 Equals to Goodwill and the Intangible assets exceeding 4% of Tier 1 capital.

Treasury shares

Total UBS shares issued on 31 March 2008 were 
2,073,567,252, of which UBS held 101,448,832 shares, 
down from 158,105,524 held at 31 December 2007. The 
shares held by UBS at year-end 2007 included 36,400,000 
shares originally purchased under the buy-back program 
2007 / 2010. The reduction in shares held by UBS since the 
end of 2007 mainly relates to employee share and option 
participation plans for which shares are used for delivery and 
hedging purposes. Furthermore, the Investment Bank holds 
shares and acts as a market maker in UBS shares and related 
derivatives. It issues derivatives to retail and institutional in-
vestors and may hold shares to hedge these products. 
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UBS shares and market capitalization

As of % change from

Number of shares, except where indicated 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 31.12.07 31.3.07

Total ordinary shares issued 2,073,567,252 2,073,547,344 2,106,123,317 0 (2)

Second trading line treasury shares

2006 program (33,020,000)

2007/2010 program (7,210,000)

Shares outstanding for market capitalization 2,073,567,252 2,073,547,344 2,065,893,317 0 0

Share price (CHF) 28.86 52.40 72.20 (45) (60)

Market capitalization (CHF million) 59,843 108,654 149,157 (45) (60)

Total treasury shares 101,448,832 158,105,524 165,758,986 (36) (39)

Capital management, balance sheet,  
 liquidity management and off-balance sheet 
6 May 2008
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Equity attribution framework

In first quarter 2008, UBS implement-
ed a new framework for attributing 
the equity capital to its businesses. 
This reflects UBS’s overarching 
objectives of maintaining a strong 
capital base and guiding businesses 
towards activities with the best 
balance between profit potential, risk 
and capital usage. In this framework, 
the Group Executive Board (GEB) 
attributes equity to the businesses 
after considering their risk exposure, 
asset size, goodwill and intangible 
assets.

The design of the equity attribution 
framework enables UBS to: 

 calculate and assess return on  –
attributed equity (RoaE) in each of 
its businesses. With effect from first 
quarter 2008, RoaE and return on 
BIS risk-weighted assets (RoRWA) 
are disclosed for all business groups 
and units and replace the previously 
disclosed “return on allocated 
regulatory capital” measure; 
integrate Group-wide capital  –
management activities with those 
at business group and business unit 
level; 
 measure performance in a consis- –
tent manner across business groups 
and business units; and 
 make better comparisons between  –
the Group’s businesses and those of 
competitors. 

The framework operates as follows. 
First, each business is attributed an 
amount of equity equal to the average 
book value of goodwill and intangible 
assets, as reported for that business 
group or unit according to the 
International Financial Reporting 
Standards. Next, the GEB considers a 

number of factors that drive required 
capital, including: 

 equity requirements based on  –
aggregated risk exposure, including 
the potential for losses exceeding 
UBS’s earnings capacity as defined 
by the firm’s “capital-at-risk” 
concept, which is described in UBS’s 
Annual Report 2007, in Risk, 
Treasury and Capital Management, 
pages 8–10;
 regulatory capital requirements  –
which are based on risk-weighted 
asset usage of the businesses and 
also take into account the different 
market standards for Tier 1 ratios 
associated with “pure-play” 
competitors of each of the 
businesses; and
 the asset size of the businesses. –

After reviewing the results of this 
formulaic approach, the GEB makes 
adjustments to the final tangible 
equity attribution to reflect the 
amount of equity it believes is 
appropriate for each business. This 
assessment is based on the expecta-
tions of the business’s clients and 
the business environment, including 
allowing for sufficient capital to 
support the business’s underlying risks 
and sustain extreme stress scenarios.
The table below provides the attribu-
tion of equity by business for first 
quarter 2008.

The amount of equity attributed to all 
the businesses corresponds to the 
amount that UBS believes is required 
to maintain a strong capital base and 
support its businesses adequately. If 
the total equity attributed to the 
businesses differs from the Group’s 
actual equity during a particular 
period, the surplus or deficit is shown 
in Corporate Center. As reflected in 
the table below, there was a substan-
tial deficit reported in Corporate 
Center during first quarter 2008. The 
measures taken to restore UBS’s capital 
position – the mandatory convertible 
notes issued in March 2008 (and 
convertible to equity no later than 
2010), the hybrid Tier 1 capital issued 
in April 2008 and the rights issue, 
expected to be completed in second 
quarter 2008 – are explained on pages 
61 of this report and are expected to 
address this deficit. 
Corporate Center continues to transfer 
interest income earned from manag-
ing UBS’s consolidated capital back to 
the businesses. The over-allocation of 
equity in first quarter 2008 resulted in 
a charge to Corporate Center 
exceeding the interest income earned.

RoaE for the individual business 
groups and units is disclosed in the 
respective sections of this report. 

Average equity attributed

(CHF billion)
Total average  

equity attributed – 1Q08

Wealth Management International & Switzerland 6.3

Wealth Management US 6.6

Business Banking Switzerland 4.1

Global Wealth Management & Business Banking 17.0

Global Asset Management 3.0

Investment Bank 28.0

Corporate Center (22.2)

UBS total 25.8
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UBS’s total assets were CHF 2,231 billion on 31 March 2008, 
a decrease of CHF 42 billion from CHF 2,273 billion on 31 
December 2007. The balance sheet was reduced by the 
weakening of major currencies against the Swiss franc, in 
particular the US dollar and the British pound, though this 
effect was mostly offset by an increase in positive replace-
ment values on a currency-adjusted basis. Furthermore, UBS 
achieved significant and deliberate balance sheet reductions 
in first quarter 2008, mainly in the trading portfolio of the 
Investment Bank. Balance sheet positions of Global Wealth 
Management & Business Banking and Global Asset Manage-
ment were basically unchanged compared with year-end 
2007.

Lending and borrowing

Lending
Cash was CHF 19 billion on 31 March 2008, up by CHF 1 
billion from year-end 2007. Due from banks increased by 
CHF 3 billion, largely related to higher lending activities by 
the Investment Bank’s foreign exchange and money market 
desk, which is the central funding entity of the bank. Loans 
to customers stood at CHF 323 billion on 31 March 2008, 
down by CHF 12 billion from 31 December 2007, largely due 
to the US dollar’s decline against the Swiss franc. 

Borrowing
Due to banks remained stable at around CHF 145 billion in 
first quarter 2008. Total debt issued (including financial lia-
bilities designated at fair value) decreased to CHF 394 billion 
on 31 March 2008, down CHF 20 billion from year-end 
2007. In detail, money market paper issuance declined 
slightly by CHF 2 billion to CHF 150 billion, but the underly-
ing volume in original currencies increased by over CHF 16 
billion. The amount of long-term debt issued (including fi-
nancial liabilities designated at fair value) was CHF 244 bil-
lion at the end of first quarter, a drop of CHF 18 billion from 
year-end 2007 mostly related to currency movements, partly 
offset by the CHF 13 billion mandatory convertible notes is-
suance. Due to customers was CHF 567 billion in first quar-
ter 2007, down by CHF 75 billion from year-end 2007, with 

almost two-thirds of this decrease related to currency move-
ments. 

Repurchase / reverse repurchase agreements and 
securities borrowing / lending

In first quarter 2008, cash collateral on securities borrowed 
and reverse repurchase agreements decreased by CHF 14 bil-
lion, or 2%, to CHF 570 billion, and the sum of securities 
lent and repurchase agreements declined by CHF 40 billion, 
or 12%, to CHF 297 billion. This decline occurred almost 
entirely in the Investment Bank, where the matched book 
was reduced as part of the Investment Bank’s overall balance 
sheet reduction (the matched book is a repurchase agree-
ment portfolio comprised of assets and liabilities with equal 
maturities and equal value so that the market risks substan-
tially cancel each other out). 

Trading portfolio

The trading portfolio declined sharply during first quarter 
2008, with trading assets dropping by CHF 157 billion to 
CHF 617 billion at quarter-end. While CHF 59 billion of this 
decline was due to currency movements, the majority was 
related to the mandated balance sheet reductions in the In-
vestment Bank. In the Investment Bank, equity instruments 
decreased by CHF 61 billion driven to a large extent by dis-
posals and reduced market valuations, while traded loans 
and precious metals inventory decreased by CHF 11 billion 
and CHF 5 billion respectively. In addition, the trading assets 
inventory in debt instruments declined by CHF 79 billion, 
mainly in asset-backed securities and corporate bonds as a 
result of either sales or markdowns, though this was offset 
by a slight increase in government bonds. 

Replacement values

The positive replacement value of derivative instruments in-
creased to CHF 573 billion in first quarter 2008, a rise of CHF 
145 billion from the prior quarter-end. During the same pe-
riod, the negative replacement values of derivative instru-
ments also increased – rising by CHF 130 billion to CHF 573 
billion. Both changes were due to movements in interest 
rates and currencies, as well as increased spread volatility 

Balance sheet
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in credit default swaps on securities related to the US real 
estate market.

UBS considers liquidity as the ability to pay current obliga-
tions and provide funds for new initiatives within acceptable 
cost constraints. 

The market stress that began with the dislocation of the 
US residential mortgage market in the second half of 2007 
has continued into 2008, persisting throughout first quarter. 
This led to a sharp reduction in trading volumes in some pre-
viously highly liquid markets. In the secured financing mar-
kets, certain assets were subject to lower advance rates and 
were sometimes not accepted. 

Since the onset of these market disruptions, UBS has 
maintained a comfortable liquidity position. This is due to 
the firm’s broad and highly diversified funding sources, its 
large quantity of liquid assets and its robust contingency 
planning processes. Throughout first quarter 2008, UBS con-
tinued to adjust its asset and liability positions in order to 
maintain its financial flexibility and took additional steps to 
further implement the new funding initiatives it began in 
2007. These steps included strengthening UBS’s substantial 
liquidity reserves, which include a large multi-currency port-
folio of unencumbered high-quality and short-term assets as 
well as available and unutilized liquidity facilities at several 
major central banks. Selective asset reduction programs have 
allowed UBS to achieve this strengthening of UBS’s liquidity 
reserves even during the most difficult market conditions of 
recent months. The size of UBS’s reserves and the structure 
of its balance sheet – particularly the size, composition and 

liquidity of its asset base and the term structure of its fund-
ing – is reviewed regularly and adjusted to market condi-
tions.

UBS uses several measures to continuously track its liquid-
ity position and maintain a balanced asset / liability profile 
over time. These measures include monitoring its contractual 
and behavioral maturity profiles, projecting its liquidity expo-
sures under various stress scenarios and monitoring its se-
cured funding capacity.

To preserve a well balanced and diversified liability struc-
ture, Group Treasury routinely monitors UBS’s liquidity and 
funding status and reports its findings regularly to senior 
management and the Group Executive Board. This includes 
an assessment of the firm’s “cash capital” position and con-
centration risks in its main funding portfolios. Cash capital is 
the difference between UBS’s long-term funding and the to-
tal of illiquid assets, where “long-term” and “illiquid” both 
refer to a time horizon of one year.

In response to the market dislocation that emerged in the 
second half of 2007, UBS has increased both its modeling 
and monitoring frequency, and the projected severity of the 
scenarios it uses to monitor and develop effective responses 
that mitigate potential liquidity exposures in a crisis scenario. 
The models analyze the impacts of a severe liquidity crisis, in 
which a firm-specific crisis occurs within a stressed market 
environment. The underlying assumptions in the analysis en-
compass the characteristics that have emerged in the pres-
ent market turmoil, such as continued risk aversion and dis-
location in terms of money markets and market liquidity 
limited to a very narrow range of asset classes. The assump-

Liquidity management 
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tions incorporated in UBS’s current stressed scenario analysis 
have far exceeded the conditions experienced during the 
current market crisis. 

UBS continues to maintain a well balanced portfolio of 
liabilities that is broadly diversified by market, product and 
currency, minimizing its dependency on any single funding 
source. This, together with its centralized funding manage-
ment, has enabled UBS to fund its business activities through-
out the current and prolonged period of market stress. UBS’s 
domestic retail and global wealth management businesses 
have continued to be valuable and reliable sources of fund-
ing. Funding is also provided through numerous short-, me-
dium- and long-term funding programs in Europe, the US 
and Asia, that provide specialized investments to its institu-
tional and private clients. UBS’s funding profile at the end of 
first quarter 2008 remained similar to its funding profile at 
year-end 2007, in terms of diversification with respect to 
both currency and product type, as illustrated in the graphs 
below. Over 20% of funding was raised on a secured basis 
and UBS’s unsecured funding base remains well diversified: 
approximately 18% of UBS’s funding is from savings and de-
mand deposits, around 18% from long-term debt, 16% 

from time deposits, 11% from money market papers, 10% 
from short-term interbank borrowing and 5% from fiduciary 
deposits.

UBS has also raised a significant amount of new long-
term funding in first quarter 2008 despite the persistent dif-
ficult market environment. This has included the CHF 13 bil-
lion of proceeds from the mandatory convertible notes 
issuance and over CHF 5 billion from public senior debt issu-
ance (including CHF 425 million of three-year floating rate 
notes, EUR 2.5 billion of five-year fixed rate notes and a EUR 
450 million increase of outstanding notes due June 2010). 
Through the first three weeks of April, UBS arranged more 
than CHF 10.5 billion in additional public long-term senior 
debt transactions, with a weighted average maturity of 7.5 
years. UBS also raised EUR 1 billion on 11 April 2008 from 
the issuance of perpetual preferred securities, while the 
rights offering that was approved at the annual general 
meeting on 23 April 2008, and is expected to be completed 
in June 2008, will raise approximately an additional 
CHF 15 billion in capital funding.   

UBS is working in cooperation with its global counterpar-
ties, official institutions and market regulators, both inde-
pendently and within collective industry forums, to address 
the causes of the current market dislocations and restore 
equilibrium. The new measures introduced by several major 
central banks during the first quarter 2008 have been very 
helpful in this regard.

UBS: funding by currency  

in %

As of 31.3.08 
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UBS: funding by product type  

in %
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In the normal course of business, UBS enters into arrange-
ments that, under International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRS), are not initially recognized on the balance sheet 
and do not affect the income statement. These types of ar-
rangements are kept off-balance sheet, unless (i) they be-
come onerous, (ii) they are considered derivative instruments, 
or (iii) UBS incurs an obligation from them or becomes enti-
tled to a specific asset. As soon as such an obligation is in-
curred, it is recognized on the balance sheet, with the result-
ing loss recorded in the income statement. However, it 
should be noted that in many instances, the amount recog-
nized on the balance sheet does not represent the full po-
tential for loss inherent in such arrangements. For the most 
part, the arrangements either meet the financial needs of 
customers or offer investment opportunities through entities 
that are not controlled by UBS. The following paragraphs 
discuss several distinct areas of off-balance sheet arrange-
ments and any potential obligations that may arise from 
them as of 31 March 2008.

Off-balance sheet arrangements include purchased and 
retained interests, derivatives and other involvements in non-
consolidated entities and structures. UBS has originated such 
structures and has acquired interests in structures set up by 
third-parties.

Liquidity facilities and similar obligations
UBS has no significant exposure through liquidity facilities, 
guarantees and similar obligations to structured investment 
vehicles (SIVs), conduits and other types of special purpose 
entities (SPEs). Losses resulting from such obligations were 
not significant in 2007 and first quarter 2008.

Non-consolidated securitization vehicles and 
 collateralized debt obligations

UBS sponsors the creation of SPEs that facilitate the securiti-
zation of acquired residential and commercial mortgage 
loans, other financial assets and related securities. UBS also 
securitizes customers’ debt obligations in transactions that 
involve SPEs which issue collateralized debt obligations. A 
typical securitization transaction of this kind would involve 
the transfer of assets into a trust or corporation in return for 
beneficial interests in the form of securities. Generally, UBS 
intends a sale of the beneficial interests to third parties short-
ly after securitization. Due to illiquid markets for certain in-
struments linked to the US mortgage market in the second 
half of 2007 and first quarter 2008, retained interests could 
not be sold in the short term.

Off-balance sheet

Off-balance sheet arrangements, risks,  
consolidations and fair value measurements

Disclosure in UBS’s first quarter report

Credit guarantees, performance guarantees, undrawn irrevocable credit facilities, 
and similar instruments Financial Statements, Note 10

Leveraged finance commitments MD&A, section Risk management and control, Risk concentration

Liquidity facilities and similar obligations MD&A, section Off-balance sheet arrangements

Risk concentrations MD&A, section Risk management and control, Risk concentration

Credit risk information MD&A, section Risk Management and control, Credit risk

Market risk information MD&A, section Risk Management and control, Market risk

Capital and liquidity information MD&A, section Capital management, balance sheet and Liquidity management

Consolidation of securitization vehicles and CDOs MD&A, section Off-balance sheet arrangements

Fair value measurements Financial Statements, Note 9
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Consolidation of securitization vehicles and CDOs
UBS continually evaluates its involvements with consolidated 
and non-consolidated SPEs as required under IFRS. Certain 
events – such as restructurings, the vesting of potential rights 
and the acquisition, disposition or expiration of interests, etc. 
– may prompt reconsideration of the initial consolidation 
conclusions made by UBS at the inception of its involvement 
with such entities. In these instances, SPEs may be consoli-
dated or de-consolidated as the conditions have changed. In 
December 2007, due to market conditions, various non-con-
solidated CDOs in which UBS held a majority stake in super 
senior securities were declared to have breached default pro-
visions pursuant to the entities’ governing documents. In 
these instances, various contingent decision-making rights 
became immediately vested in the super senior class holders. 
UBS determined that, in certain instances, the rights arising 
from such events caused it to be in control of these entities. 
The affected SPEs are consolidated in UBS’s statement of fi-
nancial position as of 31 March 2008 and 31 December 
2007. The impact of consolidation was not material to UBS’s 
balance sheet at 31 March 2008 and 31 December 2007. The 
full extent of UBS’s losses in respect of super senior positions 
held was already included in the income statement such that 
the consolidation of the CDO vehicles had no incremental 
impact on UBS’s income statement.

Risks resulting from nonconsolidated securitization vehicles 
and CDOs
UBS’s main concentrations of risk are disclosed in detail in the 
“Risk concentrations” section of this report. The information 
provided on risk concentrations discloses risks associated 
with UBS’s involvement in consolidated and non-consolidat-
ed US mortgage securitization vehicles and CDOs. In the 
event that consolidation of additional vehicles will be re-
quired in the future, UBS does not expect a significant im-
pact on its risk exposure, capital, financial position or results 
of operations and any gross-up of the assets and liabilities in 
the balance sheet is expected to be modest. 

Positions with significant impact on the income state-
ment are disclosed in Note 3 in the Financial Statements of 
this report.

Investment funds
If UBS decided to support a Global Asset Management fund 
or another investment sponsored by UBS it might, depend-
ing on the facts and circumstances, present risks that could 
increase to material levels. UBS does not currently foresee 
the likelihood of material losses on such positions but the 
possibility cannot be definitively ruled out.
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Financial Statements

Income statement (unaudited)

Quarter ended % change from

CHF million, except per share data Note 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Continuing operations

Interest income 3 20,222 25,820 25,942 (22) (22)

Interest expense 3 (18,543) (24,283) (24,634) (24) (25)

Net interest income 3 1,679 1,537 1,308 9 28

Credit loss (expense) / recovery (311) (238) 1 31

Net interest income after credit loss expense 1,368 1,299 1,309 5 5

Net fee and commission income 4 6,215 7,727 7,264 (20) (14)

Net trading income 3 (11,643) (13,915) 4,667 16

Other income 5 108 757 246 (86) (56)

Total operating income (3,952) (4,132) 13,486 4

Personnel expenses 6 5,274 6,284 7,094 (16) (26)

General and administrative expenses 7 2,243 2,258 1,902 (1) 18

Depreciation of property and equipment 281 310 300 (9) (6)

Amortization of intangible assets 49 66 84 (26) (42)

Total operating expenses 7,847 8,918 9,380 (12) (16)

Operating profit from continuing operations before tax (11,799) (13,050) 4,106 10

Tax expense (297) (162) 921 (83)

Net profit from continuing operations (11,502) (12,888) 3,185 11

Discontinued operations

Profit from discontinued operations before tax 120 34 6 253

Tax expense 0 2 (2) (100) 100

Net profit from discontinued operations 120 32 8 275

Net profit (11,382) (12,856) 3,193 11

Net profit attributable to minority interests 153 111 162 38 (6)

from continuing operations 107 111 162 (4) (34)

from discontinued operations 46 0 0

Net profit attributable to UBS shareholders (11,535) (12,967) 3,031 11

from continuing operations (11,609) (12,999) 3,023 11

from discontinued operations 74 32 8 131 825

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (CHF) 8 (5.59) (6.45) 1.49 13

from continuing operations (5.62) (6.47) 1.49 13

from discontinued operations 0.03 0.02 0.00 50

Diluted earnings per share (CHF) 8 (5.60) (6.45) 1.43 13

from continuing operations (5.63) (6.47) 1.43 13

from discontinued operations 0.03 0.02 0.00 50
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Balance sheet (unaudited)

% change from

CHF million 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.12.07

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks 19,352 18,793 3

Due from banks 63,740 60,907 5

Cash collateral on securities borrowed 172,134 207,063 (17)

Reverse repurchase agreements 397,911 376,928 6

Trading portfolio assets 461,088 610,061 (24)

Trading portfolio assets pledged as collateral 156,345 164,311 (5)

Positive replacement values 572,864 428,217 34

Financial assets designated at fair value 10,224 11,765 (13)

Loans 323,444 335,864 (4)

Financial investments available-for-sale 4,254 4,966 (14)

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 9,463 11,953 (21)

Investments in associates 1,408 1,979 (29)

Property and equipment 6,904 7,234 (5)

Goodwill and intangible assets 13,160 14,538 (9)

Other assets 18,728 18,189 3

Total assets 2,231,019 2,272,768 (2)

Liabilities

Due to banks 144,587 145,762 (1)

Cash collateral on securities lent 25,295 31,621 (20)

Repurchase agreements 271,729 305,887 (11)

Trading portfolio liabilities 166,588 164,788 1

Negative replacement values 573,101 443,539 29

Financial liabilities designated at fair value 160,356 191,853 (16)

Due to customers 567,023 641,892 (12)

Accrued expenses and deferred income 14,324 22,150 (35)

Debt issued 234,037 222,077 5

Other liabilities 51,283 61,029 (16)

Total liabilities 2,208,323 2,230,598 (1)

Equity

Share capital 207 207 0

Share premium 3,327 12,433 (73)

Net income recognized directly in equity, net of tax (3,552) (1,161) (206)

Revaluation reserve from step acquisitions, net of tax 38 38 0

Retained earnings 22,604 34,139 (34)

Equity classified as obligation to purchase own shares (94) (74) (27)

Treasury shares (6,144) (10,363) 41

Equity attributable to UBS shareholders 16,386 35,219 (53)

Equity attributable to minority interests 6,310 6,951 (9)

Total equity 22,696 42,170 (46)

Total liabilities and equity 2,231,019 2,272,768 (2)
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Statement of changes in equity (unaudited)

Quarter ended

CHF million 31.3.08 31.3.07

Share capital

Balance at the beginning of the period 207 211

Issue of share capital 0 0

Capital repayment by par value reduction 0 0

Cancellation of second trading line treasury shares 0 0

Balance at the end of the period 207 211

Share premium

Balance at the beginning of the period 8,884 9,870

Change in accounting policy 3,549 2,770

Premium on shares issued and warrants exercised (5,414) 10

Net premium / (discount) on treasury share and own equity derivative activity (2,150) (12)

Employee share and share option plans (1,610) (1,102)

Tax benefits from deferred compensation awards 68 122

Balance at the end of the period attributable to UBS shareholders 3,327 11,658

Balance at the end of the period attributable to minority interests 425 513

Balance at the end of the period 3,752 12,171

Net income recognized directly in equity, net of tax

Foreign currency translation

Balance at the beginning of the period (2,627) (1,618)

Change in accounting policy 27 4

Movements during the period (2,656) 57

Subtotal - balance at the end of the period attributable to UBS shareholders (5,256) (1,557)

Balance at the end of the period attributable to minority interests (1,114) (204)

Subtotal - balance at the end of the period (6,370) (1,761)

Net unrealized gains / (losses) on financial investments available-for-sale, net of tax

Balance at the beginning of the period 1,471 2,876

Net unrealized gains / (losses) on financial investments available-for-sale (351) 645

Impairment charges reclassified to the income statement 3 10

Realized gains reclassified to the income statement (29) (168)

Realized losses reclassified to the income statement 1 1

Subtotal - balance at the end of the period attributable to UBS shareholders 1,095 3,364

Balance at the end of the period attributable to minority interests 1 32

Subtotal - balance at the end of the period 1,096 3,396

Changes in fair value of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, net of tax

Balance at the beginning of the period (32) (443)

Net unrealized gains / (losses) on the revaluation of cash flow hedges 619 24

Net realized (gains) / losses reclassified to the income statement 22 58

Subtotal - balance at the end of the period attributable to UBS shareholders 609 (361)

Balance at the end of the period attributable to minority interests 0 0

Subtotal - balance at the end of the period 609 (361)

Net income recognized directly in equity, net of tax - attributable to UBS shareholders (3,552) 1,446

Net income recognized directly in equity - attributable to minority interests (1,113) (172)

Balance at the end of the period (4,665) 1,274

Revaluation reserve from step acquisitions, net of tax

Balance at the beginning of the period 38 38

Movements during the period 0 0

Balance at the end of the period attributable to UBS shareholders 38 38
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Statement of recognized income and expense

For the quarter ended 31.3.08 31.3.07

Attributable to Attributable to

CHF million
UBS  

shareholders
Minority  
interests Total

UBS 
shareholders

Minority 
interests Total

Net unrealized gains / (losses) on financial investments  
available-for-sale, before tax (498) (31) (529) 564 2 566

Changes in fair value of derivative instruments designated  
as cash flow hedges, before tax 833 833 107 0 107

Foreign currency translation (2,656) (634) (3,290) 54 4 58

Tax on items transferred to / (from) equity (70) (70) (98) 0 (98)

Net income recognized directly in equity, net of tax (2,391) (665) (3,056) 627 6 633

Net income recognized in the income statement (11,535) 153 (11,382) 3,031 162 3,193

Total recognized income and expense (13,926) (512) (14,438) 3,658 168 3,826

Statement of changes in equity (continued) (unaudited)

Quarter ended

CHF million 31.3.08 31.3.07

Retained earnings

Balance at the beginning of the period 38,081 49,151

Change in accounting policy (3,942) (3,079)

Net profit attributable to UBS shareholders for the period (11,535) 3,031

Dividends paid 0 0

Cancellation of second trading line treasury shares 0 0

Balance at the end of the period attributable to UBS shareholders 22,604 49,103

Balance at the end of the period attributable to minority interests 171 (16)

Balance at the end of the period 22,775 49,087

Equity classified as obligation to purchase own shares

Balance at the beginning of the period (74) (185)

Movements during the period (20) (10)

Balance at the end of the period attributable to UBS shareholders (94) (195)

Treasury shares

Balance at the beginning of the period (10,363) (10,214)

Acquisitions (288) (3,481)

Disposals 4,507 2,745

Cancellation of second trading line treasury shares 0 0

Balance at the end of the period attributable to UBS shareholders (6,144) (10,950)

Minority interests – preferred securities 6,827 5,831

Total equity attributable to UBS shareholders 16,386 51,311

Total equity attributable to minority interests 6,310 6,156

Total equity 22,696 57,467

Additional information: Equity attributable to minority interests

Quarter ended

CHF million 31.3.08 31.3.07

Balance at the beginning of the period 6,951 6,089

Issuance of preferred securities 0 0

Other increases 4 13

Decreases and dividend payments (164) (109)

Foreign currency translation (634) 1

Minority interest in net profit 153 162

Balance at the end of the period 6,310 6,156
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Statement of cash flows (unaudited)

Quarter ended

CHF million 31.3.08 31.3.07

Cash flow from / (used in) operating activities

Net profit (11,382) 3,193

Adjustments to reconcile net profit to cash flow from / (used in) operating activities

Non-cash items included in net profit and other adjustments:

Depreciation of property and equipment 281 303

Amortization of intangible assets 49 85

Credit loss expense / (recovery) 311 (1)

Equity in income of associates (26) (32)

Deferred tax expense / (benefit) (911) 405

Net loss / (gain) from investing activities (171) (145)

Net loss / (gain) from financing activities (10,161) 740

Net (increase) / decrease in operating assets:

Net due from / to banks 2,056 13,537

Reverse repurchase agreements and cash collateral on securities borrowed 13,997 (84,467)

Trading portfolio and net replacement values 145,180 630

Loans / due to customers (62,645) 10,653

Accrued income, prepaid expenses and other assets 2,092 (386)

Net increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities:

Repurchase agreements and cash collateral on securities lent (40,535) 44,191

Accrued expenses and other liabilities (19,024) (2,397)

Income taxes paid (245) (1,256)

Net cash flow from / (used in) operating activities 18,866 (14,947)

Cash flow from / (used in) investing activities

Investments in subsidiaries and associates (1,100) (715)

Disposal of subsidiaries and associates 1,107 77

Purchase of property and equipment (301) (431)

Disposal of property and equipment 4 64

Net (investment in) / divestment of financial investments available-for-sale (134) 414

Net cash flow from / (used in) investing activities (424) (591)

Cash flow from / (used in) financing activities

Net money market paper issued / (repaid) (1,837) 20,364

Net movements in treasury shares and own equity derivative activity (4,887) (1,718)

Capital issuance 0 0

Dividends paid 0 0

Issuance of long-term debt, including financial liabilities designated at fair value 43,948 40,052

Repayment of long-term debt, including financial liabilities designated at fair value (19,606) (19,087)

Increase in minority interests 35 11

Dividend payments to / purchase from minority interests (164) (109)

Net cash flow from / (used in) financing activities 17,489 39,513

Effects of exchange rate differences (30,328) 484

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,603 24,459

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period 149,105 136,090

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period 154,708 160,549

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash and balances with central banks 19,352 3,826

Money market paper 1 76,265 107,463

Due from banks with original maturity of less than three months 59,091 49,260

Total 154,708 160,549

1 Money market paper is included in the Balance sheet under Trading portfolio assets and Financial investments available-for-sale. 

Cash paid as interest was CHF 20,230 million and CHF 22,542 million during the first quarter of 2008 and 2007, respectively.



77

UBS AG’s (“UBS”) consolidated financial statements (Finan-
cial Statements) are prepared in accordance with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and stated in 
Swiss francs (CHF). These Financial Statements are presented 
in accordance with IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In 
preparing the interim Financial Statements, the same ac-
counting principles and methods of computation are applied 
as in the Financial Statements on 31 December 2007 and for 
the year then ended except for the changes set out below. 
For fair value measurements applied in first quarter 2008, 
UBS provides complementary information in Note 9.

The interim Financial Statements are unaudited. In the 
opinion of management, all adjustments necessary for a fair 
presentation of the financial position, results of operations 
and cash flows for the interim periods have been made.

These interim Financial Statements should be read in con-
junction with the audited Financial Statements included in 
the UBS Annual Report 2007.

Note that UBS has re-filed its Annual Report 2007 on 
Form 20-F with the SEC due to the adoption of IFRS 2 Share
based Payment: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations on 
1 January 2008 as prior periods have been restated.

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment: Vesting Conditions and 
Cancellations

On 1 January 2008, UBS adopted an amendment to IFRS 2 
Sharebased Payment: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations 
and fully restated the two comparative prior years. The 
amended standard clarifies the definition of vesting condi-
tions and the accounting treatment of cancellations. Under 
the amended standard, UBS is required to distinguish be-
tween vesting conditions (such as service and performance 
conditions) and non-vesting conditions.

The amended standard no longer considers vesting con-
ditions to include certain non-compete provisions.

The impact of this change is that UBS compensation 
awards are expensed over the period that the employee is 
required to provide active services in order to earn the award. 
This no longer includes the non-compete period.

Post-vesting sale and hedge restrictions and non-vesting 
conditions are considered when determining grant date fair 
value. The effect of the restatement on the opening balance 
sheet at 1 January 2006 was as follows: reduction of re-
tained earnings by approximately CHF 2.3 billion, increase of 
share premium by approximately CHF 2.3 billion, increase of 
liabilities (including deferred tax liabilities) by approximately 

CHF 0.5 billion, and increase of deferred tax assets by ap-
proximately CHF 0.5 billion. Additional compensation ex-
pense of CHF 797 million and CHF 516 million was recog-
nized in 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

The implementation of the amended IFRS 2 resulted in the 
following increases of compensation expenses previously re-
ported in the quarterly Financial Statements 2007: CHF 280 mil-
lion, CHF 124 million, CHF 79 million and CHF 314 million for 
the quarters ended 31 March 2007, 30 June 2007, 30 Septem-
ber 2007 and 31 December 2007, respectively. These additional 
compensation expenses include awards granted in 2008 for the 
performance year 2007. The impact of the restatement on total 
equity as at 31 December 2007 was a decrease of CHF 366 mil-
lion. Retained earnings at 31 December 2007 decreased by ap-
proximately CHF 3.9 billion, share premium increased by ap-
proximately CHF 3.5 billion, liabilities (including deferred tax 
liabilities) increased by approximately CHF 0.6 billion and de-
ferred tax assets increased by approximately CHF 0.2 billion. The 
restatement decreased basic and diluted earnings per share as 
follows: CHF 0.12, CHF 0.04, CHF 0.02 and CHF 0.27 for the 
quarters ended 31 March 2007, 30 June 2007, 30 September 
2007 and 31 December 2007, respectively. 

The additional compensation expense is attributable to 
the acceleration of expense related to share-based awards as 
well as for certain AIV awards and deferred cash compensa-
tion awards which contain non-compete provisions and sale 
and hedge restrictions that no longer qualify as vesting con-
ditions under the Standard.

Revenues from Industrial Holdings and Goods and 
materials purchased

The income statement does not include the lines Revenues 
from Industrial Holdings and Goods and materials purchased, 
as the last consolidated industrial private equity investment in 
Industrial Holdings was sold in first quarter 2008 and is clas-
sified as a discontinued operation in UBS’s income statement. 
Prior periods have been restated to reflect this classification.

Changes to segment reporting 

UBS has continuously reduced its private equity business in 
Industrial Holdings over the last three years. The business no 
longer includes consolidated industrial private equity invest-
ments. Starting first quarter 2008, UBS is reporting the re-
maining activities from this business, mainly financial invest-
ments available-for-sale, under Corporate Center. 

Note 1  Basis of Accounting 

Notes to the Financial Statements (unaudited)
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Note 2 Reporting by Business Group

For the three months ended 31 March 2008

UBS

Global Wealth Management &  
Business Banking

Global Asset 
Management

Investment  
Bank

Corporate  
Center

CHF million

Wealth Management 
International & 

Switzerland

Wealth  
Management  

US
Business Banking 

Switzerland

Internal charges and transfer pricing adjustments are reflected in the performance 
of each business. Revenue-sharing agreements are used to allocate external cus-
tomer revenues to a Business Group on a reasonable basis. Transactions between 
Business Groups are conducted at internally agreed transfer prices or at arm’s 
length. The presentation of the business segments below reflects UBS’s organi-
zation structure and management responsibilities. UBS’s financial businesses are  
organized on a worldwide basis into three Business Groups and the Corporate 
Center. Global Wealth Management & Business Banking consists of three seg-
ments: Wealth Management International & Switzerland, Wealth Management 
US and Business Banking Switzerland. The Business Groups Investment Bank and 
Global Asset Management constitute one segment each. In total, UBS now reports 
five business segments and Corporate Center. Corporate Center includes all cor-
porate functions and elimination items, as well as remaining Industrial Holdings 
activities and is not considered a business segment.

Income 3,056 1,527 1,269 791 (14,505) 4,221 (3,641)

Credit loss (expense) / recovery (2) 0 (1) 0 (308) 0 (311)

Total operating income 3,054 1,527 1,268 791 (14,813) 4,221 (3,952)

Personnel expenses 942 1,051 634 303 2,041 303 5,274

General and administrative expenses 267 201 259 104 1,121 291 2,243

Services (to) / from other business units 386 59 (180) 39 180 (484) 0

Depreciation of property and equipment 25 19 15 7 51 164 281

Amortization of intangible assets 5 14 0 8 22 0 49

Total operating expenses 1,625 1,344 728 461 3,415 274 7,847

Business Group performance from  
continuing operations before tax 1,429 183 540 330 (18,228) 3,947 (11,799)

Business Group performance from  
discontinued operations before tax 120 120

Business Group performance before tax 1,429 183 540 330 (18,228) 4,067 (11,679)

Tax expense on continuing operations (297)

Tax expense on discontinued operations 0

Net profit (11,382)

Note 2 Reporting by Business Group

For the three months ended 31 March 2007

UBS

Global Wealth Management &  
Business Banking

Global Asset 
Management

Investment  
Bank Corporate Center

CHF million

Wealth Management 
International & 

Switzerland

Wealth  
Management  

US
Business Banking 

Switzerland
Corporate 

Center
Industrial 
Holdings

Internal charges and transfer pricing adjustments are reflected in the performance 
of each business. Revenue-sharing agreements are used to allocate external cus-
tomer revenues to a Business Group on a reasonable basis. Transactions between 
Business Groups are conducted at internally agreed transfer prices or at arm’s 
length. The presentation of the business segments below reflects UBS’s organiza-
tion structure and management responsibilities. UBS’s financial businesses are  
organized on a worldwide basis into three Business Groups and the Corporate 
Center. Global Wealth Management & Business Banking consists of three seg-
ments: Wealth Management International & Switzerland, Wealth Management 
US and Business Banking Switzerland. The Business Groups Investment Bank and 
Global Asset Management constitute one segment each. In addition, the Indus-
trial Holdings segment holds all industrial operations controlled by the Group. In 
total, UBS now reports six business segments and Corporate Center.

Income 3,071 1,610 1,280 997 6,258 130 139 13,485

Credit loss (expense) / recovery 0 0 21 0 (20) 0 0 1

Total operating income 3,071 1,610 1,301 997 6,238 130 139 13,486

Personnel expenses 926 1,124 652 432 3,629 326 5 7,094

General and administrative expenses 232 216 264 115 769 304 2 1,902

Services (to) / from other business units 381 80 (160) 43 193 (539) 2 0

Depreciation of property and equipment 20 19 13 7 54 187 0 300

Amortization of intangible assets 9 16 0 5 54 0 0 84

Total operating expenses 1,568 1,455 769 602 4,699 278 9 9,380

Business Group performance from  
continuing operations before tax 1,503 155 532 395 1,539 (148) 130 4,106

Business Group performance from  
discontinued operations before tax 8 (2) 6

Business Group performance before tax 1,503 155 532 395 1,539 (140) 128 4,112

Tax expense on continuing operations 921

Tax expense on discontinued operations (2)

Net profit 3,193
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Note 2 Reporting by Business Group

For the three months ended 31 March 2008

UBS

Global Wealth Management &  
Business Banking

Global Asset 
Management

Investment  
Bank

Corporate  
Center

CHF million

Wealth Management 
International & 

Switzerland

Wealth  
Management  

US
Business Banking 

Switzerland

Internal charges and transfer pricing adjustments are reflected in the performance 
of each business. Revenue-sharing agreements are used to allocate external cus-
tomer revenues to a Business Group on a reasonable basis. Transactions between 
Business Groups are conducted at internally agreed transfer prices or at arm’s 
length. The presentation of the business segments below reflects UBS’s organi-
zation structure and management responsibilities. UBS’s financial businesses are  
organized on a worldwide basis into three Business Groups and the Corporate 
Center. Global Wealth Management & Business Banking consists of three seg-
ments: Wealth Management International & Switzerland, Wealth Management 
US and Business Banking Switzerland. The Business Groups Investment Bank and 
Global Asset Management constitute one segment each. In total, UBS now reports 
five business segments and Corporate Center. Corporate Center includes all cor-
porate functions and elimination items, as well as remaining Industrial Holdings 
activities and is not considered a business segment.

Income 3,056 1,527 1,269 791 (14,505) 4,221 (3,641)

Credit loss (expense) / recovery (2) 0 (1) 0 (308) 0 (311)

Total operating income 3,054 1,527 1,268 791 (14,813) 4,221 (3,952)

Personnel expenses 942 1,051 634 303 2,041 303 5,274

General and administrative expenses 267 201 259 104 1,121 291 2,243

Services (to) / from other business units 386 59 (180) 39 180 (484) 0

Depreciation of property and equipment 25 19 15 7 51 164 281

Amortization of intangible assets 5 14 0 8 22 0 49

Total operating expenses 1,625 1,344 728 461 3,415 274 7,847

Business Group performance from  
continuing operations before tax 1,429 183 540 330 (18,228) 3,947 (11,799)

Business Group performance from  
discontinued operations before tax 120 120

Business Group performance before tax 1,429 183 540 330 (18,228) 4,067 (11,679)

Tax expense on continuing operations (297)

Tax expense on discontinued operations 0

Net profit (11,382)

Note 2 Reporting by Business Group

For the three months ended 31 March 2007

UBS

Global Wealth Management &  
Business Banking

Global Asset 
Management

Investment  
Bank Corporate Center

CHF million

Wealth Management 
International & 

Switzerland

Wealth  
Management  

US
Business Banking 

Switzerland
Corporate 

Center
Industrial 
Holdings

Internal charges and transfer pricing adjustments are reflected in the performance 
of each business. Revenue-sharing agreements are used to allocate external cus-
tomer revenues to a Business Group on a reasonable basis. Transactions between 
Business Groups are conducted at internally agreed transfer prices or at arm’s 
length. The presentation of the business segments below reflects UBS’s organiza-
tion structure and management responsibilities. UBS’s financial businesses are  
organized on a worldwide basis into three Business Groups and the Corporate 
Center. Global Wealth Management & Business Banking consists of three seg-
ments: Wealth Management International & Switzerland, Wealth Management 
US and Business Banking Switzerland. The Business Groups Investment Bank and 
Global Asset Management constitute one segment each. In addition, the Indus-
trial Holdings segment holds all industrial operations controlled by the Group. In 
total, UBS now reports six business segments and Corporate Center.

Income 3,071 1,610 1,280 997 6,258 130 139 13,485

Credit loss (expense) / recovery 0 0 21 0 (20) 0 0 1

Total operating income 3,071 1,610 1,301 997 6,238 130 139 13,486

Personnel expenses 926 1,124 652 432 3,629 326 5 7,094

General and administrative expenses 232 216 264 115 769 304 2 1,902

Services (to) / from other business units 381 80 (160) 43 193 (539) 2 0

Depreciation of property and equipment 20 19 13 7 54 187 0 300

Amortization of intangible assets 9 16 0 5 54 0 0 84

Total operating expenses 1,568 1,455 769 602 4,699 278 9 9,380

Business Group performance from  
continuing operations before tax 1,503 155 532 395 1,539 (148) 130 4,106

Business Group performance from  
discontinued operations before tax 8 (2) 6

Business Group performance before tax 1,503 155 532 395 1,539 (140) 128 4,112

Tax expense on continuing operations 921

Tax expense on discontinued operations (2)

Net profit 3,193
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Note 3  Net Interest and Trading Income

Accounting standards require separate disclosure of net interest income and net trading income (see the tables on this and 
the next page). This required disclosure, however, does not take into account that net interest and trading income are gener-
ated by a range of different businesses. In many cases, a particular business can generate both net interest and trading  
income. Fixed income trading activity, for example, generates both trading profits and coupon income. UBS management 
therefore analyzes net interest and trading income according to the businesses that drive it. The second table below (labeled 
Breakdown by businesses) provides information that corresponds to this management view. Net income from trading busi-
nesses includes both interest and trading income generated by the Group’s trading businesses and the Investment Bank’s 
lending activities. Net income from interest margin businesses comprises interest income from the Group’s loan portfolio. Net 
income from treasury and other activities reflects all income from the Group’s centralized treasury function.

Net interest and trading income

Quarter ended % change from

CHF million 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Net interest income 1,679 1,537 1,308 9 28

Net trading income (11,643) (13,915) 4,667 16

Total net interest and trading income (9,964) (12,378) 5,975 20

Breakdown by businesses

Quarter ended % change from

CHF million 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Net income from trading businesses 1 (15,761) (14,420) 4,274 (9)

Net income from interest margin businesses 1,581 1,637 1,466 (3) 8

Net income from treasury activities and other 4,216 405 235 941

Total net interest and trading income (9,964) (12,378) 5,975 20

1 Includes lending activities of the Investment Bank.

Net interest income

Quarter ended % change from

CHF million 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Interest income

Interest earned on loans and advances 5,436 6,360 4,312 (15) 26

Interest earned on securities borrowed and reverse repurchase 
agreements 7,919 10,753 11,953 (26) (34)

Interest and dividend income from trading portfolio 6,763 8,603 9,611 (21) (30)

Interest income on financial assets designated at fair value 80 76 33 5 142

Interest and dividend income from financial investments 
available-for-sale 24 28 33 (14) (27)

Total 20,222 25,820 25,942 (22) (22)

Interest expense

Interest on amounts due to banks and customers 5,793 6,921 6,742 (16) (14)

Interest on securities lent and repurchase agreements 6,045 8,985 10,176 (33) (41)

Interest and dividend expense from trading portfolio 2,332 3,144 3,900 (26) (40)

Interest on financial liabilities designated at fair value 1,749 2,272 1,616 (23) 8

Interest on debt issued 2,624 2,961 2,200 (11) 19

Total 18,543 24,283 24,634 (24) (25)

Net interest income 1,679 1,537 1,308 9 28

Interest includes forward points on foreign exchange swaps used to manage short-term interest rate risk on foreign  
currency loans and deposits.
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Note 3  Net Interest and Trading Income (continued)

Net trading income 1

Quarter ended % change from

CHF million 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Equities 2,840 1,751 2,828 62 0

Fixed income (20,436) (15,696) 450 (30)

Foreign exchange and other 2 5,953 30 1,389 329

Net trading income (11,643) (13,915) 4,667 16

thereof net gains / (losses) from financial liabilities  
designated at fair value 10,161 2,363 (486) 330

1 Please refer to the table “Net Interest and Trading Income” on the previous page for the Net income from trading businesses (for an explanation, read the corresponding introductory comment).   
2 Includes trading from money markets, currencies and commodities.

Financial liabilities designated at fair value are to a large extent economically hedged with derivatives and other instruments 
whose change in fair value is also reported in Net trading income.

The Group recorded a gain of CHF 2,103 million and CHF 659 million for the quarters ended 31 March 2008 and 31 Decem-
ber 2007, respectively in Net trading income from changes in the fair value of financial liabilities designated at fair value 
attributable to changes in the Group’s own credit risk. The change applies to those financial liabilities designated at fair 
value where the Group’s own credit risk would be considered by market participants and excludes fully collateralized trans-
actions and other instruments for which it is established market practice not to include an entity-specific adjustment for own 
credit. It was calculated based on a senior long-term debt curve generated from observed external pricing for funding as-
sociated with new senior debt issued by the Group.

Significant impacts on net trading income 1,2

Quarter ended 31.3.08 Year ended 31.12.07

USD billion CHF billion 3 USD billion CHF billion 3

US sub-prime residential mortgage market

US sub-prime super senior RMBS CDO 4 (5.3) (5.4) (9.2) (10.5)

US sub-prime residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS) (2.1) (2.2) (2.6) (2.9)

US sub-prime warehouse and retained RMBS CDO 0.2 0.2 (2.8) (3.2)

US Alt-A residential mortgage market

US Alt-A, AAA – rated RMBS backed by first lien mortgages (4.5) (4.5) (0.8) (0.9)

US Alt-A, super senior RMBS CDO 4 and other (1.6) (1.7) (1.2) (1.4)

US Prime residential mortgage market

US super senior prime RMBS CDO 4 (0.2) (0.2)

US prime RMBS (0.7) (0.7)

Credit valuation adjustments for monoline credit protection

US RMBS CDO (1.5) (1.5) (0.8) (0.9)

Other than US RMBS CDO (0.2) (0.2)

US Commercial mortgage market

US commercial mortgage-backed securities (CMBSs) CDO (0.2) (0.2)

US CMBS/CMBX (0.1) (0.1)

US Commercial real estate loans (0.1) (0.1)

US Reference linked notes (RLN)

US RLN sub-prime and Alt-A (1.2) (1.2) (1.3) (1.5)

US RLN CMBS (0.2) (0.2)

US RLN other ABS and corporate debt (0.2) (0.2)

Leveraged finance (0.3) (0.3)

US student loans (1.0) (1.0)

Subtotal (19.2) (19.5) (18.7) 5 (21.3) 5

Mandatory convertible notes 6 3.9

Total (15.6)
1 Includes mainly positions reflected in the section “Risk concentrations” in the MD&A of this report and in Note 12.    2 The positions disclosed in this table are reflected in Net trading income of CHF 
(11,643) million and CHF (8,353) million for the period ended 31 March 2008 and 31 December 2007 respectively.    3 The exchange rates represent the average rates for first quarter 2008 (1 USD = 
1.02 CHF) and for fourth quarter 2007 (1 USD = 1.14 CHF).     4 Amounts exclude credit valuation adjustments taken in first quarter for a single monoline insurer where hedge protection is considered 
ineffective. Amounts are shown as part of monoline profit and loss.    5 Includes only positions disclosed in Note 3 of the Annual Report 2007.    6 See Note 12 for details.



82

Financial Statements
6 May 2008

Note 4 Net Fee and Commission Income

Quarter ended % change from

CHF million 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Equity underwriting fees 195 799 481 (76) (59)

Debt underwriting fees 186 221 342 (16) (46)

Total underwriting fees 381 1,020 823 (63) (54)

M&A and corporate finance fees 417 775 450 (46) (7)

Brokerage fees 2,485 2,484 2,562 0 (3)

Investment fund fees 1,592 1,876 1,749 (15) (9)

Fiduciary fees 80 82 70 (2) 14

Custodian fees 324 360 322 (10) 1

Portfolio and other management and advisory fees 1,706 1,943 1,932 (12) (12)

Insurance-related and other fees 126 112 110 13 15

Total securities trading and investment activity fees 7,111 8,652 8,018 (18) (11)

Credit-related fees and commissions 65 60 71 8 (8)

Commission income from other services 264 260 294 2 (10)

Total fee and commission income 7,440 8,972 8,383 (17) (11)

Brokerage fees paid 639 629 679 2 (6)

Other 586 616 440 (5) 33

Total fee and commission expense 1,225 1,245 1,119 (2) 9

Net fee and commission income 6,215 7,727 7,264 (20) (14)

Note 5 Other Income

Quarter ended % change from

CHF million 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Associates and subsidiaries

Net gains from disposals of consolidated subsidiaries (20) (7) (1) (186)

Net gains from disposals of investments in associates 32 23 0 39

Equity in income of associates 26 55 33 (53) (21)

Total 38 71 32 (46) 19

Financial investments available-for-sale

Net gains from disposals 1 55 686 37 (92) 49

Impairment charges (22) (55) (11) 60 (100)

Total 33 631 26 (95) 27

Net income from investments in property 2 19 28 18 (32) 6

Net gains from investment properties 3 6 9 (1) (33)

Other income from Industrial Holdings 0 3 139 (100) (100)

Other 12 15 32 (20) (63)

Total other income 108 757 246 (86) (56)

1 Included in the quarter ended 31 December 2007 is a gain from the demutualization of Bovespa, the Brazilian stock exchange, and the Brazil Mercantile & Futures Exchange of CHF 634 million.   
2 Includes net rent received from third parties and net operating expenses.  3 Includes unrealized and realized gains from investment properties at fair value.

Note 6 Personnel Expenses

Quarter ended % change from

CHF million 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Salaries and bonuses 4,122 5,074 5,884 (19) (30)

Contractors 107 160 159 (33) (33)

Insurance and social security contributions 183 277 379 (34) (52)

Contribution to retirement plans 239 241 225 (1) 6

Other personnel expenses 623 532 447 17 39

Total personnel expenses 5,274 6,284 7,094 (16) (26)
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Note 7 General and Administrative Expenses

Quarter ended % change from

CHF million 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Occupancy 372 409 379 (9) (2)

Rent and maintenance of IT and other equipment 157 176 178 (11) (12)

Telecommunications and postage 230 238 250 (3) (8)

Administration 210 269 219 (22) (4)

Marketing and public relations 125 153 145 (18) (14)

Travel and entertainment 182 267 231 (32) (21)

Professional fees 219 337 215 (35) 2

Outsourcing of IT and other services 252 327 281 (23) (10)

Other 496 82 4 505

Total general and administrative expenses 2,243 2,258 1,902 (1) 18

Note 8  Earnings per Share (EPS) and Shares Outstanding

Quarter ended % change from

31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 4Q07 1Q07

Basic earnings (CHF million)

Net profit attributable to UBS shareholders (11,535) (12,967) 3,031 11

from continuing operations (11,609) (12,999) 3,023 11

from discontinued operations 74 32 8 131 825

Diluted earnings (CHF million)

Net profit attributable to UBS shareholders (11,535) (12,967) 3,031 11

Less: (Profit) / loss on equity derivative contracts (33) (13) (13) (154) (154)

Net profit attributable to UBS shareholders for diluted EPS (11,568) (12,980) 3,018 11

from continuing operations (11,642) (13,012) 3,010 11

from discontinued operations 74 32 8 131 825

Weighted average shares outstanding

Weighted average shares outstanding 2,063,871,434 2,009,905,039 2,032,370,909 3 2

Potentially dilutive ordinary shares resulting from unvested 
exchangeable shares, options and warrants outstanding 1 2,173,581 1,398,761 77,035,413 55 (97)

Weighted average shares outstanding for diluted EPS 2,066,045,015 2,011,303,800 2,109,406,322 3 (2)

Earnings per share (CHF)

Basic (5.59) (6.45) 1.49 13

from continuing operations (5.62) (6.47) 1.49 13

from discontinued operations 0.03 0.02 0.00 50

Diluted (5.60) (6.45) 1.43 13

from continuing operations (5.63) (6.47) 1.43 13

from discontinued operations 0.03 0.02 0.00 50

Shares outstanding As of % change from

31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 31.12.07 31.3.07

Total ordinary shares issued 2,073,567,252 2,073,547,344 2,106,123,317 0 (2)

Second trading line treasury shares

2006 program 33,020,000

2007/2010 program 7,210,000

Other treasury shares 101,448,832 158,105,524 125,528,986 (36) (19)

Total treasury shares 101,448,832 158,105,524 165,758,986 (36) (39)

Shares outstanding 1,972,118,420 1,915,441,820 1,940,364,331 3 2

Retrospective adjustments for stock dividend 2 98,605,921 95,772,091 97,018,217 3 2

Mandatory convertible note 2008/10 and exchangeable shares 3 253,683,428 484,537 567,632

Shares outstanding for EPS 2,324,407,769 2,011,698,448 2,037,950,180 16 14

1 Due to UBS losses, 21.5 million and 33.7 million potential ordinary shares from unexercised employee shares and options are not considered as they have an anti-dilutive effect for the quarters ended 31 March 2008 
and 31 December 2007, respectively.  2 Shares outstanding are increased by 5% to reflect the 1:20 ratio of the stock dividend.  3 31.03.2008 includes 252,525,253 shares for the mandatory convertible notes.
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Material changes in level 3 instruments resulting  
from transfers from, or into, Levels 1 and 2 

The financial assets measured with valuation techniques re-
flecting significant non-market observable inputs (level 3) 
mainly include instruments linked to the US residential sub-
prime, Alt-A and prime real estate markets, instruments 
linked to the US commercial real estate market, US reference 
linked notes, student loan auction rate certificates (ARCs), 
variable rate demand obligations (VRDOs) and other student 
loan ABS, other non-real estate ABS, leveraged finance deals, 
and structured rates and credit trades. Level 3 financial liabil-
ities mainly include instruments linked to the US residential 
sub-prime market, structured rates and credit trades and hy-
brid financial liabilities. 

The following paragraph sets out details about reclassifica-
tions of the most significant items contributing to the changes 
in level 3 assets and liabilities during the first quarter 2008. 

Previously available quoted market prices or observable 
input parameters became unobservable during first quarter 
2008 for the following types of positions. Fair values of these 
positions have therefore been determined using valuation 
models which include significant non-market observable in-
put parameters – level 3 valuations:
– Student loan ARCs, VRDOs and other student loan ABSs, 

recognized as trading portfolio assets, with a fair value of 
approximately CHF 10 billion for which the normal regu-
lar auctions have failed due to lack of investor demand.

– Positive and negative replacement values of approximate-
ly CHF 10 billion and CHF 12 billion respectively in respect 
of synthetic bespoke CDOs and certain credit default 
swaps, where prices of the underlying portfolios and cor-
relation of reference credits are unobservable.

– US residential prime mortgage securities and CDOs, recog-
nized as trading portfolio assets, with a fair value of ap-

proximately CHF 3 billion where with liquidity for certain 
issuances has reduced compared fourth quarter 2007.

– Certain nonreal estate ABS, e.g. securities backed by 
credit card loans, other consumer loans, aviation loans, 
and structured collateralized corporate loan obligations, 
recognized as trading portfolio assets, have been valued 
with significant unobservable inputs, where liquidity for 
certain issuances has reduced compared with fourth 
quarter 2007. 

– Leveraged finance loans and commitments recognized as 
trading portfolio assets with a fair value of approximately 
CHF 1 billion where there is no liquid loan trading market 
and no observable credit spread in the credit default swap 
(CDS) market for the specific name.

– Hybrid financial liabilities and other financial liabilities 
designated at fair value with an amount of approximately 
CHF 15 billion have been included into level 3 at 31 De-
cember 2007 although they relate to level 1 and level 2 
valuations. In addition, expiries of trades, fair value reduc-
tions of liabilities linked to the US residential real estate 
market and other factors contributed to the decrease of 
level 3 financial liabilities designated at fair value. 
Refer to Note 3 for profit and loss information on posi-

tions which significantly impacted the income statement in 
first quarter 2008. 

Nature and type of assets underlying  
asset-backed securities 

Information about US residential mortgage-backed securi-
ties and certain other asset-backed securities is provided in 
Note 3 and in the MD&A to the financial statements, section 
Risk concentrations. This includes certain details about cate-
gories, vintages and credit ratings of such instruments, 
where applicable.

Note 9  Fair Value of Financial Instruments
a) Fair Value Hierarchy

Determination of Fair Values from Quoted Market Prices or Valuation Techniques

31.3.08 31.12.07

CHF billion Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Trading portfolio assets 189.0 230.0 42.1 461.1 249.3 323.4 37.3 610.0

Trading portfolio assets pledged as collateral 90.6 52.1 13.6 156.3 85.3 55.8 23.2 164.3

Positive replacement values 10.3 532.1 30.5 572.9 6.8 407.4 14.0 428.2

Financial assets designated at fair value 1.4 8.8 0.0 10.2 1.8 10.0 0.0 11.8

Financial investments available-for-sale 0.9 1.7 1.7 4.3 1.2 2.4 1.4 5.0

Total assets 292.2 824.7 87.9 1,204.8 344.4 799.0 75.9 1,219.3

Trading portfolio liabilities 128.3 38.0 0.3 166.6 119.9 44.9 0.0 164.8

Negative replacement values 8.7 530.2 34.2 573.1 6.6 420.1 16.8 443.5

Financial liabilities designated at fair value 0.0 144.4 16.0 160.4 0.0 149.5 42.4 191.9

Total liabilities 137.0 712.6 50.5 900.1 126.5 614.5 59.2 800.2
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Note 9  Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
b) Valuation Techniques and Inputs

Positions related to the US residential  
mortgage market 

Where possible, financial instruments are marked at prices 
quoted in active markets. In the current market environ-
ment, such price information is typically not available for in-
struments linked to the US residential mortgage market, and 
UBS applies valuation techniques to measure such instru-
ments. Valuation techniques use “market observable in-
puts”, where available, derived from similar assets in similar 
and active markets, from recent transaction prices for com-
parable items or from other observable market data. For po-
sitions where observable reference data is not available for 
some or all parameters, UBS estimates the non-market ob-
servable inputs used in its valuation models.

For the period ended 31 March 2008, UBS used valuation 
models primarily for super senior RMBS CDO tranches refer-
enced to sub-prime RMBSs. The model used to value these 
positions projects losses on the underlying mortgage pools 
and applies the implications of these projected lifetime loss-
es through to the RMBS securities and then to the CDO 
structure. The primary inputs to the model are monthly re-
mittance data that describe the current performance of the 
underlying mortgage pools. These are received near the end 
of each month and relate to the preceding month’s cash 
flows on the mortgages underlying each RMBS. 

In fourth quarter 2007 and first quarter 2008, UBS cali-
brated its loss projections to ensure that the value of relevant 
market indices (for example, ABX indices) implied by the su-
per senior RMBS CDO model would be consistent with the 
observed levels of the indices in the market. Despite the vari-
ous limitations in the comparability of these indices to UBS’s 
own positions, it was felt that this was the best approach in 
view of the further deterioration in liquidity and resultant lack 
of observed transactions to which the model could be cali-
brated. The valuation model also considers the impact of 
variability in projected lifetime loss levels and applies a dis-
count rate for expected cash flows derived from relevant 
market index prices (for example, ABX indices) to value ex-
pected cash flows. The external ratings of the RMBSs under-
lying the CDO tranches or the CDO tranches themselves are 
inputs to the valuation model only to the extent that they 
indicate the likely timing of potential “events of default”. 
The valuation model incorporates the potential timing and 
impact of such default events based on an analysis of the 
contractual rights of various parties to the transaction and 
the estimated performance of the underlying collateral. There 
is no single market standard for valuation models in this area, 
such models have inherent limitations, and different assump-
tions and inputs would generate different results. 

The super senior RMBS CDO valuation model is used to 
value UBS’s net long exposures to super senior RMBS CDOs. It 
is also used where UBS holds a gross long position hedged 
one-to-one with an offsetting short position in the form of 
credit protection purchased from a monoline insurer, to pro-
vide an estimate of the current credit exposure to the mono-
line insurer. The fair values of the combined positions also take 
account of the counterparty credit risk of the monoline insur-
ers. Where valuation techniques based on observable inputs 
are used to value RMBS positions, a consistent approach is 
used to value related hedge positions with monoline insurers.

Information about the risks and exposures of such items is 
included in the “Risk concentrations” section in the MD&A.

Sensitivity information on level 3 financial 
 instruments

US super senior RMBS CDO 
Write-downs on super senior US RMBS CDO positions (sub-
prime, Alt-A and prime) during first quarter 2008 reflected 
continued declines in the ABX indices to which the valuation 
model is calibrated. These declines accounted for approxi-
mately two-thirds of the total write-down on these posi-
tions. In addition, the following factors contributed to the 
write-downs: a) adoption of more severe model assumptions 
in relation to loss severity, and in relation to loss projections 
on collateral originally rated A and higher, and b) an increase 
in the risk premium that is applied to projected cash flows 
within the valuation model, based on an assessment of mar-
ket conditions prevailing at the end of the quarter. 

The two primary unobservable factors in the valuation mod-
el are the loss projections on the underlying mortgage pools 
and the risk premium component of the discount rate. To as-
sess the sensitivity of the valuation to the loss projections, a 
10% adverse change in all mortgage pool loss projections (that 
is, from 15% loss to 16.5% loss) across all relevant RMBS col-
lateral is considered. Holding all other elements of the model 
constant, this adverse change in loss projections would result in 
an additional write-down of approximately USD 1.1 billion 
(CHF 1.1 billion). The current risk premium assumption in the 
valuation model is 11.1% (implying a discount rate of Libor 
plus 11.1%). An increase in the risk premium of 100 bp, hold-
ing other aspects of the model constant, is estimated to result 
in an additional write-down of approximately USD 175 million 
(CHF 173 million). These estimates are intended to convey in-
formation on the sensitivity of the model-based valuation to 
unobservable inputs; they are not intended as risk assessments. 
A sensitivity to unobservable inputs of approximately USD 1 bil-
lion (CHF 1 billion) for these positions was included in the ag-
gregate sensitivity calculations presented at year-end 2007. 
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Credit valuation adjustments on monoline credit protection
Credit valuation adjustments for monoline credit protection 
are based on a model that utilizes five year credit default 
swap spreads on the monolines as a key input in determining 
an implied level of expected loss.1 To assess the sensitivity of 
this calculation to alternative assumptions, the impact of a 
10% increase in these credit default swap spreads is consid-
ered. At 31 March 2008, such an increase would have re-
sulted in an increase in the monoline credit valuation adjust-
ment of approximately USD 161 million (CHF 159 million). 

In addition, the credit valuation adjustments related to 
transactions referencing RMBS CDOs are sensitive to the same 
unobservable inputs highlighted in the preceding discussion of 
US super senior RMBS CDOs. The sensitivity of the monoline 
credit valuation adjustment to a 10% adverse change in loss 
projections related to the collateral underlying referenced 
RMBS CDOs is estimated at USD 30 million (CHF 30 million). 
The sensitivity of the monoline credit valuation adjustment to 
an increase of 100 bp in the discount margin used in valuing 
RMBS CDOs is estimated at USD 21 million (CHF 21 million).

Student loan auction rate certificates (ARCs) 
Where student loan ARCs have been classified as level 3 due 
to impaired market liquidity, they have been valued as float-
ing rate notes with three pricing inputs – the coupon, the 
current discount margin or spread, and the maturity. The 
coupon is generally assumed to equal the maximum rate al-
lowed under the terms of the instrument, the current dis-
count margin is based on an assessment of observable yields 
on instruments bearing comparable risks, and the maturity 
is based on an assessment of the term of the underlying 
instrument and the potential for restructuring the ARC. 
Model assumptions differ according to the characteristics of 
the underlying ARC (i.e taxable versus tax-exempt instru-
ments, government insured versus privately insured). The 
primary unobservable input to the valuation is the maturity 
assumption, currently set at five years for the majority of the 
ARC instruments.  If this assumption is increased by one 
year (that is, to six years), the impact would be an addition-
al write-down of approximately USD 180 million (CHF 178 
million).

1 In one case, UBS has assessed a credit valuation adjustment of 100% and declared the hedge completely ineffective. This credit valuation adjustment level is not derived from a model-based calculation. 
The sensitivity of the now unhedged CDO valuations to unobserved inputs is included in the preceding discussion of US super senior RMBS CDOs.
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Note 9  Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
c) Deferred Day-1 Profit or Loss

The table reflects financial instruments for which fair value is determined using valuation models where not all inputs are 
market-observable. Such financial instruments are initially recognized in UBS’s Financial Information at their transaction price 
although the values obtained from the relevant valuation model on day-1 may differ. The table shows the aggregate differ-
ence yet to be recognized in profit or loss at the beginning and end of the period and a reconciliation of changes in the 
balance of this difference (movement of deferred day-1 profit or loss).

Quarter ended

CHF million 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07

Balance at the beginning of the period 550 578 951

Deferred profit / (loss) on new transactions 129 146 331

Recognized (profit) / loss in the income statement (145) (161) (303)

Foreign currency translation (73) (13) 0

Balance at the end of the period 461 550 979



88

Financial Statements
6 May 2008

Note 10 Contingent claims and undrawn credit facilities

31.3.08 31.12.07

CHF million Gross
Sub- 

participations Net Gross
Sub- 

participations Net

Credit guarantees and similar instruments 12,717 (512) 12,205 13,381 (593) 12,788

Performance guarantees and similar instruments 3,870 (474) 3,396 3,969 (464) 3,505

Documentary credits 3,713 (495) 3,218 3,474 (517) 2,957

Total contingent claims 20,300 (1,481) 18,819 20,824 (1,574) 19,250

Undrawn irrevocable credit facilities 72,435 (2) 72,433 83,980 (2) 83,978

Acquisitions

Caisse Centrale de Réescompte Group
In February 2008, UBS completed the acquisition in France of 
Caisse Centrale de Réescompte Group (CCR) from Commerz-
bank for a total consideration of approximately CHF 612 mil-
lion (EUR 387 million), paid at the closing date. The purchase 
price includes EUR 247 million for a 100% interest in CCR, as 
well as approximately EUR 140 million for the excess capital of 
CCR at closing, reflecting provisional adjustments made during 
the closing process. Under the terms of the transaction, the 

final price for the acquisition will be determined after the clos-
ing, following determination of the actual adjustments. The 
acquisition costs have been allocated to intangible assets of 
CHF 116 million (EUR 73 million), net assets of CHF 189 million 
(EUR 119 million) and goodwill of CHF 307 million (EUR 195 
million). The allocation of the costs of the business combina-
tion to assets acquired and liabilities assumed is still being final-
ized. The business of CCR, which includes EUR 13.3 billion of 
invested assets as of 31 December 2007 and approximately 
190 employees, will be integrated into the asset management 
and wealth management businesses of UBS in France.

Note 11  Changes in Organization
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On 9 December 2007, UBS entered into a binding agreement 
with the Government of Singapore Investment Corporation 
Pte Ltd and an investor from the Middle East to issue manda-
tory convertible notes (MCN) with a face value of CHF 13 
billion, subject to the approval of a capital increase by an Ex-
traordinary General Meeting of shareholders. At the Extraor-
dinary General Meeting held on 27 February 2008, the share-
holders approved a conditional capital increase to issue up to 
277,750,000 new shares to satisfy the conversion into UBS 
AG shares of the MCN, which were issued to the two inves-
tors on 5 March 2008. The MCN have a coupon of 9% per 
annum and are converted into UBS shares after two years, 
with earlier conversion options for the investors and UBS. 
Conversion is linked to the share price at the date of conver-
sion, but is not lower than CHF 51.48 and not higher than 
CHF 60.23 per share. The conversion prices are subject to 
anti-dilution adjustments in the event of certain corporate 
actions. Conversion at CHF 51.48 would result in issuance of 
the maximum number of shares, which is 252,525,253, while 
conversion at CHF 60.23 would result in issuance of the min-
imum number of shares, which is 215,839,283. If at the date 
of conversion the share price is between the lower and upper 
conversion price, the number of shares is determined by di-
viding CHF 13 billion by the actual market price determined 
immediately before conversion. The issue of the MCN imme-
diately strengthened UBS AG’s regulatory capital base as the 
notes count as tier 1 capital from the date of issue. 

Under IFRS, the MCN is treated as a compound financial 
instrument that consists of a debt host and an embedded 
equity component. The debt host has been recognized as a 
liability initially measured at fair value and accounted for at 
amortized cost. The fair value of the debt host component 
on 5 March 2008 was determined to be approximately CHF 
14,553 million, resulting in a yield to maturity of 2.78% per 
annum. The debt host is accounted for at amortized cost 
and interest expense of approximately CHF 393 million per 
year will be recognized.

The equity component reflects the value of the net pre-
mium paid to the investors for obtaining the right to convert 
the MCN into a variable number of shares if the share price 
at the date of conversion is between the lower and higher 
conversion prices. The terms of this component were agreed 
on 9 December 2007, at which time the issuance of the 
MCN was conditional on shareholder approval. At that date, 
the value attributed to the equity component was CHF 1,590 
million. This value increased during the period to 5 March 
2008 to approximately CHF 5,413 million as a result of the 
UBS AG share price falling to CHF 32.24.

The total change in fair value on the contract to issue the 
MCN of approximately CHF 3,860 million was recognized as 
a gain in first quarter 2008. Approximately CHF 3,823 mil-
lion was attributable to the equity component and recog-
nized as a reduction to share premium on 5 March 2008. 
The remaining approximately CHF 37 million was applied to 
the liability component. The value of both the equity and the 
liability component is not re-measured to fair value after 5 
March 2008.

Note 12  Mandatory Convertible Notes
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UBS Group operates in a legal and regulatory environment 
that exposes it to potentially significant litigation risks. As a 
result, UBS is involved in various disputes and legal proceed-
ings, including litigation, arbitration, and regulatory and crim-
inal investigations. Such cases are subject to many uncertain-
ties, and their outcome is often difficult to predict, particularly 
in the earlier stages of a case. In certain circumstances, to 
avoid the expense and distraction of legal proceedings, UBS 
may, based on a cost-benefit analysis, enter a settlement even 
though UBS denies any wrongdoing. The Group makes provi-
sions for cases brought against it only when after seeking le-
gal advice, in the opinion of management, it is probable that 
a liability exists, and the amount can be reasonably estimated. 
No provision is made for claims asserted against the Group 
that in the opinion of management are without merit and 
where it is not likely that UBS will be found liable.

Currently, UBS is responding to a number of regulatory inqui-
ries and investigations, and is involved in a number of litigations 
and disputes, related to the sub-prime crisis, sub-prime securi-
ties, and structured transactions involving sub-prime securities. 
These matters concern, among other things, UBS’s valuations, 
disclosures, writedowns, underwriting, and contractual obliga-
tions. UBS has been in regular communication with its home 
country consolidated regulator, the Swiss Federal Banking Com-
mission (SFBC), regarding some of these issues and others, in-
cluding the role of internal control units, governance and pro-
cesses around risk control and valuation of sub-prime instruments, 
compliance with public disclosure rules, and the business ratio-
nales for the launching and the reintegration of DRCM.

At 31 March 2008, UBS is involved in the following legal 
proceedings which could be material to the Group in a given 
reporting period:
a) Tax Shelter: In connection with a criminal investigation of 

tax shelters, the United States Attorney’s Office for the 
Southern District of New York (“US Attorney’s Office”) is 
examining UBS’s conduct in relation to certain tax-orient-
ed transactions in which UBS and others engaged during 
the years 1996-2000. Some of these transactions were 
the subject of the Deferred Prosecution Agreement which 
the accounting firm KPMG LLP entered into with the US 
Attorney’s Office in August 2005, and are at issue in Unit
ed States v. Stein, S1 05 Cr. 888 (LAK). UBS is cooperating 
in the government’s investigation.

b) Municipal Bonds: In November 2006, UBS and others received 
subpoenas from the US Department of Justice, Antitrust Divi-
sion, and the SEC relating to derivative transactions entered 
into with municipal bond issuers and to the investment of 
proceeds of municipal bond issuances. Both investigations 
are ongoing, and UBS is cooperating. In the SEC investiga-
tion, on 4 February 2008, UBS received a “Wells notice” ad-
vising that the SEC staff is considering recommending that 
the SEC bring a civil action against UBS AG in connection 
with the bidding of various financial instruments associated 
with municipal securities. Under the SEC’s Wells process, UBS 

will have the opportunity to set forth reasons of law, policy or 
fact why such an action should not be brought.

c) HealthSouth: UBS is defending itself in two purported se-
curities class actions brought in the US District Court of 
the Northern District of Alabama by holders of stock and 
bonds in HealthSouth Corp. UBS is also a defendant in 
HealthSouth derivative litigation in Alabama State Court 
and has responded to an SEC investigation relating to 
UBS’s role as a banker for HealthSouth.

d) Parmalat: UBS is involved in a number of proceedings in 
Italy related to the bankruptcy of Parmalat. These pro-
ceedings include, inter alia, clawback proceedings against 
UBS Limited in connection with a structured finance 
transaction. Further, UBS is a defendant in two civil dam-
ages claims brought by Parmalat, one of which relates to 
the same structured finance transaction against UBS Lim-
ited, while the other against UBS AG relates to certain 
derivative transactions. In addition, UBS Limited and one 
current and one former UBS employee are the subject of 
criminal proceedings in Milan. UBS AG and UBS Limited 
are defendants in civil actions brought by Parmalat inves-
tors in parallel with the criminal proceedings in Milan. 
Furthermore, four current or former UBS employees are 
defendants in relation to criminal proceedings in Parma. 
Civil claims have also been recently filed in parallel with 
the criminal proceedings by Parmalat against the individ-
uals and UBS Limited and also by Parmalat investors 
against the individuals, UBS AG and UBS Limited. UBS AG 
and UBS Limited deny the allegations made against them 
and against the individuals in the matters and are vigor-
ously defending themselves in the proceedings. 

e) Auction Rate Securities Litigation: UBS has been named in 
three putative class actions and several arbitrations and indi-
vidual civil litigations, and is responding to numerous regula-
tory requests, including requests from the SEC and a number 
of state regulators, relating to the marketing and sale of 
Auction Rate Securities (ARS) to clients and to UBS’s role and 
participation in ARS auctions. The requests and the class ac-
tions followed the disruption in the markets for these securi-
ties and related auction failures since mid-February 2008. 

f) US Cross-Border: The Department of Justice (“DOJ”) and the 
SEC are examining UBS’s conduct in relation to cross-border 
services provided by Swiss-based UBS client advisors to US 
clients during the years 2000-2007. In particular, DOJ is ex-
amining whether certain US clients sought, with the assis-
tance of UBS client advisors, to evade their US tax obliga-
tions by avoiding restrictions on their securities investments 
imposed by the Qualified Intermediary agreement UBS en-
tered into with the US Internal Revenue Service in 2001. 
The SEC is examining whether Swiss-based UBS client advi-
sors engaged in activities in relation to their US-domiciled 
clients that triggered an obligation for UBS Switzerland to 
register with the SEC as a broker-dealer and/or investment 
advisor. UBS is cooperating with these investigations.

Note 13  Litigation



Share capital increase

On 23 April 2008, the Annual General Meeting of share-
holders (the “AGM”) approved a proposal that the Group 
strengthen its shareholders’ equity by way of an ordinary 
capital increase with proceeds of approximately CHF 15 bil-
lion. The capital increase will be effected by issuing rights to 
UBS shareholders, which will allow them to subscribe for 
new registered shares in UBS AG at a subscription price and 
subscription ratio to be announced. The capital increase will 
result in an increase in share capital by a maximum amount 
of CHF 125,000,000 through the issuance of a maximum of 
1,250,000,000 fully paid registered shares with a par value 
of CHF 0.10 each. The capital increase with proceeds of ap-
proximately CHF 15 billion is fully underwritten by a syndi-
cate of banks, guaranteeing that all shares for which share-
holders do not excercise their subscription rights will be sold 
and the full amount is paid. The newly issued shares will rank 

pari passu in all respects with the existing registered shares 
immediately upon issue.

Sale of investment in Adam Street Partners

On 5 May 2008, UBS Global Asset Management agreed to 
the sale of its 24.9% ownership interest in Adam Street Part-
ners (ASP) to the remaining shareholders of ASP. The sale is 
conditional upon ASP obtaining financing for the purchase 
price. The cash consideration agreed amounts to approxi-
mately CHF 162 million (USD 156 million), which will be sub-
ject to customary post completion adjustments. The sale is 
expected to close in the second quarter of 2008. ASP was 
formed in January 2001 in connection with a management 
buyout of that business from Global Asset Management, with 
UBS retaining the now sold 24.9% stake. Global Asset Man-
agement will continue its close collaboration with ASP under 
an existing sub-advisory agreement in place since 2001.

Note 14  Post-Balance Sheet Events

Note 15 Currency Translation Rates

The following table shows the principal rates used to translate the financial information of foreign entities into Swiss francs:

Spot rate
As of

Average rate
Quarter ended

31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07 31.3.08 31.12.07 31.3.07

1 USD 0.99 1.13 1.22 1.02 1.14 1.23

1 EUR 1.57 1.65 1.62 1.58 1.66 1.62

1 GBP 1.97 2.25 2.39 1.98 2.30 2.41

100 JPY 1.00 1.02 1.03 1.00 1.01 1.03
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UBS ordinary shares are registered shares with a par value of 
CHF 0.10 per share. They are issued in the form of Global Reg-
istered Shares (GRS). A Global Registered Share is a security 
that provides direct and equal ownership for all shareholders. 
It can be traded and transferred across applicable borders 
without the need for conversion, with identical shares traded 
on different stock exchanges in different currencies. The share 
is listed on the Swiss (traded on virt-x), New York and Tokyo 
stock exchanges.

Ticker symbols

Trading exchange Bloomberg Reuters

virt-x UBSN VX UBSN.VX

New York Stock Exchange UBS US UBS.N

Tokyo Stock Exchange 8657 JP 8657.T

Security identification codes

ISIN CH0024899483

Valoren 2.489.948

Cusip CINS H89231 33 8
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Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements | This report contains statements that constitute “forward-looking statements”, including but not limited to statements 
relating to the risks arising from the current market crisis, other risks specific to UBS’s business and the implementation of strategic initiatives, as well as other statements relating to UBS’s 
future business development and economic performance and UBS’s intentions with respect to future returns of capital. While these forward-looking statements represent UBS’s judgments and 
future expectations concerning the development of its business, a number of risks, uncertainties and other important factors could cause actual developments and results to differ materially 
from UBS’s expectations. These factors include, but are not limited to (1) the extent and nature of future developments in the United States subprime market and in other market segments 
that have been affected by the current market crisis; (2) other market and macro-economic developments, including movements in local and international securities markets, credit spreads, 
currency exchange rates and interest rates, whether or not arising directly or indirectly from the current market crisis; (3) the impact of these developments on other markets and asset classes; 
(4) changes in internal risk control and in the regulatory capital treatment of UBS’s positions, in particular those affected by the current market crisis; (5) limitations in the effectiveness of UBS’s 
internal risk management processes, of its risk measurement, control and modeling systems, and of financial models generally; (6) developments relating to UBS’s access to capital and fund-
ing, including any changes in UBS’s credit ratings; (7) changes in the financial position or creditworthiness of UBS’s customers, obligors and counterparties, and developments in the markets 
in which they operate; (8) management changes and changes to the structure of UBS’s Business Groups; (9) the occurrence of operational failures, such as fraud, unauthorized trading and 
systems failures; (10) legislative, governmental and regulatory developments; (11) competitive pressures; (12) technological developments; and (13) the impact of all such future developments 
on positions held by UBS, on its short-term and longer-term earnings, on the cost and availability of funding and on UBS’s BIS capital ratios. In addition, these results could depend on other 
factors that we have previously indicated could adversely affect our business and financial performance which are contained in other parts of this document and in our past and future filings 
and reports, including those filed with the SEC. More detailed information about those factors is set forth elsewhere in this document and in documents furnished by UBS and filings made by 
UBS with the SEC, including UBS’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 31 December 2007. UBS is not under any obligation to (and expressly disclaims any such obligation to) 
update or alter its forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.
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